Public Document Pack

Committee Agenda
City of Westminster
Title:
Meeting Date:
Time:
Venue:
Members:

Planning Applications Sub-Committee (3)
Tuesday 20th July, 2021
6.30 pm
Rooms 18.01 & 18.03, 18th Floor, 64 Victoria Street, London,
SW1E 6QP
Councillors:
Jim Glen (Chairman)
Eoghain Murphy
Selina Short
Guthrie McKie

*In line with legislation and continuing Covid-19 precautions,
Committee members will attend the meeting in person at
Westminster City Hall. The Committee will be a hybrid
Meeting and will be live broadcast via Microsoft Teams.
The Council must have due regard to safe social distancing
measures as advised by the government and therefore the
meeting room capacity for personal attendance will be
capped. Members of the public and press are therefore
encouraged to view the meeting virtually using the link to
the live meeting.
For those who wish to attend in person admission to the
public gallery is by a pass, issued from the ground floor
reception from 6.00pm. If you have a disability and require
any special assistance please contact the Committee Officer
(details listed below) in advance of the meeting.
If you require any further information, please contact the
Committee Officer, Georgina Wills, Committee and
Councillor Coordinator.
Tel: 07870 548348; Email: gwills@westminster.gov.uk
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact
the Head of Legal & Democratic Services in advance of the meeting please.

AGENDA
PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)
1.

MEMBERSHIP
To note any changes to the membership.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive declarations by members and officers of the existence
and nature of any personal or prejudicial interests in matters on
this agenda.

3.

MINUTES

(Pages 5 - 8)

To sign the minutes of the last meeting as a correct record of
proceedings.
4.

TREE PRESERVATION ORDER NO. 676 - 63 CARLTON HILL,
LONDON, NW8 0EN

5.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS
Applications for decision
Schedule of Applications
Members of the public are welcome to speak on the specific
applications at the virtual planning committee meeting.
To register to speak and for guidance please visit:
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/planning-committee
Please note that you must register by 12 Noon on the Friday
before the Committee meeting
In the event that you are successful in obtaining a speaking slot
at the virtual meeting please read the guidance, in order to
familiarise yourself with the process prior to joining the remote
meeting.
All committee meetings open to the public are being broadcast
live using Microsoft Teams. For information on participating in the
virtual Committee please see the following link

(Pages 9 - 18)

https://www.westminster.gov.uk/stream-council-meetings
1.

PREMIER HOUSE 10 GREYCOAT PLACE LONDON
SW1P 1SB

(Pages 23 - 66)

2.

LORDS VIEW ONE, LORDS VIEW LONDON NW8 7HJ

(Pages 67 102)

3.

2 - 8 RUTLAND GATE LONDON SW7 1AY

(Pages 103 152)

4.

BOURNE HOUSE ST VINCENT STREET LONDON W1U
4DB

(Pages 153 174)

5.

37 GLOUCESTER MEWSLONDON W2 3HE

(Pages 175 198)

6.

23-25 BROOK STREET MAYFAIR LONDON W1K 4HB

(Pages 199 220)

Stuart Love
Chief Executive
9 July 2021

Order of Business
At Planning Sub-Committee meetings the order of business for each application listed on
the agenda will be as follows:
Order of Business
i) Planning Officer presentation of the case
ii) Applicant and any other supporter(s)
iii) Objectors
iv) Amenity Society (Recognised or Semi-Recognised)
v) Neighbourhood Forum
vi) Ward Councillor(s) and/or MP(s)
vii) Council Officers response to verbal representations
viii) Member
clarification)

discussion

(including

questions

to

officers

for

ix) Member vote

These procedure rules govern the conduct of all cases reported to the Planning
Applications Sub-Committees, including applications for planning permission; listed
building consent; advertisement consent, consultations for development proposals by
other public bodies; enforcement cases; certificates of lawfulness; prior approvals, tree
preservation orders and other related cases.

Agenda Item 3

MINUTES
CITY OF WESTMINSTER

Planning Applications Sub-Committee (3)
MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Applications Sub-Committee (3) Committee
held on Tuesday 25th May, 2021, Rooms 18.01, 18.02 & 18.03, 18th Floor, 64
Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP.
Members Present: Councillors Jim Glen (Chairman), Guthrie McKie, Selina Short and
Richard Elcho
1

MEMBERSHIP

1.1

It was noted that Councillor Richard Elcho substituted for Councillor Eoghain
Murphy for this meeting.

1.2

There were no other changes to the membership.

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

2.1

Councillor Jim Glen explained that a week before the meeting, all four
Members of the Sub-Committee were provided with a full set of papers
including a detailed officer’s report on each application, together with bundles
of every single letter or e-mail received in respect of every application,
including all letters and e-mails containing objections or giving support.
Members of the Sub-Committee considered everything in detail prior to the
meeting. Accordingly, if an issue or comment made by a correspondent was
not specifically mentioned at this meeting in the officer’s presentation or by
Members of the Sub-Committee, it did not mean that the issue had been
ignored. Members will have read about the issue and comments made by
correspondents in the papers read prior to the meeting.

2.2

Councillor Glen declared that, in relation to items 4 and 5.3, he was a member
of the Westminster Tree Trust, but would approach the issues with an open
mind.

3

MINUTES

3.1

That the minutes of the meeting held on 30 March 2021 be signed by the
Chairman as a correct record of proceedings.

Page 5

1

4

TREE PRESERVATION ORDER NO. 673 - FRANCES COURT, 64 MAIDA
VALE, LONDON, W9 1PN

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:
That Tree Preservation Order No. 673 (2020) was granted without modification with
permanent effect.
5

PLANNING APPLICATIONS

1

CAVENDISH SQUARE, LONDON

Erection of a Spiegeltent touring structure (with an internal capacity of approximately
500), a box office, a bar area, nine catering units, toilets, storage, outdoor seating
areas and fencing in conjunction with use of Cavendish Square for the Underbelly
Summer Event 2021 (Sui Generis), with a maximum of 2,000 visitors at any one
time, for a temporary period from 14 June 2021 to 8 October 2021.
Additional representations had been received from the council’s Waste team
(17.05.21), a resident on behalf of a local resident association (18.05.21), The
Gardens Trust (18.05.21) and Environmental Health (20.05.21).
Late representations had been received from Councillor Timothy Barnes (24.05.21),
WCC Head of City Promotions, Events and Filming (24.05.21), WCC Arboricultural
Officer (24.05.21), and The Howard de Walden Estate (21.05.21).
The presenting officer tabled an additional condition and informative to this
application:
Condition 8
You must apply to us for approval of the ways in which you will protect the trees
which you are keeping, as shown on drawing UB-CSS-21-003. You must not start
any site clearance or building work, and you must not take any equipment,
machinery or materials for the development onto the site, until we have approved in
writing what you have sent us. The tree protection must follow the recommendations
in section 7 of British Standard BS5837: 2012. You must then carry out the work
according to the approved details. (C31AC)
Informative 4
Details to be approved under Condition 8 should also include a schedule for a tree
related pre-start meeting (Westminster City Council Tree Officer to be invited), and
when monitoring and supervision visits by the arboricultural consultant shall be
undertaken; including a final check for soil compaction and possible soil remediation,
(e.g. monthly monitoring visits and the key stages for supervision visits) and a
provision that site notes shall be sent to the Westminster City Council Tree Section
within 5 days of any such visits; the specification of ground protection that will be
used (i.e. which one of the options shall be used), and any changes to or extra tree
protection measures that will come from updating the latest site plan into the Tree
Protection Plan.

Page 6

2

The method statement must also have a provision that any pruning will be
undertaken by Westminster City Council's Arboricultural Contractor.
Rebecca Sanders addressed the Sub-Committee in support of the application.
Ed Bartlam addressed the Sub-Committee in support of the application.
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:
That conditional permission, as amended, be granted.
That conditional advertisement consent be granted.
2

42 WINTERTON HOUSE, 4 MAIDA VALE, LONDON, W9 1SP

Extension of existing roof terraces to top floor flat and associated balustrade and
privacy screens.
A late representation was received from the agent from the agent, The Homeowner’s
Architect, (25.05.21).
The Sub-Committee noted that as the structural stability and ownership of the roof
were not material planning considerations, permission could not be refused based on
these issues.
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:
That conditional permission be granted.
3

FRANCES COURT, 64 MAIDA VALE, LONDON, W9 1PN

1 x London Plane (T1): Fell
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:
That conditional permission be refused.

The Meeting ended at 7.35 pm

CHAIRMAN:

DATE

Page 7

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Executive Summary
and Recommendations
City of Westminster

Title of Report:
Date:

Tree Preservation Order No. 676 – 63 Carlton Hill,
London, NW8 0EN
20 July 2021

1
Page
9

Summary of this Report
On 17 February 2021 the City Council made a provisional Tree Preservation Order
(TPO) to protect four London plane trees (labelled T1-T4 on the TPO plan) located at
63 Carlton Hill, London, NW8 0EN (the Property). The TPO is provisionally effective for
a period of six months from the date it was made (17 February 2021) during which time
it may be confirmed with or without modification. If not confirmed, the TPO will lapse
after 17 August 2021. The TPO was made because the trees make a valuable
contribution to public amenity, to the outlook from nearby properties and to the
character and appearance of the St John’s Wood Conservation Area.
The TPO was made following receipt of six weeks’ notice of intent (a S211 notification)
to remove London plane (T1) from the rear garden of 63 Carlton Hill. The tree is
protected by virtue of its location within the St John’s Wood conservation area. The
reason given for the proposed removal of the tree is to prevent ongoing damage to
property at 65 Carlton Hill, alleged to be caused by roots from the London plane. The
City Council considered it expedient and in the interests of amenity that a TPO was
made, in order to safeguard its preservation and future management.
In general terms the confirmation of a provisional TPO does not preclude the
appropriate management or removal of the protected trees in the future, subject to the
merits of a TPO application.
An objection to the TPO has been received from: -

The Owner of 40 Blenheim Terrace, London NW8 0EG

Recommendations
The Sub-Committee should decide EITHER
(a) TO CONFIRM Tree Preservation Order No. 676 (20201 with or without modification
with permanent effect; OR
(b) NOT TO CONFIRM Tree Preservation Order No. 676 (2021).

Page2 10

Committee Report
City of Westminster

Item No:

Date:

20 July 2021

Classification:

General Release

Title of Report:

Tree Preservation Order No. 676 (2021) – 63 Carlton
Hill, London, NW8 0EN

Report of:

63 Carlton Hill, London, NW8 0EN

Wards involved:

Abbey Road

Policy context:

No requirement to have regard to Development Plan
policies when confirming a TPO but special attention
must be paid to desirability of preserving enhancing
the character and appearance of the conservation
area
Notwithstanding the above – the following planning
policies are of relevance: 32, 34, 39 of the City Plan
2019 - 2040 April 2021

Financial summary:

No financial issues are raised in this report.

Report Author:

Louise Metson and Georgia Heudebourck

Contact details

lmetson@westminster.gov.uk
gheudebourck@westminster.gov.uk

3
Page
11

1

Background

1.1

Under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (the “1990 Act”) and the Town
and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 (the
“2012 Regulations”) the City Council has the power to make and to confirm
Tree Preservation Orders within the City of Westminster. Tree Preservation
Order 676 (2021) authorised under delegated powers was served on all the
parties whom the Council is statutorily required to notify and took effect on 17
February 2021.

1.2

The purpose of a Tree Preservation Order is to protect the tree or trees
concerned in the interest of amenity and, to this end, to control their
management and replacement if they must be removed. The presence of a
Tree Preservation Order does not prevent works to the tree being undertaken,
but the TPO does give the City Council the power to control any such works or
require replacement if consent is granted for trees to be removed.

1.3

Tree Preservation Order 676 (2021) was made following the receipt by the City
Council of six weeks’ notice of intention to remove London plane (T1) from the
rear garden of 63 Carlton Hill (shown labelled T1 of the TPO Plan). Under
s211 of the 1990 Act it is defence to the offence of removing a tree in a
conservation area if the person undertaking the works has provided 6 weeks’
notice to the local planning authority in advance of doing so. The service of
such a notice effectively leaves the City Council in a position where it must
either accept the notice and allow for the tree to be removed or to take further
protective action by making a TPO.

1.4

The London plane trees T1-T4 are in the rear garden of 63 Carlton Hill. The
garden is overlooked by a number of neighbouring properties. The trees can
be seen from Ryder’s Terrace and through gaps between properties on
Carlton Hill and Blenheim Terrace. T1-T4 are mature specimens, estimated to
be about 16m high. They have been managed through regular pruning back to
established high reduction points at around 15m. The crown reduction does

Page4 12

significantly reduce the size of the trees’ canopies, but they still have
considerable amenity value. They have especial amenity value as a tree
group.

1.5

The trees are considered by the Council’s Tree Section to have high amenity
value and to make a significant contribution to the character and appearance
of the St John’s Wood conservation area. The Provisional TPO was
subsequently made for the reasons set out above and as more particularly set
out in the Arboricultural Officer’s report.

1.6

The initial reason given by the applicant for the proposed removal of the tree
(T1) was:
•

to prevent ongoing damage to property at 65 Carlton Hill, alleged to be
caused by roots from the London plane.

1.7

The evidence submitted by the applicant in support of the proposed removal of
T1 consisted of:

1.8

•

Engineering Appraisal Report (EAR) dated 02/07/2020

•

Site Investigations (SI) Report dated 05/06/2020

•

Level monitoring from 24/06/2020 to 09/12/2020

•

Sketch plan

The Council’s Tree Section was of the view that the technical evidence
submitted was not adequate to support the removal of the London plane tree
and so it was considered expedient to make the TPO.

Subsequent to making the TPO the City Council received one objection

5
Page
13

2

Objection

2.1

The Council’s Legal Service received a letter dated 23 February 2021, from
the owner of a nearby property objecting to the TPO on the grounds that:

2.2

In 1992 the objector’s property was underpinned due to subsidence caused by
London plane roots, requiring substantial excavation and requiring the owner
to move out of the house, and the owner is worried that this might happen
again.

2.3

The objector does not want the trees to be removed and instead would like the
trees to be pruned more substantially than the 20-25% that is currently
permitted by Westminster Council.

2.4

Any future owner of the trees may be less conscientious about maintaining
them than the current owner and therefore requests that there is a legal
requirement to prune the trees severely every three years.

3

Response to Objection

3.1

The City Council’s Arboricultural Officer responded to the objection by a letter
dated 28 May 2021.

3.2

The Officer’s response considered that the underpinning carried out in 1992
was extensive and should prevent further movement to the underpinned part
of the property. The Officer advised the Owner if there is any movement then
they should notify their insurers who would undertake investigations into the
cause of the movement and would make recommendations for repairs or tree
works. The TPO does not preclude the appropriate maintenance of the trees
or their removal, should evidence be submitted demonstrating that the trees
are causing structural damage.

3.3

The Objector commented that the trees should be pruned more severely than
is currently permitted and that 20-25% is inadequate. The Officer noted that in

Page6 14

2005 the City Council agreed a pruning specification of a 40% crown reduction
and in 2010, a further reduction of 1.5m below the previous reduction points
was agreed. The overall crown size of the trees has therefore been
significantly reduced since 1992, by far greater a percentage than 20-25%.
The Officer considered if the Council were to agree crown reductions below
the previous points each time a proposal was submitted, then this would result
in the trees becoming smaller and smaller over time. The extent of pruning
agreed in 2005 and 2010 was considered to maintain the trees at an
appropriate size for their location, without significantly reducing their high
amenity value.

3.4

The Officer also stated, pruning trees creates wounds which act as entry
points for decay. Large wounds can lead to significant decay, which can
increase the risk of branch/tree failure and can shorten the trees’ lifespans. If
the trees are regularly pruned back to the same points, then they can create
defensive barriers against the decay. If they are pruned below the same points
the barriers to decay are lost. Furthermore, heavier pruning creates more
substantial wounds thereby increasing the risk of significant decay.

3.5

The Officer also stated The City Council does not have any legal powers to
oblige tree owners to maintain their trees. However, many property insurers do
put conditions about tree maintenance in the terms of their insurance policies.
If the tree ownership does change in the future, it could be sensible for you or
your insurers to contact the new owners about your concerns. The Officer
advised, if the tree ownership does change a Council Officer would be very
happy to offer advice to the new owners on the management of the trees

3.6

The London plane trees are considered to have significant amenity value and
to make a valuable contribution to the character and appearance of the
conservation area. Although they are large specimens they have been
substantially reduced in overall dimensions since 1992 and are now routinely
pruned to maintain them at the same size. More substantial pruning would
have a detrimental impact on their condition, form and amenity value.

7
Page
15

4

Ward Member Consultation

4.1

The Ward Members have been consulted in relation to this matter. No
responses have been received at the time of finalising this report. Any
responses received between the time of finalising this report and the date of
the sub-committee will be presented at the sub-committee.

5

Conclusion

5.1

In light of the representations received from the objectors it is for the Planning
Applications Sub-Committee to decide EITHER

(a) TO CONFIRM Tree Preservation Order No. 676 (2021) with or without
modification with permanent effect.; OR

(b) NOT TO CONFIRM Tree Preservation Order No. 676 (2021).

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT LOUISE
METSON, LEGAL SERVICES (Email lmetson@westminster.gov.uk) OR GEORGIA
HEUDEBOURCK, LEGAL SERVICES ON 078 1705 4603 (Email
gheudebourck@westminster.gov.uk)

Page8 16

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

Background Papers

1. Copy of Provisional TPO 676 (2021)
2. Photographs of T1-T4
3. Objection letter from owner of 40 Blenheim Terrace dated 23 February 2021
4. Response letter from the City Council’s Arboricultural Officer to objector dated
28 May 2021.
5. Report

of

Council’s

Arboricultural

Officer

recommending making of the Provisional Order

9
Page
17

dated

9

February

2021

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Annex
CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING APPLICATIONS SUB COMMITTEE – 20th July 2021
SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS TO BE CONSIDERED
Item No
1.

References

Site Address

Proposal

RN(s):

Premier
House
10
Greycoat
Place
London
SW1P 1SB

Partial demolition and remodelling of the principal
facades and fifth floor; addition of two storeys for
office use; provision of retail, restaurant and gym
uses at ground and basement levels. Formation of
terraces on sixth and seventh floors for office use
and associated plant and cycle parking.

20/05884/FULL

St James's

Applicant

Victoria Spaces (UK)
Ltd

Recommendation
1. Grant conditional permission subject to a Section 106 Legal Agreement to secure the following:
i) payment for all highway works immediately surrounding the site required for the development
to occur, including reinstatement of the redundant crossovers and associated work to be carried out prior
to occupation
ii) a financial contribution of £40,058.75 (index linked) to the Westminster Employment Service.
iii) a Carbon Offset contribution of £283,575 (index linked) payable prior to commencement of development;
and
iv) costs of monitoring
2. If the S106 legal agreement has not been completed within six weeks of the date of Sub-Committee’s
resolution, then:
a) The Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning shall consider whether it would be possible and
appropriate to issue the permission with additional conditions attached to secure the benefits listed
above. If so, the Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning is authorised to determine and issue the
decision under Delegated Powers; however, if not;
b) The Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning shall consider whether the permission should be
refused on the grounds that the proposals are unacceptable in the absence of the benefits which would
have been secured; if so, the Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning is authorised to determine the
application and agree appropriate reasons for refusal under Delegated Powers.
Item No
2.

References

Site Address

Proposal

Applicant

RN(s):

Lords View
One, Lords
View
London
NW8 7HJ

Erection of 2 storey extension to accommodate
residential (Class C3) accommodation including
terraces and green roofs. Associated works to
include refurbishment of the existing exterior and
landscaping in connection with the provision of
additional parking spaces.

Lords View
Penthouse Ltd

Applicant

21/01934/FULL

Regent's Park
Recommendation
Grant conditional permission.
Item No

3.

References

Site Address

Proposal

RN(s):

2-8
Rutland
Gate
London
SW7 1AY

Partial demolition of existing building; remodelling of
fourth floor and roof levels with openable glass roof;
alterations to rear terraces at ground and fourth floor
level and creation of terrace at fifth floor level;
changes to fenestration; installation of internal lift and
plant machinery; excavation to extend sub-basement
level; and associated external alterations.

21/01047/FULL

Knightsbridge
And Belgravia

Page 19

Vision Perfect Global
Limited

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING APPLICATIONS SUB COMMITTEE – 20th July 2021
SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS TO BE CONSIDERED
Recommendation
Grant conditional permission.
Item No
4.

References

Site Address

Proposal

RN(s):

Bourne
House
St Vincent
Street
London
W1U 4DB

Erection of a new roof pavilion and roof terrace
space on Bourne House in connection with office use
(Class E) at 1 St. Vincent Street.

21/02114/FULL
Marylebone High
Street

Applicant

The Howard de
Walden Estate

Recommendation
Grant conditional permission
Item No

5.

References

Site Address

Proposal

RN(s):
21/03425/FULL
21/03611/LBC

37
Gloucester
Mews
London
W2 3HE

Variation of condition 1 and removal of
conditions 4 and 8 of planning permission dated
28 January 2020 (RN 19/08415/FULL); and also
Variation of condition 1 of the listed building
consent dated 28 January 2020 (RN:
19/08416/LBC: for the extension to rear
courtyard at lower ground floor level,
replacement of lower ground floor external
windows and doors, NAMELY, to amend the
design of the windows and doors including the
incorporation of double glazing, replace the
courtyard tiling, and provide details of waste
storage areas

Hyde Park

Applicant

Iain Bott

Recommendation
1. Grant conditional permission.
2. Grant conditional listed building consent.
3. Agree the reasons for granting listed building consent as set out in Informative 1 of the draft decision notice.
Item No

6.

References

Site Address

Proposal

Applicant

RN(s) :

23-25
Brook
Street
Mayfair
London
W1K 4HB

Reopening of the lightwell and reinstatement of the
railings at 25 Brook Street, with new access ramp to
ground floor entrance.

The Handel House
Trust t/a Handel &
Hendrix in London

21/02709/FULL

West End
Recommendation

1. Grant conditional permission.
2. Authorise the making of a draft Order pursuant to Section 247 of The Town and Country Planning
Act (1990) (as amended) for the stopping up of parts of the public highway to enable this development
to take place.
3. Authorise the Director of City Highways, Executive Director of City Management and Communities,

Page 20

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING APPLICATIONS SUB COMMITTEE – 20th July 2021
SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS TO BE CONSIDERED
or other such proper officer of the Council responsible for highway functions, to take all necessary
procedural steps in conjunction with the making of the Order and to make the Order as proposed if
there are no unresolved objections to the draft Order.
4. Grant conditional listed building consent.
5. Agree the reasons for granting listed building consent as set out in Informative 1 of the draft
decision notice.

Page 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1
Item No.
1

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

20 July 2021

For General Release

Report of
Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning

Ward(s) involved
St James's

Subject of Report

Premier House, 10 Greycoat Place, London, SW1P 1SB

Proposal

Partial demolition and remodelling of the principal facades and fifth floor
of the building; addition of two storeys for office use and provision of
retail, restaurant and gym uses at ground and basement levels.
Formation of terraces on sixth and seventh floors for office use and
associated plant and cycle parking.

Agent

Brunel Planning

On behalf of

Victoria Space (UK) Ltd

Registered Number

20/05884/FULL

Date Application
Received

17 September 2020

Historic Building Grade

Unlisted

Conservation Area

Adjacent to the boundary of the Broadway And Christchurch Gardens
Conservation Area

1.

Date amended/
completed

16 June 2020

RECOMMENDATION

1. Grant conditional permission subject to a Section 106 Legal Agreement to secure the following:
i) payment for all highway works immediately surrounding the site required for the development
to occur, including reinstatement of the redundant crossovers and associated work to be
carried out prior to occupation
ii) a financial contribution of £40,058.75 (index linked) to the Westminster Employment Service.
iii) a Carbon Offset contribution of £283,575 (index linked) payable prior to commencement of
development; and
iv) costs of monitoring
2. If the S106 legal agreement has not been completed within six weeks of the date of SubCommittee’s resolution, then:
a) The Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning shall consider whether it would be possible
and appropriate to issue the permission with additional conditions attached to secure the
benefits listed above. If so, the Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning is authorised to

Page 23

Item No.
1

determine and issue the decision under Delegated Powers; however, if not;
b) The Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning shall consider whether the permission
should be refused on the grounds that the proposals are unacceptable in the absence of the
benefits which would have been secured; if so, the Director of Place Shaping and Town
Planning is authorised to determine the application and agree appropriate reasons for refusal
under Delegated Powers.

2.

SUMMARY

Premier House, 10 Greycoat Place is a six storey plus basement unlisted building located outside of
a conservation area but adjacent to the boundary of the Broadway and Churchill Gardens
Conservation Area. The building is currently occupied as a café/restaurant and estate agent on the
ground floor, offices on the upper floors with car parking and ancillary services in the basement.
Planning permission is sought for the partial demolition and remodelling of the principal facades and
fifth floor; two additional storeys for office use; retail, restaurant and gym uses at ground and
basement levels and the formation of terraces on sixth and seventh floors for office use plus
associated plant and cycle parking.
Objections have been received on design and visual amenity grounds from the Westminster Society,
the Thorney Island Society and local residents.
The key issue for consideration is:
•

The impact of the height, bulk, massing of the building and the detailed design of the
principal façade on the character and appearance of the area, the setting of adjacent
conservation areas and the setting of designated heritage assets.

For the reasons set out in the report, the proposals are considered acceptable and in accordance
with the relevant City Plan policies subject to appropriate conditions and a S106 legal agreement to
secure payment for the cost of carrying out all necessary highway works, the financial contribution to
the Westminster Employment Service and the carbon off set payment.

Page 24

Item No.
1

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA
100019597

Page 25

Item No.
1

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

Page 26

Item No.
1

5.

CONSULTATIONS
ORIGINAL APPLICATION
HISTORIC ENGLAND ARCHAEOLOGY:
Proposal unlikely to have a significant effect on heritage assets of archaeological
interest. No further archaeological assessment or conditions required.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY:
No objection. Satisfied that the developer has assessed the risk from a breach in the
Thames tidal flood defences and that there is no sleeping accommodation proposed
below the modelled tidal breach flood level.
WESTMINSTER SOCIETY:
Object to the appearance of the front elevation and design of the upper two storeys.
THORNEY ISLAND SOCIETY:
Consider it beneficial that the building will be retained in commercial use in this mixeduse neighbourhood but object to the proposed façade design, the parapet detail and roof
design.
CATHERDRAL AREA RESIDENTS GROUP:
Any comments to be reported verbally by officers.
VICTORIA WESTMINSTER BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT (BID)
Supportive in principle. Comments provided on sustainability/energy measures, short
stay cycle parking, servicing strategy, security and safety measures.
THAMES WATER:
No objection subject to informatives advising the applicant with regard to waste water
and water network infrastructure capacity.
WESTMINSTER ECONOMY TEAM:
Based on the total net uplift in floorspace this scheme needs to provide a financial
contribution of £40, 058.75 towards Westminster's Skills and Employment Service.
WASTE PROJECT OFFICER:
No objection.
HIGHWAYS PLANNING MANAGER:
No objection subject to conditions to secure the cycle parking spaces and off-street
servicing. Payment for all necessary highways works including the removal of redundant
crossovers to be secured by legal agreement.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH:
No objection subject to conditions controlling noise emission levels from mechanical
plant, sound insulation measures, time restrictions on use of external terraces, hours of
building works and contaminated land.
GO GREEN PROGRAMME OFFICER

Page 27

Item No.
1

Satisfied with the updated Energy Strategy which indicates that the development should
achieve a 55.10% reduction in CO2 emissions which exceeds the 35% improvement
threshold set out in the London Plan and City Plan. The residual emissions for the
development will be off set through a financial payment in lieu based on the GLA rate of
£95/t CO2.
DESIGNING OUT CRIME OFFICER:
Has provided advice with regard to the location of/access to the proposed visitor cycle
stores and the fire exit strategy for the building.
ADJOINING OWNERS/OCCUPIERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED
No. Consulted: 544
No. of replies: 3
No. of objections: 3 letters raising objections on the following grounds:
Design
•
•
•

Height and massing would have detrimental impact on the adjacent listed Fire
Station building and Greycoat Hospital School buildings
The street elevation is over dominant and has a sombre and darkening effect in
views from Rochester Row
The faux Army and Navy stone fascia signage should be reconsidered

Amenity
•

Mass and bulk would result in loss of view

Other
•
•

Noise and disturbance from construction work
Resident's liaison group should be set up

PRESS ADVERTISEMENT / SITE NOTICE:
Yes.
REVISED SUBMISSION (DESIGN AMENDMENTS)
WESTMINSTER SOCIETY
The roof design is now more appropriate for a building in this context and scale but
would like the form and detailing of the prominent corner fifth floor windows to be
considered further.
THORNEY ISLAND SOCIETY
Object to alterations to main façade which is over fussy and not an improvement on the
old. The heavy roof will be over dominant in views up Rochester Row and would be very
much improved by more modest window openings which would help with summer overheating. See no benefit in replacing a perfectly serviceable façade with one that has no
aesthetic appeal and which will result in unnecessary energy use in construction and
heat gain in use.

Page 28

Item No.
1

6.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

6.1

The Application Site
Premier House, 10 Greycoat Place is a six storey plus basement building currently
occupied as a café/restaurant, estate agent and office entrance/reception area on the
ground floor, offices on the five upper floors and car parking and ancillary services in the
basement. To the rear, is Artillery Mansions, a group of residential blocks, which have
frontages on Artillery Row and Victoria Street. Immediately adjacent to the east is the
Grade ll listed former Westminster Fire Station where work is underway to convert the
building to residential flats: six on the upper floors and eleven in a new five-storey
building to the rear plus a restaurant.
The building is unlisted building and is located outside of a conservation area but
immediately adjacent to the boundary of the Broadway and Christchurch Gardens
Conservation Area.

6.2

Recent Relevant History
04/02442/FULL
Continued use of Unit 2 (ground floor) for Class A3 purposes (cafe/restaurant).
Application permitted
11 November 2004
96/08371/FULL
6 GREYCOAT PLACE- Change of use from car showroom to Class A2 use (Estate
Agency) and alterations to the shopfront.
Application Permitted
3 December 1996
90/00507/FULL
Renewal of planning permission dated 13 May 1985 for the redevelopment of the site to
provide offices and car parking
Application Permitted
6 August 1990

7.

THE PROPOSAL
Planning permission is sought for the partial demolition and remodelling of the principal
facades and fifth floor level of the building; two additional storeys of office
accommodation with roof terraces; retail, restaurant and gym uses at ground and
basement levels and mechanical plant in a sunken well on the roof.
Land use floorspace table:

Office
Estate Agent
Retail
Restaurant
Gym
Total

Existing GIA (sqm)
8,485
111
0
106
0
8,702

Proposed GIA (sqm)
9,248
0
115
474
434
10,271

Page 29

+/+763
-111
+115
+368
+434
1,569

Item No.
1

8.

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Land Use
The application seeks to provide two additional floors of office accommodation and to
internally remodel the ground and basement floors to provide a reconfigured office
entrance, retail, restaurant and gym uses.
Office use
Part A of Policy 13 (Supporting economic growth) of the City Plan 2019-2040 (April
2021) states that new and improved office floorspace will be supported to provide
capacity for at least 63,000 new jobs over the Plan period, enabling the continued
growth and clustering of the creative, knowledge, and research-based sectors.
Additional office floorspace will be directed to 1. Parts of the Central Activities Zone
(CAZ) with a commercial or mixed-use character, including the West End Retail and
Leisure Special Policy Area (WERLSPA) and Opportunity Areas; 2. North West
Economic Development Area (NWEDA) and Church Street / Edgware Road Housing
Renewal Area; and 3. Town centre hierarchy.
The application site is located within the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) and therefore the
additional 763sqm of office floorspace is acceptable in principle.
Restaurant, retail and gym use
Currently, there is an estate agent (111sqm) and a café/restaurant (106sqm) at ground
floor level plus the entrance/reception area to the offices on the upper floors. The
proposed scheme provides a new retail unit (115sqm), restaurant (474sqm), a new gym
(434 sqm) at basement level with entrance/reception area at ground floor level and
reconfigured office entrance/reception area.
Further to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England)
Regulations 2020, which came into force on the 1st September 2020, the proposed retail,
restaurant and gym uses all now fall within Class E.
City Plan Policy 14 B requires uses with active frontages which serve visiting members
of the public at ground floor level throughout the town centre hierarchy including CAZ.
The applicant has therefore agreed to a condition which will restrict those areas of the
ground floor currently shown on the submitted plans as retail, restaurant and gym to
uses within Class E (a) (retail), (b) (café/restaurant), (c)(i), (c)(ii), (c)(iii), (financial and
professional services) and (d) (indoor sport/fitness)
There is no identified operator for the proposed restaurant at the present time. The
applicant has submitted a draft restaurant operational management plan. The current
proposal is for restaurant opening hours from 0700 to 2300 hours daily. The 474sqm of
restaurant floorspace could accommodate 195 covers and it is anticipated that there will
be approximately 7-10 kitchen staff and 7-10 front of house staff. Provision has been
made for a full height kitchen extract ventilation duct which will discharge at roof level.
Given the existing café/restaurant use on the ground floor and the number of other

Page 30

Item No.
1

café/restaurant uses nearby, there is no objection in principle to the proposed restaurant
subject to conditions restricting the hours of opening to those currently proposed and
requiring the submission of a further restaurant operational management plan prior to
occupation once a restaurant operator has been secured.
8.2

Townscape and Design
The site is located close to the boundary of the Broadway and Christchurch Gardens
Conservation Area which lies immediately to the east, the Westminster Cathedral
Conservation Area which lies to the west and the Vincent Square Conservation Area
located to the south. There are also several listed buildings in the immediate vicinity of
the site, including grade II listed buildings immediately adjacent at the Westminster Fire
Station, Artillery House and Westminster Palace Gardens (1-7 Artillery Row), as well as
directly opposite at the Greycoat Hospital School. The building also forms part of the
settings of the Church of St Stephen which is a grade II star listed building to the south
and the Westminster College, which is also grade II star listed.
The proposal site is therefore located in a highly sensitive location in heritage asset
terms. The key legislative requirements in respect to designated heritage assets
affected by the proposed development are as follows:
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
requires that ‘in considering whether to grant planning permission for development which
affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be,
the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses.’
Whilst there is no statutory duty to take account of effect on the setting of a conservation
area, Policy 39 of the adopted Westminster City Plan 2019-2040 requires development
to conserve features that contribute positively to the settings of conservation areas and
take opportunities taken to enhance their settings, wherever possible.
Furthermore Chapters 12 and 16 of the NPPF require great weight be placed on design
quality and the preservation of designated heritage assets including their settings.
Chapter 16 of the NPPF clarifies that harmful proposals should only be approved where
the harm caused would be clearly outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme,
taking into account the statutory duty to have special regard or pay special attention, as
relevant. This should also take into account the relative significance of the affected
asset and the severity of the harm caused.
In addition, Policies 38 (Design Principles), 39 (Westminster’s Heritage) and 40
(Townscape and Architecture) of the adopted City Plan 2019- 2040 are of relevance to
this application. Policy 38 requires new development to incorporate exemplary
standards of high quality, sustainable and inclusive urban design and architecture.
Policy 39 seeks to value and celebrate Westminster’s unique heritage, requiring
development to optimise the positive role of the historic environment, ensuring heritage
assets and their settings are conserved and enhanced, in a manner appropriate to their
significance. Finally, Policy 40 requires development to be sensitively designed, having
regard to the prevailing scale, heights, character, building lines and plot widths,
materials, architectural quality and degree of uniformity in the surrounding townscape.

Page 31

Item No.
1

The existing building was constructed in circa 1900 to the designs of Reginald Blomfield
and was one of a number of warehouses constructed in the area for the Army and Navy
Stores. The steel framed building was six storeys in height in addition to a basement,
with a gently curved red brick faced façade fronting on to Greycoat Place and a flat roof
capped by ball finials. Portland stone quoins accented the vertical piers which were
linked horizontally by triple height brick columns, arched at fourth floor level. The
uppermost attic storey incorporated quirky circular windows above an expressed cornice
line. Loading bays were incorporated at ground floor level, framed by granite Tuscan
columns, and the main staircases rose within the two end bays.
The heritage assessment provided in support of the application describes how the
building was well received in the contemporary architectural press. However, it is
evident when compared to historic photographs of the building that the façade in situ
today has been very heavily altered. Windows have been substantially altered, arched
window openings have been removed, architectural detailing has been lost and the
original brickwork has been rendered. Major alterations appear to have been
undertaken to the façade during the 1960s; archival drawings included in the supporting
heritage impact assessment indicate that the arched fourth floor windows were removed,
the parapet was rebuilt with new stone copings, the finials were removed, the end bays
were rebuilt from the fourth floor, the central bays rebuilt from the third floor up and the
front of the building was covered with panels of opaque glass. Whilst the original
building was evidently of high design quality and formed one of a series of warehouses
that contributed to the distinctive character of this area, the alterations carried out in the
1960s caused significant harm to the character of the original building and it is no longer
considered to make a positive contribution to the appearance of the area. The principle
of partially demolishing and remodelling its façades is therefore considered acceptable
and is an opportunity to enhance the appearance of the building and the contribution it
makes to the appearance of the streetscape.
There are several nearby designated heritage assets in close proximity to the proposal
site. The significance of the grade II listed Westminster Fire Station immediately to the
east of the proposal site is largely derived from being one of a series of fire stations built
by London County Council, each executed to a bespoke design, as well as the
architectural interest of its external treatment as a fine interpretation of the 1700 English
Baroque style. Its architectural relationship to the application site, which was
constructed at a similar time, has been severed following the alterations which were
carried out to 10 Greycoat Place during the 1960s and there is no longer a strong or
positive relationship between the two buildings. Its setting and relationship to the
proposal site is not therefore considered an inherent aspect of the special interest of this
listed building.
In addition, the Church of St Stephen located to the south of the proposal site dates to
mid- 19th century and is grade II star listed. The significance of this listed building is
largely derived from its architectural interest as an early example of the Decorated
Gothic Style and its historic interest as a social, spiritual and communal centre to the
community which it served. Its high architectural and historic significance in the local
context is reinforced by its architectural prominence within the local streetscape, namely
through the treatment of its distinct palette, dominant height and its positioning within the
plot. Parts of its interior and original painted decoration are also considered to be of

Page 32

Item No.
1

special interest. However, there is no association between the application site and the
Church of St Stephen, the former of which dates from the commercialisation of the area
to the north of the church during the early 20th century. Whilst the application site is
viewed within the context of the church, it is not considered to make an important
contribution to the setting or special interest of this listed building. Likewise, the
application site does not contribute to the special interest and setting of the grade II
listed Greycoat Hospital School to the south east of the application site beyond forming
part of its existing townscape context, which is characterised by a variety of built forms
and scale of buildings.
Artillery House and Westminster Palace Gardens are also grade II listed buildings
located to the north of the application site. The supporting heritage statement identifies
some stylistic similarities between Blomfield’s original warehouse building at the
application site and Artillery House. However, the two sites are not easily appreciated
together from a single vantage point and given the extent to which the application site
was altered during the 1960s, its relationship to these listed buildings and their settings
is negligible. In summary, whilst the application site is located in close proximity to many
nearby listed buildings, it is not considered to make any contribution to their special
interest or settings beyond forming part of a varied and diverse townscape within which
they are located.
The proposal involves partial demolition and remodelling of the front facade with larger
metal framed glazed openings, replacement windows throughout and the addition of two
new storeys at sixth and seventh floor levels with a 1.2m high roof level plant enclosure
above which conceals a projecting lift overrun and access stairs. The proposed two
storey roof extension incorporates a 45-degree pitch with glazed ‘tunnels’ set between
areas of bronze coloured metal roof coverings, with a concealed double height plant
area incorporated at the rear. High level recessed terraces are proposed to the east
elevation, facing towards the Westminster Fire Station.
The proposed development represents a significant increase in height and bulk through
the addition of two new roof storeys and a plant enclosure above, the visual impact of
which is most significant in local views from the south on Rochester Row. As highlighted
above, the roof extension incorporates a 45-degree angle and is set behind the parapet
line. The plant enclosure above is modest in height at 1.2m and is set well back from
the front of the roof, with the majority of plant concealed within a sunken plant enclosure
to the rear at sixth and seventh floor levels. The flat roof currently accommodates
various structures, all of which are to be removed. The proposed contemporary design
incorporates double height ‘tunnels’ of glazing set within a solid metal roof. Initial
proposals for perforated cladding between the glazing were resisted on design grounds,
due to the visual impact of backlighting from the interior which would have appeared
visually jarring. The revised design, which shows a greater degree of solidity at roof
level with metal cladding between the glazed openings, is considered more appropriate.
Verified views have been submitted in support of the application. Whilst the proposed
development does represent a significant increase in height and high-level bulk, the
verified views demonstrate that the large scale of the existing building enables it to
comfortably accommodate the additional height proposed. In shorter views from the
south, the application site terminates the vista northwards and is flanked by buildings of
a substantial scale to both sides of Rochester Row (namely, Rochester House and

Page 33

Item No.
1

Stockton Court to the east and Emanuel House and 10 Rochester Row to the west), all
of which are modern buildings of a substantial scale that are of low heritage value. In
this context, the proposed height and bulk of the upwards extension relates comfortably
to the scale of the surrounding townscape and is not considered visually dominating.
The proposed roof extension creates a more rationalised appearance, obscuring the lift
overrun projection to Artillery Place which currently projects unattractively above the flat
roof of the application site. When viewed further from the south, including from within
the Vincent Square Conservation Area on Rochester Row, the site is viewed at the end
of a long vista alongside many other buildings of a larger scale than the existing, such as
the grade II star listed St Stephen’s Church, the tower of which remains the prominent
feature, and the flank wall to grade II star listed Westminster Kingsway College. The
additional height and bulk is accommodated comfortably in this context and does not
appear visually dominant or out of scale with the surrounding townscape and would be
further concealed by tree canopy coverage during the summer months. The verified
views demonstrate how, when viewed in long vistas from the south, the additional height
and bulk proposed is viewed against the backdrop of the significantly taller scale of
development on Victoria Street to the north. The views also demonstrate that the
proposed plant enclosure will have very limited visibility given its location set well back
from the front. Overall the proposed increase in height and bulk is not considered
harmful in local views from the south nor is it considered harmful to the setting of the
Vincent Square Conservation Area, St Stephen’s Church or Westminster Kingsway
College.
Verified views have also been submitted which demonstrate the impact of the proposed
development on local views from the east, including from within the Broadway and
Christchurch Gardens and Peabody Estate: South Westminster Conservation Areas and
within the context of grade II listed Westminster Fire Station immediately to the east of
the proposal site. Given the reasonably shallow pitch of the proposed roof form, which
incorporates a 45 degree angle, the views demonstrate that the proposed roof extension
will not have a harmful impact on these local views from within the adjacent conservation
areas and will comfortably relate to the large scale of the existing building. The east
facing roof structure has a greater degree of solidity than the south facing roof and the
reduced degree of glazing will ensure the additional roof storeys will blend in discreetly
with the composition of the main building. The proposed terraces will be visible from
street level but will be partly obscured in many views by the adjacent fire station building.
Given that the proposed terraces are recessed into the form of the roof and are well set
back from the front of the building, they will not appear intrusive in street level views and
are not considered harmful to the setting of the adjacent designated heritage assets or
the appearance of the building. The proposed increase in height will represent an
increase in massing and height within the backdrop of the grade II Westminster Fire
Station. Notwithstanding this increase in massing, the Fire Station will remain prominent
within the streetscape and appreciation of its fine, highly significant façade will remain
unaffected, causing no harm to the setting or special interest of this listed building.
When viewed from the west, the proposal site curves away and around the corner north
eastwards out of sight, due to the street layout and curved plot. The verified view taken
from the junction between Greencoat Place, Artillery Row and Greycoat Place
demonstrates that the proposed roof extension will not be visible from these short local

Page 34

Item No.
1

views due to its 45-degree pitch and will cause no harm to the appearance of the
streetscape.
The proposed façade design has been subject to extensive negotiations and largely
seeks to reinstate some of the original design features that were lost as a result of the
1960s work, albeit not in facsimile. For example, circular windows are proposed at fifth
floor, indicative of the original composition, and the use of red brick facing is informed by
the historic warehouse character of the original building as well as the predominant
palette of the wider area and is considered an enhancement in this context compared to
the existing rendered finish. The new façade is to be expressed with projecting cornices
and articulated window reveals, framing deep set windows will achieve a greater sense
of depth, shadow and visual interest than the existing façade which appears
considerably flatter. The original proposal for a broken cornice line to the corners has
been omitted following negotiations and the resulting façade design terminates more
simply and successfully than that originally proposed. The proposed double height
glazing in the central bays is not a typical characteristic of solid to void ratios of the
commercial buildings in the immediate vicinity, nor of the original warehouse building,
and will have a dramatic visual impact in local views. Following negotiations with the
applicant, the large scale of the window openings originally proposed has been broken
down through the introduction of brick spandrels to the central bays and brick mullions to
the outer bay windows. Given that the application site is very much a standalone site of
a substantial scale which does not relate strongly to any other buildings nearby, the
composition of the remodelled facade is not considered harmful to the appearance of the
existing streetscape.
The applicant has confirmed that the doors leading out to the small area of flat roof
behind the parapet at sixth floor level are intended for maintenance purposes only. The
imposition of a condition preventing this area of roof from being used as a terrace is
recommended in order to prevent unsightly high-level clutter in this prominent location.
Replacement shopfronts are proposed at ground floor level. The existing ground floor
frontages are modern, inconsistently treated and of poor design quality. The principle of
removing them is considered uncontentious and represents an opportunity to enhance
the street level presence of the site. Following negotiations, the design now
incorporates a tripartite arrangement to reflect that of the fenestration design to the
upper levels with a consistent metal stallriser throughout. The existing original Tuscan
columns and granite base are to be retained. The proposed replacement shopfronts
introduce a consistent design across the width of the site and represent an enhancement
to the street frontage. The shopfronts are therefore considered acceptable in design
terms, subject to detail which can be secured via condition.
Objections were received on design grounds from the Westminster Society and the
Thorney Island Society to the original application. The Westminster Society consider the
revised roof extension and façade designs as positive improvements compared to the
original scheme. However, concerns are maintained regarding the two wrap around
windows at fifth floor level which were to break the cornice line. Following further
negotiations, this aspect of the design has been revised to address the comments
raised. Overall, it is considered that the concerns raised by the Westminster Society
have been addressed.

Page 35

Item No.
1

The Thorney Island object to the revised scheme on the grounds that the new façade is
‘over fussy’ and confused, not representing an improvement to the existing arrangement.
The Thorney Island Society also object to the proposed roof design which they consider
will be dominant in views from Rochester Row to the south. Concerns are also raised
regarding the broken parapet to both corners, which has been addressed in the most
recent revisions. However, for the reasons set out above, it is considered that the
proposed materiality, greater articulation to the façade, improvements to the ground floor
level frontages and the expressed cornices will represent improvements compared to the
existing rendered, flat façade which was so drastically altered during the 1960s. The
originally submitted design was over- complicated but it is considered that the revised
scheme has a simplified façade design, which introduces a greater degree of solidity
compared to the original submission. Whilst it is accepted that the proposed roof design
and its use of glazed ‘tunnels’ is unusual and will not relate to the typical roofscape in the
immediate vicinity, the building appears as a standalone site particularly in local views
from the south and in this context, a contemporary roof design is not considered harmful.
The extent of glazing has been reduced considerably following negotiations and the
revised design, whilst contemporary, is not considered harmful in this context. Whilst the
Thorney Island Society’s objection to the broken cornice line has been addressed, other
aspects of their objection are not therefore supported.
An objection from a local resident echoes the Thorney Island Society’s objection and
considers the design to be overbearing and the street facing elevation to be too
dominant. The objector also considers the existing building to be worthy of appropriate
conservation which should be restored rather than re-fronted, or alternatively to replicate
the original warehouse frontage. As set out above, the original warehouse façade was
dramatically altered during the 1960s and the existing arrangement bears little
resemblance to its historic appearance. The existing facade is not considered to make
an important contribution to the appearance of the local streetscape and the loss of the
existing façade would not represent sustainable grounds for refusal in design terms.
Whilst the architectural merit of the original warehouse building is acknowledged, the
proposal to partially demolish and remodel the front façade of the building must be
assessed on its own merits and the application under consideration does not propose to
replicate the original warehouse building. For the reasons set out in detail above, the
proposed new façade is considered more appropriate than the existing and therefore,
the objections put forward by the local resident and their desire to replicate the original
warehouse building cannot be supported.
For the reasons set out above, the proposed development has regard to the prevailing
context in the immediate vicinity of the site, in compliance with Policy 40 of the City Plan
2019- 2040, causing no harm to the setting of nearby heritage assets in compliance with
Policy 39. The proposed new façade is considered to be of better design quality than
the existing façade and will make a more positive contribution to the appearance of the
streetscape, in compliance with Policy 38. As such, the proposal is considered
acceptable and compliant with policies 38, 39 and 40 of the Westminster City Plan 20192040 and therefore, a recommendation to grant conditional permission would be
compliant with the requirements of the NPPF and the statutory duties of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.
8.3

Residential Amenity

Page 36

Item No.
1

Part A of Policy 7 (Managing development for Westminster's people) of the City Plan
2021 states that developments will be neighbourly by protecting and where appropriate
enhancing amenity, by preventing unacceptable impacts in terms of daylight and
sunlight, sense of enclosure, overshadowing, privacy and overlooking.
The site is located adjacent to residential properties at Artillery Mansions, specifically 1119 Artillery House and, to the rear, at 1-17 Artillery Place, Artillery Row. A further
seventeen flats are currently under construction on the former Westminster Fire Station
site. There have been no objections on loss of daylight/sunlight, sense of enclosure or
loss of privacy grounds from the residents of these buildings.
Sunlight and Daylight
The application is supported by a daylight and sunlight assessment carried out in
accordance with BRE guidelines.
Of the 805 windows tested, five windows at seventh and eighth floor levels of Artillery
Mansions will experience VSC daylight losses marginally in excess of the BRE
recommended guideline of 20% (20.65% - 25.86%). However, these windows are either
to bedrooms or dual aspect rooms and the minor daylight losses will not therefore have
a harmful impact on residential amenity. There will be no material impact on sunlight to
rooms in Artillery Mansions as result of the proposed extensions to the building.
Sense of Enclosure
The proposed two storey extension has been designed with a 45-degree angle set
behind the parapet which slopes inwards away from the face of the building.
Consequently, although there will be additional massing at sixth and seventh floor levels,
due to the angled roof slope and distance from adjacent buildings (8.4m from 1-17
Artillery Mansions and 7.7m from the former Westminster Fire Station) this will not result
in an increased sense of enclosure to adjoining residential occupiers.
Privacy
Two terraces are proposed at sixth and seventh floor level on the east elevation of the
building (53sqm each) for use by office occupiers.
There are three columns of existing windows from ground to fifth floor level on the east
elevation of the building facing the side elevation of the former fire station. As the
proposed terraces would be located several storeys above the height of the former Fire
Station, there will be no direct overlooking caused to the future occupiers of these flats.
As recommended by the Council’s Environmental Sciences Team a condition is to be
attached restricting the use of these terraces to 08.00 to 21.30 hours Monday to Friday
and not at all on Saturday, Sunday or Bank Holidays, except in the case of an
emergency.
Noise from plant
All new mechanical plant is to be located within a concealed area at rear sixth and
seventh floor level with the exception of the emergency generator which will be located

Page 37

Item No.
1

in the basement. The application is supported by a noise assessment report. The
Council’s Environmental Services Team are satisfied with the noise assessment and
have confirmed that the plant is capable of complying with the Council’s noise
requirements subject to conditions controlling noise emission levels and hours of testing
of the emergency generator.
8.4

Transportation/Parking
The application site is located north on Greycoat Place, which leads into Horseferry
Road and immediately north of the mini-roundabout junction of Artillery Row and
Rochester Row.
There are a number of existing access points at ground floor level into the building. To
the west are two fire exit doors and two roller shutters in front of a crossover, which
provides access into the internal service yard/loading bay. On the other side of the
building is an existing roller shutter which provides a ramped access down to the
basement car parking area. All vehicle accesses have associated footway crossovers.
The basement currently has parking for 13 vehicles all associated with the office use.
Car parking
The proposed use of the basement area for gym, retail and restaurant uses will result in
the loss of 13 car parking spaces. Policy 27 (G) of the City Plan supports the
development of existing car parks to alternative uses and therefore the loss of car
parking associated with the office use is acceptable.
The site is within a controlled parking zone, which means anyone who drives to the site
will be subject to those controls. The impact of the loss of off street car parking will be
minimal and consistent with the aims of Policy 27.
Cycle parking
Policy T.5 of the London Plan (2021) requires 1 space per 175m² of retail, 1 space per
75m² of office and 1 space per 8 staff for gym type uses. The scheme provides 137 long
term cycle parking spaces in the basement accessed via the existing car park vehicle
ramp.
Additional short term cycle parking is provided in the basement. This is welcomed and
considered a benefit of the proposed scheme. While some additional cycle parking is
indicated on the highway, given the footway widths and pedestrian volumes in the area,
it is unlikely this could be taken forward. The number of cycle spaces and welfare
provision is acceptable and will be secured by condition
Servicing
Policy 29 (Freight and Servicing) of the City Plan requires provision and retention of
convenient access to all premises for servicing vehicles with this facility accommodated
on-site and off-street and freight consolidation. The largest regular service vehicle
expected to be associated with this development is the refuse collection vehicle.

Page 38

Item No.
1

The existing site has a large off-street internal loading bay. The initial proposals had
resulted in the reduction in size of the loading bay but the scheme has been amended to
retain the existing size of the loading bay.
Compared to the existing situation there will be an additional nine vehicles, which will
service the site. This is largely attributed to the new restaurant use. It is accepted that
the proposal is unlikely to worsen the existing situation and a condition is recommended
to secure details of a servicing management plan and operational management plan.
The proposed alterations will result in part of the existing vehicle crossovers becoming
redundant, and therefore all necessary highway works including the cost of
reinstatement of the redundant crossovers as a shared surface, must be secured by
S106 legal agreement. This will improvement the environment for pedestrians and other
highway users, consistent with Policies 25, 28 and 43 of the City Plan.
Trip Generation
It is accepted that the majority of trips to the site (excluding servicing activity) will be via
public transport and other sustainable modes of transport (walking and cycling). The
applicant’s trip generation model indicates this could be in the region of an additional 74
trips to the site. However, given the site’s high accessibility and linkages to other areas
around the site, this is not considered to have a detrimental impact on the safety or
operation of the highway network or the amenity of adjoining properties.
Given the existing use of the site, it is considered that with conditions and existing
parking restrictions in place, that the servicing of the site is unlikely to worsen the
existing situation.
Storage for Waste and recyclables
The Council’s Waste Project Officer is satisfied with the dedicated waste and recycling
store which is located in the basement area. Waste will be transferred to the ground floor
‘loading bay, during collection times. The provision and retention of the waste store is to
be secured by condition.
8.5

Economic Considerations
The economic benefits associated with the refurbishment and extension of the existing
building which will create jobs for Westminster residents is welcomed.
A financial contribution of £40,058.75 towards the City Council’s Employment, Training
and Skills service is to be secured by S106 legal agreement.

8.6

Access
The refurbishment of the building provides level access into the building.

8.7

Other UDP/Westminster Policy Considerations
Sustainability

Page 39

Item No.
1

Policy SI.2 of the London Plan (April 2021) requires all new developments to be net
zero-carbon. A minimum on-site reduction of at least 35% Building Regulations is
required for major developments. Residential development should achieve 10% and
non-residential development should achieve 15% through energy efficiency measures.
Where it is clearly demonstrated that the zero-carbon target cannot be fully achieved onsite, any shortfall should be provided, in agreement with the borough, either:
1) through a cash in lieu contribution to the borough’s carbon offset fund, or
2) off-site provided that an alternative proposal is identified, and delivery is certain.
Policy 36 (Energy) of the City Plan states that the Council will promote zero carbon
development and expects all development to reduce on-site energy demand and
maximise the use of low carbon energy sources to minimise the effects of climate
change. Policy 38 (Design principles) states that development will enable the extended
lifetime of buildings and spaces and respond to the likely risks and consequences of
climate change by incorporating principles of sustainable design.
The application is supported by an Energy Report and Sustainability Statement. The
scheme is not a zero-carbon development but is providing a 55.10% reduction in carbon
emissions which is above the Building Regulations and City Plan 2021 threshold of 35%.
This is being achieved through the use of mechanical ventilation, air source heat pumps
for heating and hot water, CO2 sensor controls of fresh air, LED lighting with dimming
control, leak detection system and use of low water fixtures and fittings and provision of
a brown roof.
The existing structural frame of the building is retained; this is one of the main principles
of the circular economy. A pre-refurbishment audit of the existing building has been
undertaken and has identified that 99.7% of the materials can be reused or recycled and
thus diverted from landfill.
The construction waste will be separated into separate key waste groups either on site
or through a licensed contractor for recovery. The completed development will also
adhere to an operational waste management plan, which will identify volumes and types
of waste that will be generated by the development.
The development aims to reduce water consumption by 40%. This will be achieved
through the use of leak detection system to detect major water leaks and flow-controlled
devices will be fitted to each toilet facility to prevent minor water leaks. In addition,
remotely readable water meters to monitor and reduce mains water use will be utilised,
as well as accessible sub-meters installed to monitor mains water supply to major water
consuming plants and building areas. The development will also seek to minimise
unregulated water consumption in sanitary applications and irrigation.
The existing office accommodation is to be refurbished to a high quality thus creating a
flexible workspace for future occupiers of the building, thereby creating a more
sustainable use of the building. The ground floor will see the introduction of more active
frontages through the mix of uses on site.
The target BREEAM score for the scheme is excellent (74.06%).

Page 40

Item No.
1

The sustainability features proposed will be secured by condition and the carbon off set
contribution of £283,575 will be secured by S106 legal agreement.
Air Quality
Policy 32 of the City Plan states that Major developments should be at least Air Quality
Neutral, and that Air Quality Assessments will be required.
The applicant has submitted an Air Quality Assessment. The assessment of the
construction phase concludes that without any mitigation, there is a medium risk from
dust impacts from construction/demolition activities. Assessment of construction vehicle
movements against relevant thresholds concludes that these are not considered to be
significant. Due to the scale of the development, the developer will be required to comply
with the Council’s Code of Construction Practice and a site-specific Site Environmental
Management Plan will be required and agreed prior to the commencement of works. The
developer has agreed to a pre-commencement condition requiring the works to be
carried out in accordance with the Council’s Code of Construction Practice.
The Air Quality Neutral Assessment shows that the development will involve the removal
of the existing gas boilers and installation of air source heat pumps. The proposal will
also include a life safety generator. The existing car parking spaces on site are to be
removed.
Light Pollution
The office accommodation is capable of 24 hour use but is mostly likely to be used
during standard office hours (0700 to 1900 hours). No additional glazed windows are
proposed in the rear elevation of the building nor in the rear of the new sixth and seventh
floor levels facing towards Artillery Mansions.
The office accommodation will be equipped with an intelligent lighting system, whereby
the lights will automatically switch off when inactive for a period of time. Accordingly, the
internal lighting of the building is unlikely to have a material impact on residential
amenity.
Overheating
The development has been designed following the GLA’s guidance on energy
assessment (April 2020) following the cooling hierarchy to mitigate any risk from
overheating. The London Plan (2021) requires all major developments to reduce the risk
of internal overheating and the reliance on mechanical ventilation.
Heat generation within the development is minimised through the provision of fully
insulated pipework to reduce heat losses and the use of highly efficient LED lighting to
reduce internal heat gains. The windows at new sixth and seventh floor levels will be
fitted with integral blinds (within the frames) to reduce solar heat gain. It is anticipated
that the office accommodation will generally be occupied 0700 to 1900 hours but will be
available for 24-hour use. Assessments submitted by the applicant demonstrate that
with the provision of mechanical, the building will not exceed 26 degrees for more than

Page 41

Item No.
1

3% of the occupied hours for the period between May to September. The overheating
risks for the building are therefore low.
Biodiversity
A brown roof (140sqm) is proposed at roof level, details of which are to be secured by
condition.
Designing out Crime
In response to the Metropolitan Police Designing out Crime officer’s concerns about 1)
the fire exit strategy which, as per the existing situation will be for all tenures but will also
now include the independently operated gym in the basement and 2) the visitor cycle
store in the basement; the applicant has confirmed that the building will have CCTV
coverage at each entry/exit and in the servicing bay and an Access Control System
(video intercom), which will reduce the potential for unauthorised access to all areas of
the building.
A Security Needs Assessment (SNA) has been developed for the site, in consultation
with the Metropolitan Police Preventative Security Operations, Counter Terrorism
Officers. The assessment concluded that, whilst there was no specific threat to the
building, due to its proximity to the Palace of Westminster and other iconic tourist
locations, it could suffer collateral damage and, whilst a threat from a hazardous vehicle
could not be dismissed, the building does not have any high indicators that would
suggest it is a primary target. The building will have Loss Prevention Standard (LPS)
rated doors and security rated glass in order to increase the general security of the
building.
8.8

Westminster City Plan
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 was adopted at Full Council on 21 April 2021. Therefore, in
accordance with s.38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, it comprises
the development plan for Westminster in combination with the London Plan adopted in
March 2021 and, where relevant, neighbourhood plans covering specific parts of the city
(see further details in Section 8.9). As set out in s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 and paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the application must be determined
in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

8.9

London Plan
This application raises no strategic issues.

8.10

National Policy/Guidance Considerations
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) policies referred to in the consideration of this
application are considered to be consistent with the NPPF 2019 unless stated otherwise.
Further to the Town and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations
2018, the City Council cannot impose a pre-commencement condition (a condition which

Page 42

Item No.
1

must be discharged before works can start on site) on a planning permission without the
written agreement of the applicant, unless the applicant fails to provide a substantive
response within a 10 day period following notification of the proposed condition, the
reason for the condition and justification for the condition by the City Council.
During the course of this application a notice was served relating to the proposed
imposition of pre-commencement conditions to secure the applicant’s adherence to the
Council’s Code of Construction Practice and requiring detailed contaminated land site
investigation, remediation and validation reports. The applicant has agreed to the
imposition of these conditions.
8.11

Planning Obligations
The draft ‘Heads’ of agreement are proposed to cover the following issues:
•

Payment for all highway works immediately surrounding the site required for the
development to occur, including reinstatement of the redundant crossovers and
associated work to be carried out prior to occupation

•

a financial contribution of £40,058.75 (index linked) to the Westminster
Employment Service

•

A Carbon Offset Contribution £283,575 (index linked) payable prior to the
commencement of development

•

costs of monitoring

The estimated CIL payment is:
Mayoral CIL = £125,520 (MCIL 2) ((£117,147.31(MCIL1))
Westminster CIL = £290,265
8.12

Environmental Impact Assessment
Environmental Impact Assessment is not required for a development of this size.
Environmental issues are considered in Sections 8.3 and 8.7 above.

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: AMANDA JACKSON BY EMAIL AT ajackson@westminster.gov.uk

Page 43

Item No.
1

9.

KEY DRAWINGS

Existing basement plan

Proposed basement plan

Page 44

Item No.
1

Existing ground floor plan

Proposed ground floor plan

Page 45

Item No.
1

Proposed sixth floor plan

Proposed seventh floor plan

Page 46

Item No.
1

Existing roof plan

Proposed roof plan

Page 47

Item No.
1

Existing Front (South) Elevation

Proposed Front (South) Elevation

Page 48

Item No.
1

Existing East Elevation

Proposed East Elevation

Page 49

Item No.
1

Existing North (Rear) Elevation

Proposed North (Rear) Elevation

Page 50

Item No.
1

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

Premier House, 10 Greycoat Place, London, SW1P 1SB

Proposal:

Partial demolition and remodelling of the principal facades and fifth floor and
addition of two storeys for office use and provision of retail, restaurant and gym uses
at ground and basement levels. Formation of terraces on sixth and seventh floors
for office use and associated plant and cycle parking.

Reference:

20/05884/FULL

Plan Nos:

1905-SPP-DR-A-PL-E-00-XX-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-DR-A-PL-P-20-XX-01-01
Rev. P02, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-E-20-B1-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-01-DR-APL-E-20-0G-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-DR-A-PL-E-20-01-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905SPP-DR-A-PL-E-20-02-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-DR-A-PL-E-20-03-01-01 Rev.
P01, 1905-SPP-DR-A-PL-E-20-04-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-DR-A-PL-E-20-0501-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-DR-A-PL-E-20-0R-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-DR-APL-E-25-XX-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-DR-A-PL-E-25-XX-01-02 Rev. P01, 1905SPP-DR-A-PL-E-25-XX-01-03 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-DR-A-PL-E-25-XX-01-04 Rev.
P01, 1905-SPP-DR-A-PL-E-26-XX-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-DR-A-PL-E-26-XX01-02 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-D-20-B1-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-01DR-A-PL-D-20-0G-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-D-20-01-01-01 Rev.
P01, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-D-20-02-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-D20-03-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-D-20-04-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905SPP-01-DR-A-PL-D-20-05-01-01 Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-D-20-0R-01-01
Rev. P01, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-D-25-XX-01-01 Rev. P02, 1905-SPP-01-DR-APL-D-25-XX-01-02 Rev. P02, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-D-25-XX-01-03 Rev. P02,
1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-D-25-XX-01-04 Rev. P02, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-D-26-XX01-01 Rev. P02, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-D-26-XX-01-02 Rev. P02, 1905-SPP-01DR-A-PL-P-20-B1-01-01 Rev. P03, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-20-0G-01-01 Rev.
P04, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-20-01-01-01 Rev. P02, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P20-02-01-01 Rev. P02, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-20-03-01-01 Rev. P02, 1905SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-20-04-01-01 Rev. P02, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-20-05-01-01
Rev. P03, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-20-06-01-01 Rev. P03, 1905-SPP-01-DR-APL-P-20-07-01-01 Rev. P03, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-20-0R-01-01 Rev. P02,
1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-25-XX-01-01 Rev. P03, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-25-XX01-02 Rev. P03, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-25-XX-01-03 Rev. P03, 1905-SPP-01DR-A-PL-P-25-XX-01-04 Rev. P02, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-26-XX-01-01 Rev.
P02, 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-26-XX-01-02 Rev. P02, Air Quality Assessment
(Ref: J399I A/I/F5) prepared by Air Quality Consultants dated 7 August 2020, Air
Quality Assessment Response (Ref: J399I A/2/F1) prepared by Air Quality
Consultants dated 11 March 2021, Restaurant Operational Management Plan dated
August 2020, Verified Views Document dated April 2021, Flood Risk Assessment
219159-RP-001 prepared by Mason Navarro Pledge dated June 2021, Energy
Statement Revision 3.0 prepared by Norman Disney and Young dated 19 February
2021, Letter from Venta Acoustics (Ref: VA2851.210507.M1) dated 07 May 2021
including Noise Impact Assessment Report (VA2851.200805.NIA 1.2) prepared by
Venta Acoustics dated 14 September 2020, Ventilation and Extract Statement
prepared by Norman Disney and Young dated 10 September 2020, Sustainability
Statement (Revision 3.1) prepared by Norman Disney and Young dated 10

Page 51

Item No.
1

September 2020, Transport Statement (R01-DW-Transport Statement 200914)
prepared by Vectos dated September 2020, Delivery and Servicing Management
Plan (R03-DW-Delivery and Servicing Management Plan 200914) prepared by
Vectos dated September 2020, Daylight and Sunlight and Light Pollution Report
Version V2 dated September 2020 prepared by Point 2 Surveyors and Daylight and
Sunlight and Light Pollution Report Part 2 (Ref: P2156 V2) dated August 2020
prepared by Point 2 Surveyors.
For information only: Planning Statement dated September 2020, Statement of
Community Involvement dated January 2021, Design and Access Statement (1905SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-20-DAS-01) Version I prepared by SPAARC dated September
2020, Heritage and Townscape Appraisal prepared by The Heritage Practice dated
August 2020, Exterior Lighting Report prepared by NDYLIGHT Lighting Design
dated August 2020, Archaeological Desk Based Assessment prepared by RPS
Group dated September 2020, Verified Views Document dated September 2020,
Appendix A Code of Construction Practice, SPAARC Designing out Crime
Clarification Document Version 1 dated 22.02.2021, Travel Plan (R02-DW-Travel
Plan 200914) prepared by Vectos dated September 2020, Structural Statement
(Report No. 219159-R010-00) prepared by Mason Navarro Pledge dated
September 2020 and Draft Construction Management Plan Rev. 1.1 dated July
2020.

Case Officer:

Zulekha Hosenally

Direct Tel. No.

07866037615

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s)

1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings
and other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved
subsequently by the City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions
on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

Except for piling, excavation and demolition work, you must carry out any building work
which can be heard at the boundary of the site only:
o between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday;
o between 08.00 and 13.00 on Saturday; and
o not at all on Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
You must carry out piling, excavation and demolition work only:
o between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday; and
o not at all on Saturdays, Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
Noisy work must not take place outside these hours unless otherwise agreed through a
Control of Pollution Act 1974 section 61 prior consent in special circumstances (for

Page 52

Item No.
1

example, to meet police traffic restrictions, in an emergency or in the interests of public
safety). (C11AB)
Reason:
To protect the environment of neighbouring occupiers. This is as set out in Policies 7 and
33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R11AD)
3

Pre Commencement Condition. Prior to the commencement of any;
(a) demolition, and/or
(b) earthworks/piling and/or
(c) construction
on site you must apply to us for our written approval of evidence to demonstrate that any
implementation of the scheme hereby approved, by the applicant or any other party, will
be bound by the council's Code of Construction Practice. Such evidence must take the
form of the relevant completed Appendix A checklist from the Code of Construction
Practice, signed by the applicant and approved by the Council's Environmental Sciences
Team, which constitutes an agreement to comply with the Code of Construction Practice
and requirements contained therein. Commencement of the relevant stage of demolition,
earthworks/piling or construction cannot take place until the City Council as local planning
authority has issued its written approval through submission of details prior to each stage
of commencement. (C11CD)
Reason:
To protect the environment of neighbouring occupiers. This is as set out in Policies 7 and
33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R11AD)

4

You must apply to us for approval of samples of the facing materials you will use,
including glazing, and elevations and roof plans annotated to show where the materials
are to be located. You must not start work on the relevant part of the development until
we have approved in writing what you have sent us. You must then carry out the work
using the approved materials. (C26BD)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 40 of the City
Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26AE)

5

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings of the following parts of the
development:
a) New external windows and doors (1:5 and 1:20);
b) Cill, header and window reveal details (1:5);
c) Cornice details (1:5);
d) Ground floor frontages on to Greycoat Place including shopfronts, loading bays and
ground floor integrated signage (1:20 and 1:10);
e) Plant enclosures (1:20); and

Page 53

Item No.
1

f) Terraces to east elevation including details of fall protection (1:20).
You must not start any work on these parts of the development until we have approved
what you have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to these details.
(C26DB)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 40 of the City
Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26AE)
6

You must not put structures such as canopies, fences, loggias, trellises or satellite or
radio antennae on the terraces. (C26NA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 40 of the City
Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26AE)

7

You must not put any machinery or associated equipment, ducts, tanks, satellite or radio
aerials on the roof, except those shown on the approved drawings. (C26PA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 40 of the City
Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26AE)

8

You must apply to us for approval of a brick sample panel(s) to be viewed on site. You
must not start any work on the brick work until we have approved what you have sent us.
You must then carry out the work according to these details. (C26DB)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 40 of the City
Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26AE)

9

You must not attach flues, ducts, soil stacks, soil vent pipes, or any other pipework other
than rainwater pipes to the outside of the building unless they are shown on the approved
drawings. (C26KA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 40 of the City
Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26AE)

10

You shall not use the sixth-floor roof area behind the front parapet of the building for

Page 54

Item No.
1

sitting out or for any other purpose. You can however use the roof area for maintenance
access and to escape in an emergency. (C21CA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 40 of the City
Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26AE)
11

You must install the louvred roof level plant enclosure shown on the approved drawings
before you use the machinery, lift overrun or roof access stairs. You must then maintain
the louvred screen in the form shown for as long as the machinery, overrun and stairs
remain in place. (C13DB)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 40 of the City
Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26AE)

12

(1) Where noise emitted from the proposed plant and machinery will not contain tones or
will not be intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the plant and
machinery (including non-emergency auxiliary plant and generators) hereby permitted,
when operating at its noisiest, shall not at any time exceed a value of 10 dB below the
minimum external background noise, at a point 1 metre outside any window of any
residential and other noise sensitive property, unless and until a fixed maximum noise
level is approved in writing by the City Council. The background level should be
expressed in terms of the lowest LA90, 15 mins during the proposed hours of operation.
The plant-specific noise level should be expressed as LAeqTm, and shall be
representative of the plant operating at its maximum.
(2) Where noise emitted from the proposed plant and machinery will contain tones or will
be intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the plant and machinery
(including non-emergency auxiliary plant and generators) hereby permitted, when
operating at its noisiest, shall not at any time exceed a value of 15 dB below the minimum
external background noise, at a point 1 metre outside any window of any residential and
other noise sensitive property, unless and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved
in writing by the City Council. The background level should be expressed in terms of the
lowest LA90, 15 mins during the proposed hours of operation. The plant-specific noise
level should be expressed as LAeqTm, and shall be representative of the plant operating
at its maximum.
(3) Following installation of the plant and equipment, you may apply in writing to the City
Council for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved. This is to be done by submitting
a further noise report confirming previous details and subsequent measurement data of
the installed plant, including a proposed fixed noise level for written approval by the City
Council. Your submission of a noise report must include:
(a) A schedule of all plant and equipment that formed part of this application;
(b) Locations of the plant and machinery and associated: ducting; attenuation and
damping equipment;
(c) Manufacturer specifications of sound emissions in octave or third octave detail;
(d) The location of most affected noise sensitive receptor location and the most affected

Page 55

Item No.
1

window of it;
(e) Distances between plant & equipment and receptor location/s and any mitigating
features that may attenuate the sound level received at the most affected receptor
location;
(f) Measurements of existing LA90, 15 mins levels recorded one metre outside and in
front of the window referred to in (d) above (or a suitable representative position), at times
when background noise is at its lowest during hours when the plant and equipment will
operate. This acoustic survey to be conducted in conformity to BS 7445 in respect of
measurement methodology and procedures;
(g) The lowest existing LA90, 15 mins measurement recorded under (f) above;
(h) Measurement evidence and any calculations demonstrating that plant and equipment
complies with the planning condition;
(i) The proposed maximum noise level to be emitted by the plant and equipment.
(C46AC)
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and as
set out in Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft Noise
Technical Guidance Note (November 2019), so that the noise environment of people in
noise sensitive receptors is protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive
sounds, and by contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise levels. Part (3) is
included so that applicants may ask subsequently for a fixed maximum noise level to be
approved in case ambient noise levels reduce at any time after implementation of the
planning permission. (R46AC)
13

No vibration shall be transmitted to adjoining or other premises and structures through
the building structure and fabric of this development as to cause a vibration dose value of
greater than 0.4m/s (1.75) 16 hour day-time nor 0.2m/s (1.75) 8 hour night-time as
defined by BS 6472 (2008) in any part of a residential and other noise sensitive property.
(C48AB)
Reason:
To ensure that the development is designed to prevent structural transmission of noise or
vibration and to prevent adverse effects as a result of vibration on the noise environment
in accordance with Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the
draft Noise Technical Guidance Note (November 2019). (R48AB)

14

(1) Where noise emitted from the proposed internal activity in the development will not
contain tones or will not be intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the
internal activity within the retail, restaurant and gym use hereby permitted, when
operating at its noisiest, shall not at any time exceed a value of 10 dB below the minimum
external background noise, at a point 1 metre outside any window of any residential and
other noise sensitive property, unless and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved
in writing by the City Council. The background level should be expressed in terms of the
lowest LA90, 15 mins during the permitted hours of use. The activity-specific noise level
should be expressed as LAeqTm,, and shall be representative of the activity operating at
its noisiest.
(2) Where noise emitted from the proposed internal activity in the development will

Page 56

Item No.
1

contain tones or will be intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the
internal activity within the retail, restaurant and gym use hereby permitted, when
operating at its noisiest, shall not at any time exceed a value of 15 dB below the minimum
external background noise, at a point 1 metre outside any window of any residential and
other noise sensitive property, unless and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved
in writing by the City Council. The background level should be expressed in terms of the
lowest LA90, 15 mins during the permitted hours of use. The activity-specific noise level
should be expressed as LAeqTm and shall be representative of the activity operating at
its noisiest.
(3) Following completion of the development, you may apply in writing to the City Council
for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved. This is to be done by submitting a further
noise report including a proposed fixed noise level for written approval by the City
Council. Your submission of a noise report must include
(a) The location of most affected noise sensitive receptor location and the most affected
window of it;
(b) Distances between the application premises and receptor location/s and any
mitigating features that may attenuate the sound level received at the most affected
receptor location;
(c) Measurements of existing LA90, 15 mins levels recorded one metre outside and in
front of the window referred to in (a) above (or a suitable representative position), at times
when background noise is at its lowest during the permitted hours of use. This acoustic
survey to be conducted in conformity to BS 7445 in respect of measurement methodology
and procedures;
(d) The lowest existing LA90, 15 mins measurement recorded under (c) above
(e) Measurement evidence and any calculations demonstrating that the activity complies
with the planning condition;
(f) The proposed maximum noise level to be emitted by the activity. (C47AC)
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels and as set
out in Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft Noise
Technical Guidance Note (November 2019), so that the noise environment of people in
noise sensitive receptors is protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive
sounds, and by contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise levels. Part (3) is
included so that applicants may ask subsequently for a fixed maximum noise level to be
approved in case ambient noise levels reduce at any time after implementation of the
planning permission. (R47AC)
15

The design and structure of the development shall be of such a standard that it will
protect residents within the same building or in adjoining buildings from noise and
vibration from the development, so that they are not exposed to noise levels indoors of
more than 35 dB LAeq 16 hrs daytime and of more than 30 dB LAeq 8 hrs in bedrooms at
night. Inside bedrooms 45 dB L Amax is not to be exceeded more than 15 times per
night-time from sources other than emergency sirens. (C49BB)
Reason:
To ensure that design, structure and acoustic insulation of the development will provide
sufficient protection for residents of the same or adjoining buildings from noise and
vibration from elsewhere in the development, as set out Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan

Page 57

Item No.
1

2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft Noise Technical Guidance Note (November 2019).
(R49BB)
16

The emergency plant and generators hereby approved shall only be used for the purpose
of public safety and life critical systems and shall not be used for backup equipment for
commercial uses such as Short Term Operating Reserve (STOR). The emergency plant
and generators shall be operated at all times in accordance with the following criteria:, ,
(1) Noise emitted from the emergency plant and generators hereby permitted shall not
increase the minimum assessed background noise level (expressed as the LA90, 15
mins over the testing period) by more than 10 dB one metre outside any premises.
(2) The emergency plant and generators hereby permitted may be operated only for
essential testing, except when required in an emergency situation.
(3) Testing of emergency plant and generators hereby permitted may be carried out only
for up to one hour in a calendar month, and only during the hours 09.00 to 17.00 hrs
Monday to Friday and not at all on public holidays. (C50AC)
Reason:
Emergency energy generation plant is generally noisy, so in accordance with Policies 7
and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft Noise Technical Guidance
Note (November 2019), a maximum noise level is required to ensure that any disturbance
caused by it is kept to a minimum and to ensure testing is carried out for limited periods
during defined daytime weekday hours only, to prevent disturbance to residents and
those working nearby. (R50AC)

17

You must apply to us for approval of sound insulation measures and a Noise Assessment
Report to demonstrate that the sound insulation will be sufficient to protect noise sensitive
receptors from break out of internal activity noise and that the development will comply
with the Council’s noise criteria set out in Condition(s) 12 and 13 of this permission. You
must not start work on this part of the development until we have approved in writing what
you have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to the details approved
before the residential units are occupied and thereafter retain and maintain. (C51BB)
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and
Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft Noise Technical
Guidance Note (November 2019), so that the noise environment of people in noise
sensitive receptors is protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive
sounds, and by contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise levels. (R51AC)

18

The two air source heat pumps referenced 'Rhoss TXAETY 6580 ASDP1' hereby
permitted shall not be operated except between 0700 hours and 1900 hours daily.
(C46CA)
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and as
set out in Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft Noise
Technical Guidance Note (November 2019), so that the noise environment of people in

Page 58

Item No.
1

noise sensitive receptors is protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive
sounds, and by contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise levels. Part (3) is
included so that applicants may ask subsequently for a fixed maximum noise level to be
approved in case ambient noise levels reduce at any time after implementation of the
planning permission. (R46AC)
19

The kitchen extract hereby permitted shall not be operated except between 0700 hours
and 2300 hours daily. (C46CA)
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and as
set out in Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft Noise
Technical Guidance Note (November 2019), so that the noise environment of people in
noise sensitive receptors is protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive
sounds, and by contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise levels. Part (3) is
included so that applicants may ask subsequently for a fixed maximum noise level to be
approved in case ambient noise levels reduce at any time after implementation of the
planning permission. (R46AC)

20

The design of the separating wall and/or floor should be such that the received value in
the noise sensitive spaces, with music playing, should be 10 dB below that measure
without music events taking place, at the quietest time of day and night, measured over a
period of 5 minutes and in the indices of Leq & LFMax in the octave bands of 63 Hz &
125 Hz. Maximum noise levels generated by the proposed new gym should be
demonstrated not to exceed the NR15 curve LAFmax inside any adjoining noise sensitive
properties. This includes noise from all sources (including amplified sound, music, and
impact noise from gym activities).
Reason:
To ensure that design, structure and acoustic insulation of the development will provide
sufficient protection for residents of the same or adjoining buildings from noise and
vibration from elsewhere in the development, as set out Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan
2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft Noise Technical Guidance Note (November 2019).
(R49BB)

21

You must apply to us for approval of details of a supplementary acoustic report
demonstrating that the plant will comply with the Council's noise criteria as set out in
Condition(s) 12 and 13 of this permission. You must not start work on this part of the
development until we have approved in writing what you have sent us. (C51AB)
Reason:
As set out in Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft
Noise Technical Guidance Note (November 2019), so that the noise environment of
people in noise sensitive receptors is protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and
impulsive sounds, and by contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise levels.
(R51BC)

Page 59

Item No.
1

22

The use of the sixth and seventh floor terrace areas hereby approved shall take place in
connection with the office use and only between the hours of 0800 hours to 2130 hours
Monday to Friday and not at all on Saturdays, Sundays and Bank Holidays. You can
however use the terraces to escape in an emergency or for access for maintenance
purposes.
Reason:
To protect neighbouring residents from noise nuisance, as set out in Policies 7, 16 and 33
of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R13ED)

23

No amplified music or sound shall be played at any time on the sixth and seventh floor
terraces hereby approved.
Reason:
To protect neighbouring residents from noise nuisance, as set out in Policies 7, 16 and 33
of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R13ED)

24

Customers shall not be permitted within the restaurant use hereby approved before 0700
hours or after 2300 hours Monday to Sunday.
Reason:
To protect neighbouring residents from noise nuisance, as set out in Policies 7, 16 and 33
of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R13ED)

25

You must carry out the measures included in your Restaurant Operational Management
Plan dated August 2020 at all times that the restaurant is in use.
Reason:
To protect the environment of people in neighbouring properties, as set out in Policies 7
and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R13BD)

26

You must only use the areas annotated as retail, restaurant and gym as shown on
drawings 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-20-B1-01-01 Rev. P03 and 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P20-0G-01-01 Rev. P04 for purposes within Class E (a) (retail), (b) (café/restaurant), (c)(i),
(c)(ii), (c)(iii), (financial and professional services) and (d) (indoor sport/fitness). You
must not use them for any other purposes, including any within Class E (e), (f), (g) (i), (ii)
and (iii) of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 as amended
September 2020 (or any equivalent class in any order that may replace it). (C05BC)
Reason:
We cannot grant planning permission for unrestricted Class E use because it would harm
the character and function of CAZ and would not meet Policy 14 of the City Plan 2019 2040 (April 2021). (R05HA)

27

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings and a management plan for the
brown roof. This is to include construction method, layout, species, maintenance and

Page 60

Item No.
1

watering regime. You must not commence works on the relevant part of the development
until we have approved what you have sent us. You must carry out this work according
to the approved details and thereafter retain and maintain the brown roof in accordance
with the approved management plan.,
Reason:
To protect and increase the biodiversity of the environment, as set out in Policy 34 of the
City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R43CC)
28

Pre Commencement Condition. You must carry out a detailed site investigation to find
out if the building or land are contaminated with dangerous material, to assess the
contamination that is present, and to find out if it could affect human health or the
environment. This site investigation must meet the water, ecology and general
requirements outlined in 'Contaminated Land Guidance for Developers submitting
planning applications' - produced by Westminster City Council in January 2018. You
must apply to us for approval of the following investigation reports. You must apply to us
and receive our written approval for phases 1, 2 and 3 before any demolition or
excavation work starts, and for phase 4 when the development has been completed but
before it is occupied.
Phase 1: Desktop study - full site history and environmental information from the public
records.
Phase 2: Site investigation - to assess the contamination and the possible effect it could
have on human health, pollution and damage to property.
Phase 3: Remediation strategy - details of this, including maintenance and monitoring to
protect human health and prevent pollution.
Phase 4: Validation report - summarises the action you have taken during the
development and what action you will take in the future, if appropriate., (C18AA)
Reason:
To make sure that any contamination in the building or of the ground under the site is
identified and treated so that it does not harm anyone who uses the site in the future. This
is as set out in Policy 33(E) of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R18BB)

29

You must provide, maintain and retain the following energy efficiency measures as
specified in your application before you start to use any part of the development:
a) air source heat pumps for heating and hot water;
b) CO2 sensor controls of fresh air;
c) LED lighting with dimming control; and
d) leak detection system and use of low water fixtures and fittings.
You must not remove any of these features. (C44AA)
Reason:

Page 61

Item No.
1

To make sure that the development provides the environmental sustainability features
included in your application as set out in Policies 36 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021). (R44AD)
30

Before anyone moves into the property, you must provide the separate stores for waste
and materials for recycling shown on drawing number 1905-SPP-01-DR-A-PL-P-20-B101-01 Rev. P04 prior to occupation and thereafter you must permanently retain them for
the storage of waste and recycling. You must clearly mark them and make them available
at all times to everyone using the building. (C14FC)
Reason:
To protect the environment and provide suitable storage for waste and materials for
recycling as set out in Policies 7 and 37 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021).
(R14CD)

31

You must provide each cycle parking space and associated facilities for cyclists shown on
the approved drawings prior to occupation of the development. Thereafter the cycle
spaces and associated facilities for cyclist must be retained and the space used for no
other purpose. (C22IA)
Reason:
To provide cycle parking spaces for people using the development in accordance with
Policy 25 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R22FB)

32

You must apply to us for approval of the following:
(a) a servicing management plan for the Class E uses and the offices
(b) an operational management plan for the restaurant
The servicing management plan must identify the process, internal storage locations,
scheduling of deliveries and staffing arrangements, as well as how delivery vehicle size
will be managed and how the time the delivered times spend on the highway will be
minimised. You must not occupy the development until we have approved the servicing
management plan and you must not use the ground and basement floors for restaurant
purposes until we have approved the restaurant operational management plan.
Thereafter you must carry out the servicing according to the approved servicing
management plan and operate the restaurant in accordance with the approved
operational management plan for the life of the development.
Reason:
In the interests of public safety and to avoid blocking the road as set out in Policies 24
and 25 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R24AD)

33

You must hang all doors or gates so that they do not open over or across the road or
pavement. (C24AA)
Reason:
In the interests of public safety and to ensure that the banners are not hit by high sided

Page 62

Item No.
1

vehicles in accordance with Policies 24 and 25 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021).
(R24CB)

Informative(s):

1

In dealing with this application the City Council has implemented the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We have
made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021), neighbourhood plan (where relevant), supplementary planning documents, the
London Plan (March 2021), planning briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as
offering a full pre application advice service, in order to ensure that applicant has been given
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably. In
addition, where appropriate, further guidance was offered to the applicant at the validation
stage.

2

Conditions 12 and 13 control noise from the approved machinery. It is very important that you
meet the conditions and we may take legal action if you do not. You should make sure that the
machinery is properly maintained and serviced regularly. (I82AA)

3

You are advised to permanently mark the plant/ machinery hereby approved with the details of
this permission (including date decision and planning reference number). This will assist in
future monitoring of the equipment by the City Council if and when complaints are received.

4

You are encouraged to join the nationally recognised Considerate Constructors Scheme. This
commits those sites registered with the Scheme to be considerate and good neighbours, as well
as clean, respectful, safe, environmentally conscious, responsible and accountable. For more
information please contact the Considerate Constructors Scheme directly on 0800 783 1423,
siteenquiries@ccscheme.org.uk or visit www.ccscheme.org.uk.

5

The construction manager should keep residents and others informed about unavoidable
disturbance such as noise, dust and extended working hours, and disruption of traffic. Site
neighbours should be given clear information well in advance, preferably in writing, for example
by issuing regular bulletins about site progress.

6

Please make sure that the lighting is designed so that it does not cause any nuisance for
neighbours at night. If a neighbour considers that the lighting is causing them a nuisance, they
can ask us to take action to stop the nuisance.

7

You are advised this permission does not approve any external lighting to the building.

Page 63

Item No.
1

8

With reference to condition 3 please refer to the Council's Code of Construction Practice at
(www.westminster.gov.uk/code-construction-practice). You will be required to enter into an
agreement with the Council appropriate to this scale of development and to pay the relevant
fees prior to starting work. Your completed and signed Checklist A (for Level 1 and Level 2
developments) or B (for basements) and all relevant accompanying documents outlined in
Checklist A or B, e.g. the full Site Environmental Management Plan (Levels 1 and 2) or
Construction Management Plan (basements), must be submitted to the City Council's
Environmental Inspectorate (cocp@westminster.gov.uk) at least 40 days prior to
commencement of works (which may include some pre-commencement works and
demolition). The checklist must be countersigned by them before you apply to the local planning
authority to discharge the above condition. You are urged to give this your early attention as the
relevant stages of demolition, earthworks/piling or construction cannot take place until the City
Council as local planning authority has issued its written approval of each of the relevant parts,
prior to each stage of commencement. Where you change your plans after we have discharged
the condition, you must re-apply and submit new details for consideration before you start work.
Please note that where separate contractors are appointed for different phases of the project,
you may apply to partially discharge the condition by clearly stating in your submission which
phase of the works (i.e. (a) demolition, (b) excavation or (c) construction or a combination of
these) the details relate to. However please note that the entire fee payable to the
Environmental Inspectorate team must be paid on submission of the details relating to the
relevant phase. Appendix A must be signed and countersigned by the Environmental
Inspectorate prior to the submission of the approval of details of the above condition.

9

For advice on how you can design for the inclusion of disabled people please see the guidance
provided by the Equality and Human Rights Commission, the Centre for Accessible
Environments and Habitat. The Equality and Human Rights Commission has a range of
publications to assist you (www.equalityhumanrights.com). The Centre for Accessible
Environment's 'Designing for Accessibility' (2012) is a useful guide (www.cae.org.uk). If you are
building new homes, you must provide features which make them suitable for people with
disabilities. For advice see www.habinteg.org.uk. It is your responsibility under the law to
provide good access to your buildings. An appropriate and complete Access Statement as one
of the documents on hand-over, will provide you and the end user with the basis of a defence
should an access issue be raised under the Disability Discrimination Acts.

10

Please make sure that the street number and building name (if applicable) are clearly displayed
on the building. This is a condition of the London Building Acts (Amendments) Act 1939, and
there are regulations that specify the exact requirements. For further information on how to
make an application and to read our guidelines on street naming and numbering, please visit
our website: www.westminster.gov.uk/street-naming-numbering (I54AB)

11

The development will result in changes to road access points. Any new threshold levels in the
building must be suitable for the levels of neighbouring roads. If you do not plan to make
changes to the road and pavement you need to send us a drawing to show the threshold and
existing road levels at each access point. If you need to change the level of the road, you must
apply to our Highways section at least eight weeks before you start work. You will need to
provide survey drawings showing the existing and new levels of the road between the

Page 64

Item No.
1

carriageway and the development. You will have to pay all administration, design, supervision
and other costs. We will carry out any work which affects the road. For more advice, please
email AskHighways@westminster.gov.uk.
12

You need to speak to our Highways section about any work which will affect public roads. This
includes new pavement crossovers, removal of redundant crossovers, changes in threshold
levels, changes to on-street parking arrangements, and work which will affect pavement vaults.
You will have to pay all administration, design, supervision and other costs of the work. We will
carry out any work which affects the highway. When considering the desired timing of highway
works in relation to your own development programme please bear in mind that, under the
Traffic Management Act 2004, all works on the highway require a permit, and (depending on the
length of the highway works) up to three months advance notice may need to be given. For
more advice, please email AskHighways@westminster.gov.uk. However, please note that if any
part of your proposals would require the removal or relocation of an on-street parking bay, this is
unlikely to be approved by the City Council (as highway authority).

13

You will have to apply separately for a licence for any structure that overhangs the road or
pavement. For more advice, please email Jeff Perkins at jperkins@westminster.gov.uk.

14

Under the Highways Act 1980 you must get a licence from us before you put skips or scaffolding
on the road or pavement. It is an offence to break the conditions of that licence. You may also
have to send us a programme of work so that we can tell your neighbours the likely timing of
building activities. For more advice and to apply online please visit
www.westminster.gov.uk/suspensions-dispensations-and-skips.

15

You may need separate licensing approval for the restaurant premises. Your approved licensing
hours may differ from those given above but you must not have any customers on the premises
outside the hours set out in this planning permission. (I61AB)

Please note: the full text for informatives can be found in the Council’s Conditions, Reasons
& Policies handbook, copies of which can be found in the Committee Room whilst the
meeting is in progress, and on the Council’s website.

Page 65

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
Item No.
2

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

20 July 2021

For General Release

Report of
Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning

Ward(s) involved
Regent's Park

Subject of Report

Lords View One, Lords View, London, NW8 7HJ

Proposal

Erection of 2 storey extension to provide residential (Class C3)
accommodation including terraces and green roofs. Associated works
to include refurbishment of the existing exterior and landscaping in
connection with the provision of additional parking spaces.

Agent

Mr Graham Timms

On behalf of

.

Registered Number

21/01934/FULL

Date Application
Received

25 March 2021

Historic Building Grade

Unlisted

Conservation Area

Outside of a conservation area, but opposite the boundary of the St
John’s Wood Conservation Area.

1.

Date amended/
completed

25 March 2021

RECOMMENDATION

Grant conditional permission.
2.

SUMMARY

This application relates to a block of flats, named Lords View One, facing St John's Wood Road, and
comprises a ground floor plus 10 upper storeys and a further plant room storey. The building is not
located in a conservation area and is unlisted.
Permission is sought to remove the existing plant room storey and for the erection of a two storey
roof extension at eleventh and twelfth floor levels to create 4x3 bedroom flats with terraces, green
roof and solar panels. Additionally, the application proposes re-landscaping in connection with the
provision of seven additional car parking spaces, recladding of the elevation, replacement windows
and changes to the front entrances. The proposals are a similar to those granted in July 2017.
Letters of objection and support have been received to the proposals.
The key issues in the determination of this application are:
• The impact of the proposed extension and alterations upon the character and appearance of
the building and wider townscape;

Page 67

Item No.
2

•

The impact of the proposals upon the amenity of neighbouring properties, notably those in
Lords View Two

During the course of the determination of this application, the City Council's has adopted its new City
Plan 2019-2040 on 21 April 2021, which has now replaced the UDP and 2016 City Plan policies.
Therefore this application has been assessed in the light of these new development plan policies.
The application is considered to accord with policies in the City Plan 2019-2040 adopted April 2021
with respect to land use, design, amenity, highways and trees and the application is therefore
recommended for approval subject to the conditions as set out within the draft decision letter
appended to the report.

Page 68

Item No.
2

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

Page 69

This production includes mapp
licensed from Ordnance Survey
permission if the controller of Her M
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyrigh
database righ
All rights reserved License Num
100

Item No.
2

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS
Application Site from St John’s Wood Road

Application site, in the context of the surrounding area (NB, Dora House to the east under
construction)

Page 70

Item No.
2

5.

CONSULTATIONS
WARD COUNCILLORS:
Any response to be reported verbally.
ST JOHN'S WOOD SOCIETY
Objection raised on the grounds that the current proposals are incongruous, dominate
the existing building and not an elegant approach. The vertical expression of the
extension jars with the horizontality of the existing building.
TRANSPORT FOR LONDON:
Objection raised to increase in car parking spaces. No objections raised to the remaining
proposals.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH:
No objection.
HIGHWAYS PLANNING MANAGER:
Although the provision of additional parking is contrary to City Plan policy, given the
extant 2017 permission there are no objections to this. The increase in cycle parking is
welcomed and compliant with policy.
ARBORICULTURAL OFFICER:
Objection raised to the new path and parking spaces closer to the existing sycamore
tree to the front elevation, and to soil levels of roof gardens. If minded to grant
permission, conditions are recommended.
DESIGNING OUT CRIME:
Any response to be reported verbally.
WASTE PROJECT OFFICER:
Further details of waste storage required.
ADJOINING OWNERS/OCCUPIERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED
No. Consulted: 195
Total No. of replies: 56
No. of objections: 4
No. in support: 52
Four objections have been received on the following grounds:
Design:
• The proposed extension is not in keeping with the existing building
• Design of roof extension is at odds with the existing building
• Lords View one will look top heavy
• Lords view two is a finer example of a building with a roof extension

Page 71

Item No.
2

Other:
• Noise and disruption during the course of development
Fifty-two letters of support to the proposals have been received on the grounds that the
roof extension relates well to the existing building and that the elevation changes, car
parking arrangements and landscaping are a dramatic improvement to this tired building.
PRESS ADVERTISEMENT / SITE NOTICE:
Yes
6.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

6.1

The Application Site
Lords View One is an eleven storey (plus plant room) residential building comprising 83
self-contained flats, located on the south side of St John’s Wood Road. It was built in the
1960s and is neither listed nor in a conservation area. Pedestrian and vehicular access
is via St John's Wood Road and there are numerous lock-up garages to the south of the
site. The immediate neighbouring residential tower, Lords View Two, was built to a
similar design and height at the same time as Lords View One although it occupies a
narrower footprint and in the past has had a roof extension added. The properties are
separated by Oak Tree Road.

6.2

Recent Relevant History
Planning permission was granted in July 2017 (17/04239/FULL) for the erection of 2
storey roof extension to accommodate 4 additional apartments including terraces and
green roofs. Associated works also approved were the refurbishment of the existing
exterior and internal common parts, replacement lifts and landscaping in connection with
the provision of additional parking spaces. A lawful development certificate to confirm
that the works to remove the existing switch room and four telecommunications masts at
roof level had lawfully implemented this permission was issued in April 2020.
In addition, a non-material amendment to permission 17/04239/FULL was approved
under application 20/02256/NMA, in April 2020 to increase the height of the roof
extension by 0.45m.
Application 20/01898/ADFULL (15 May 2020) approved a detailed Arboricultural Method
Statement pursuant to condition 14 of planning permission 17/04239/FULL.
Planning permission was granted in February 2012 for the removal of the existing
rooftop plant room and erection of two storey roof extension at eleventh and twelfth floor
levels to create 4x3 bedroom flats with terraces, living green roof and solar panels. Relandscaping in connection with the provision of seven additional car parking spaces.
The 2012 permission was a refinement on a permission granted in February 2009 for the
removal of the existing rooftop plant room and the construction of four self-contained two
storey residential units with roof terraces at tenth floor roof level and the provision of an
additional seven car parking spaces at ground level.

Page 72

Item No.
2

On 15 August 1986 permission was granted (and subsequently built) for the erection of
two flats at roof level and two flats at ground floor level at Lords View Two.
As a point to note, works are well underway in implementing the permission for the
redevelopment of Dora House directly to the east on St John’s Wood Road, which
essentially comprises two new buildings, one containing affordable sheltered housing
accommodation & the other private flats.To the south of the site The Compton, 30 Lodge
Road has been constructed (this had been approved when the earlier 2017 application
was submitted and assessed).
7.

THE PROPOSAL
Planning permission is sought for the erection of 2 storey structure to accommodate 4
additional apartments (Class C3) including terraces at 12th floor and terraces at roof
level.
Refurbishment works are also proposed to all elevations including replacement windows,
new glass balustrades to balconies, new spandrel panels beneath windows and slab
edges to delineate floor levels. External landscaping is also proposed in connection with
the provision of additional parking spaces and cycle storage.
The roof extension proposed is 0.72 higher than the 2017 approval (varied by the 2020
consent) and varies the design and of the appearance of the previously approved
extension.
Minor revisions have been received during the course of the application notably showing
a reduction in height to the roof top plant room from 1.85m to 1.6m; design tweeks; a
reduction in front boundary treatment from 1.4m to 1m and an increase in cycle parking.

8.

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Land Use
In land use policy terms, the provision of additional residential floorspace is in
accordance with Policy 8 (Housing Provision) of the City Plan and is therefore
welcomed.
The extension would create 4 residential duplex units comprising 2 x 200m2, 184m2 and
187m2 and all have three bedrooms. The total floorspace for the extension is 757m2.
The units are in accordance with policy 8 and Policy 10 (Housing for Specific Groups) of
the City Plan. In addition, in the context of the existing building which provides primarily
2 bedroom flats, the proposals are considered acceptable and considered to result in an
appropriate mix of units.
Policy 12 of the adopted City Plan seek to ensure a new homes will and residential
extension will provide a well -designed, energy efficient and high quality living
environment; that 90% of all new build housing is accessible and adaptable and that al
new homes will meet or exceed the National Described Space Standard.

Page 73

Item No.
2

The units exceed the minimum requirements outlined in the Nationally Described Space
Standards for a 3 bed residential unit which is 102m2 and are dual aspect and therefore
well lit and ventilated. The units are served by a lift and therefore accessible.
Policy 12 D also requires that all new homes will provide at least 5m2 of external
amenity space. The proposals exceed this with terraces to each unit at 12th floor level
and at roof level.
The proposals are acceptable in land use terms and comply with City Council policies.
8.2

Townscape and Design
Policy
The key legislative requirements in respect to designated heritage assets are as follows:
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
that “In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects
a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the
Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses.”
Whilst there is no statutory duty to take account of effect on the setting of a conservation
area, Policy 39 in the City Plan 2019-2040 states that features that contribute positively
to the significance of conservation areas and their settings will be conserved and
opportunities taken to enhance conservation areas and their settings.
Furthermore Chapters 12 and 16 of the NPPF require great weight be placed on design
quality and the preservation of designated heritage assets including their setting.
Chapter 16 of the NPPF clarifies that harmful proposals should only be approved where
the harm caused would be clearly outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme,
taking into account the statutory duty to have special regard or pay special attention, as
relevant. This should also take into account the relative significance of the affected asset
and the severity of any the harm caused.
The relevant policies for the consideration of this application are 34, 36 38, 39 and 40 of
the City Plan 2019-2040.
Proposal
A two storey extension is proposed at 7.2m tall, set behind existing 1m high parapet
walls. The extension, at 11th floor is set marginally in from the building edges to the
south, east and west elevations and further back from the north/ front elevation by
between 1.2m and 1.9m, given the existing building profile. At 12th floor level there are
further set backs to the front elevation to allow for the creation of terraces.
The proposed design is similar in form to the approved extension, featuring a pavilion
like structure and primarily glazed. Robust masonry pillars form the framework to contain
floor to ceiling glazing with masonry elements interspersed. Terraces at roof level are
proposed set amongst significant planting.
As part of the proposals, it is proposed to upgrade and refurbish the existing building

Page 74

Item No.
2

with replacement metallic finished aluminium windows; a cladding scheme to improve
the appearance of the building to the service cores at both front and rear, again finished
with a metallic aluminium and solid stone spandrels to windows on all floors on all
elevations below which will marry with the stone elements of the proposed extension.
New clear glass balustrades to all balconies and brick staining of the existing brickwork
is proposed. Changes also include improvements to the rear service areas which backs
onto the garage/ parking areas and alterations to the front entrances which will create a
more pleasant and pronounced street presence, incorporating enhanced accessed for
those less able. At the front boundary new ‘hit and miss’ metal panels are proposed, to
be interspersed with greening. These will measure no more than 1m, as revised during
the course of the application.
Assessment
The main issue is the effect of the proposed two storey extension in short and longer
distance views of the building, having regards to the sites location adjacent to the St
John's Wood Conservation Area and opposite Lords Cricket Ground which includes a
number of listed buildings and townscape features of interest. Policy 38 of the City Plan
seeks to ensure that development incorporates exemplary standard of sustainable and
include urban design and architecture, which responds to Westminster’s context. Policy
39 seeks to ensure that development will preserve and enhance the character and
appearance of conservation areas and their settings. Policy 40 states that roof
extension, in locations such as this, will be of appropriate design sympathetic to the
architectural character of the existing building.
Lords View One and Two were originally built to the same height. However, Lords View
Two was extended to provide two penthouse flats following a 1986 permission, meaning
it is now taller than Lords View One. Should the proposed development be implemented,
(or the 2017 extent permission be fully built out), Lords View One would be the
marginally taller building. Given the scale of the townscape in this area, with the
redeveloped Dora House being marginally taller on the St John’s Wood Road frontage
than that proposed (as shown in the applicants drawings) and the new 10 storey
building, The Compton at 30 Lodge Road to the south; an increase in overall height of
the building would be broadly consistent with the scale of buildings on St John's Wood
Road. As a reminder the approved roof extension measures 6.57m and it is now
proposed that the extension 7.2m, set behind the parapet edges of 1m. This increase in
height is therefore acceptable.
The proposed design of the extension is similar in form to the approved extension,
featuring a pavilion like structure set in from the sides of the building and primarily
glazed. While the previously approved design was considered to be an elegant
lightweight solution, this does not preclude a different design, such as the one now
proposed. Comparatively, both schemes have a vertical emphasis, as both designs
have two projecting bays aligning with the window arrangements on the lower storeys.
However, given their proportions, they also both have strong horizontal components to
their form, extending as they do, nearly the full width of the building.
The current design remains lightweight with robust masonry pillars forming a framework
contain floor to ceiling and with masonry elements interspersed, reflecting the solid
elements of the building below. The new design seeks to integrate the design more

Page 75

Item No.
2

closely to the existing building by for example, replicating the masonry detailing of the
extension into the solid spandrels on the floors below. The use of this detail will be
conditioned to ensure the work is completed in full, so as to create a top floor design
cohesive to the rest of the building.
The addition of a new terrace on the roof top raises some concern given the incremental
height increases to date, but such works do create opportunities for external amenity
and greening to biodiversity as discussed below. The terrace appears to be providing a
genuinely bio diverse planting to respond to the City Council’s City Plan’s biodiversity
policies. The terrace balustrade should be minimum required at 1.1 m with no further
conservatories, lift enclosures, pergolas, covered access enclosures etc, as these
detract from the main elevation and create roof clutter and this is to be conditioned.
The works to the lower floors of replacing windows and sliding patio doors to terraces,
balustrades and handrails and staining of the existing brickwork, will have the impact of
improving the lower elevations and tying the façade and the roof level extensions
together visually.
The St John’s Wood Society has objected stating a preference for the approved scheme,
by saying ‘the proposals are not an elegant addition to the building. The design is
incongruous, dominating the smaller scale of the existing host building, which appears
unbalanced. The vertical expression of the two storey addition jars with the horizontality
of the existing building, creating an emphasis at roof level which does not relate well to
the existing building beneath’. While agreed that the extant scheme was an appropriate
architectural response, the current proposal is quite similar in overall form and character
to that scheme. It is considered that the current design cannot dominate the building any
more than the approved scheme. While detailing and materials are slightly different and
a roof level terrace is now included, the proposed design also reflects the contemporary
styling of what is a mid 20th century building in a positive and creative manner.
In townscape terms, the extension would make a building of modest architectural
qualities more prominent in the streetscape. The increased visibility of the building would
not be harmful to the heritage assets of the St John’s Wood Conservation Area or
nearby listed buildings per se. The extension will not be harmful to either the building or
indeed the setting of the St John’s Wood Conservation Area, including the Lords
complex and the listed pavilion, Grace Gates and Pavillion.
In conjunction with the roof extension, integral to the works are the upgrading of the
existing building’s envelope. The new windows, balustrades, solid infill panels, brick
staining and general repairs, would visually improve its appearance, therefore enhancing
it’s relationship to adjacent heritage assets, including the conservation area. This is a
welcome and positive development in line with City Plan and NPPF guidance.
In terms of sustainability there are many benefits to the building’s carbon footprint,
through the greater efficiency of the new glazing and façade materials. The plant at roof
level is an efficient energy source, compliant with the aims of policy 36 and as such the
additional height as a result of the plant room is considered to be acceptable in
townscape terms.
In terms of the ground floor carparking and landscaping works, importantly, the building’s

Page 76

Item No.
2

setting would be upgraded with a SUDS compliant forecourt, complemented by new
landscaping and forecourt works, including public art. The new landscaping introduces a
more defined boundary and the greening of this somewhat austere urban environment of
this part of St John’s Wood Road, where high walls and tall building create a somewhat
hard experience of the public realm. A high quality landscaping scheme will offer a
considerable improvement to the street level pedestrian experience in this highly
trafficked area.
Conclusion
Accordingly and given the above, the proposal is considered acceptable in design and
heritage terms and would accord with policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019-2040.
The proposal is considered to preserve the character and appearance of the St John’s
Wood Conservation Area. As such, a recommendation for granting conditional
permission would comply with the NPPF and the statutory duties of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

8.3

Residential Amenity
Development that could result in a change to the amenity of neighbouring residents such
as that of the proposals here must be found to be in accordance with policy 7 of the City
Plan 2019 - 2040. The policy seeks to prevent unacceptable impacts in terms of losses
of daylight and sunlight, privacy and increases in sense of enclosure and
overshadowing. Policy 33 is also relevant which seeks to make sure that quality of life
and health and wellbeing of existing and future occupiers.
Sunlight and Daylight
The City Council generally has regard to the standards for daylight and sunlight as set
out in the Building Research Establishment (BRE) ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and
Sunlight’ (as revised 2011). The applicant’s consultant, CalfordSeaden has carried out
the necessary tests using the methodology set out in the BRE guidelines on residential
properties surrounding the site.
The assessment considers the impact of the development on the vertical sky component
(VSC) and daylight distribution available to windows in these properties. Where room
layouts are not known the daylight distribution test has not been undertaken by plotting
the No Sky Line (NSL). VSC is a measure of the amount of sky visible from the centre
point of a window on its outside face. If this achieves 27% or more, the BRE guidelines
state that the window will have the potential to provide good levels of daylight. The BRE
guidelines state that reductions of over 20% of existing daylight levels are likely to be
noticeable.
In respect of sunlight, the BRE guide suggests that a dwelling will appear reasonably
well sunlit provided that at least one main window wall faces within 90% of due south
and it receives at least a quarter of annual probable sunlight hours (APSH), including 5%
of APSH during the winter months. As with the tests for daylighting, the guidelines
recommend that any reduction below this level should be kept to a minimum; if a window
will not receive the amount of sunlight suggested, and the available sunlight hours is less
than 0.8 times their former value, either over the whole year or just in winter months,

Page 77

Item No.
2

then the occupants of the existing building will notice the loss of sunlight; if the overall
annual loss is greater than 4% of APSH, the room may appear colder and less cheerful
and pleasant.
The properties tested comprise:
• Lords View Two (to the south west of the site)
• The Compton, 30 Lodge Road (to the south east of the site)
• The Landseer Site, Lodge Road, to be known as Oak Tree House (to the south
west of the site – permission granted for a redevelopment in 2020, works not
begun and modelled from approved plans)
• Dora House (to the north east of the site, currently under construction and
modelled from approved plans)

Under the 2017 proposals it was demonstrated in terms of daylight, of all the windows
assessed, 7 windows (four in The Landseer on the first, second and third floor serving
living/kitchen rooms and 3 in 30 Lodge Road on second, third and fourth floor serving
bedrooms) would have fallen short of BRE targets for daylight. It was concluded that the
windows that were most affected were those with very low vertical sky component (VSC)
in their existing condition due to balcony design and thus a small reduction in VSC has a
disproportionate impact and notwithstanding this, the majority of windows would have
met the BRE guidance. In terms of daylight distribution, all windows assessed met the
BRE guidance.
All the windows assessed via VSC in Lords View Two, Dora House and The Landseer
pass the BRE tests. 9 windows within 30 Lodge Road will experience reductions in VSC
over the BRE recommendation but only marginally. Again, as concluded in the 2017
assessment these losses are too windows below overhanging balconies (on the side
elevations of the property the balconies serve bedrooms, to the central part of the
building, the balconies are access from living rooms). The applicant’s consultant have
confirmed that the analysis was run without the balconies and the windows would have
met the BRE recommendations.
In terms of daylight distribution, all windows in the 4 buildings assessed meets the BRE
guidance, bar one window in Oak Tree House which only marginally falls below the
guidance of 80%.
The majority of windows in The Landseer, 30 Lodge Road and Lords View Two face
within 90 degrees of due north and therefore do not require to be analysed for sunlight.
Where the windows face within 90 degrees of due south, they meet the BRE
recommendations for sunlight. There are no losses to the Dora House properties in
terms of sunlight.
The proposals are therefore not considered to be so harmful to warrant refusal and
considered to be acceptable in daylight and sunlight terms.
Sunlight and Daylight to Proposed Units
All of the rooms in the proposed development will meet BRE guidance for average
illuminance internally or ADF.

Page 78

Item No.
2

The windows to the south elevation of the proposed units will achieve good levels of
sunlight.
Privacy
The primary windows in the proposed extension are in the north/ front and south/ rear
elevations, overlooking Lords Cricket Ground and to an open aspect directly south of the
site. There are windows in the side elevations, facing Lords View Two and Dora House
redevelopment however these have been sensitively designed to relate to the internal
layout of the flats proposed and rooms layouts designed to encourage future occupiers
to use and look north and south. As with most residential units, it is envisaged that soft
furnishings such as blinds and curtains will be installed to protect their privacy. There is
one window on each floor in the eastern elevation of Lords View Two which is a
secondary window to a living/dining area, where the main large windows face north and
serve a small balcony. At roof level of Lords View Two there is a terrace serving the
penthouse flat, again facing north and primarily overlooking Lords Cricket Ground,
although there are views possible to the east toward the roof of the application site.
Given the location of the windows proposed in the side elevations of the roof extension
and coupled with the fact that the nearest windows in Lords View Two are over 12m
away it is not considered that any detrimental overlooking would occur. It is also not
considered that the proposals would result in any harmful overlooking to those future
occupiers of the Dora House redevelopment. Lords View One is a substantial distance
from The Compton at 30 Lodge Road to the south east and there are therefore no
overlooking concerns to this property either.
To the northern elevation of each of the units, terraces are proposed to the top floor of
the extension (Floor 12). Roof terraces are also proposed above this set in from all
sides with high level planters. These terraces are not considered give rise to any
overlooking to the small north elevation balconies of Lords View Two as these balconies
are enclosed by the side walls of the building itself and any views into the secondary
living room windows described above would be so oblique so as not to be harmful. In
addition the terraces are not considered to give rise to overlooking to future occupiers of
Dora House or the occupiers of The Compton.
Sense of Enclosure
The extension occupies the majority of the footprint of the existing building and
measures 7.2m in height, however this is sited behind the existing parapet wall of
approximately 1m and would therefore project approximately 6m above the parapet.
Whilst residents in flats on the upper levels of the eastern side of Lords View Two and
those to the south in The Compton would see the proposed extension from their
properties, given the distance of the proposed extension over 12m and 25m respectively
away from these buildings and its relatively lightweight construction and appearance of
glass and white and stone it is not considered that the extension would result in a
harmful sense of enclosure.
The proposals are considered to accord with City Council amenity policies in the City
Plan and UDP.
Noise from Terraces
Balconies are common place on Lords View One and Two and to The Compton south of

Page 79

Item No.
2

the site. The proposed balconies and terraces to serve the four new units are not
considered to result in unacceptable noise levels harmful to the amenity of existing
residents in Lords View One or adjacent properties.
8.4

Transportation/Parking
Car Parking
There are currently 47 garages and 36 parking spaces in the grounds of Lords View
One. A further six parking spaces would be provided at the front of the building, taking
the total to 89 spaces, by remodelling the front forecourt. Included in the reconfiguration
of the spaces will be 6 disabled spaces. TfL have objected to the proposals on the
grounds that additional car parking is proposed and an increase in parking would not
comply with the London Plan or policy 27 of the City Plan. However, in light of the extant
permission which allowed for a further seven spaces, it is not considered reasonable to
refuse the application on these grounds and a departure from policy is accepted in this
instance.
Cycle Parking
8 secure cycle parking spaces were originally proposed, to be provided in a store to the
rear of the site adjacent the existing garages. Whilst this complies with London Plan
policy and policy 25 of the City Plan, at officers request a further 10 cycle spaces are
proposed in an additional store to the rear of the site, resulting in a total of 18 spaces.
This is very much welcomed. The store does not conflict with access to any existing
garages.

8.5

Economic Considerations
No economic considerations are applicable for a development of this size

8.6

Access
There are currently two ramped entrances from street level to the raised ground floor
entrance. These are to remain and are to be enhanced as a result of the proposed
external improvements and landscaping works.
Internally, it is proposed to replace the old lifts serving the whole block and these will
also serve the additional rooftop residential units

8.7

Other UDP/Westminster Policy Considerations
Plant
The plant equipment at roof level is large, bulky and some 40 years old. As part of the
proposals it is proposed to site as much equipment internally within the building at
ground/ lower ground floor to the rear of the site (opposite the garages). Plant is also
proposed at roof level within an enclosure and this in association with the new residential
units and accommodates the lift overruns also. This has been assessed by the City
Council’s Environmental Health officers who have no objections to the proposals on
noise grounds. The proposals are likely to comply with policy 33 of the City Plan.

Page 80

Item No.
2

Refuse /Recycling
An objection by the Council’s Waste Officer has been received on the grounds that
proposed refuse facilities are not in accordance with Council guidelines.
Lords View One’s refuse is managed by a bin chute system in each core which collects
refuse in two enclosed bin stores to the rear of the building at Ground Floor level and
management services and rotate bins as required. Recycling is managed by a series of
bins located on the pavement between the Site and St. John’s Wood Road.
Westminster collects the refuse from the Site twice weekly on a Monday and a
Thursday, where the service vehicles are able to drive in and out of the Site in a forward
gear. Recycling is collected once weekly on Thursdays from the road.
The applicant states that as a result of the proposed 4 x 3 bedroom dwellings, there will
be a 9% increase in refuse and recycling requirements (refuse - 12 bedrooms x 40 litres
= 480 litres and recycling 12 bedrooms x 60 litres = 720 litres. The Site’s Management
consider the 9% increase in recycling and refuse provision to be manageable within the
existing system and therefore no adjustment is required to accommodate the proposals.
Trees/Landscaping
Remodelling of the front forecourt to provide extra parking spaces is proposed, the
principle of which has been agreed under the earlier permission. This application differs
in that instead of cars parking vertically north/ south adjacent the front boundary wall, the
spaces are now angled to allow for a new boundary treatment and more landscaping.
This will be similar to the existing landscaping areas, but more than that that was
previously approved which allowed the loss of part of the grassed area separating the
forecourt from the pavement of St John's Wood Road.
The arboricultural officer notes that with this new parking arrangement the parking
spaces and path to be much closer to the mature sycamore growing in the landscaped
area of the frontage. This will have implications for levels as all of the parking spaces
within the tree root protection area will need to be constructed using a no dig method,
thereby increasing the levels substantially. They do not consider that the details
submitted, which consists of the arboricultural method assessment and tree protection
details (as approved under application 20/01898/ADFULL) are sufficient, and that the
proposed cellular confinement system for the sycamore tree is lacking detail. Whilst the
arboricultural officer finds it difficult to support the current proposals they have suggested
conditions if permission were recommended.
In addition, conditions are suggested to secure appropriate landscaping scheme for the
ground flooe..
Biodiversity
A sedum room was approved at roof level under the 2017 permission. Now that the roof
areas are proposed to be used as formal terraces, the roof areas are to be designated
with planters. The area of sedum roof compared to the area of planters has been
reduced and the applicant was asked to reconsider this and asked why sedum strips
couldn’t be re-proposed within the terrace design. The applicant’s landscape consultant
advised “The change in design of the roof garden, from a more extensive sedum roof to
a more intensive planted approach is one that, whilst it sees the overall surface square

Page 81

Item No.
2

metreage of planted areas reduced, still provides high levels of added biodiversity value.
What is lost in sheer spread is gained in diversity of plants, longevity of flowering and a
range of heights - all of which ultimately benefit invertebrates and the birds and bats that
feed on them. The habitat provided is infinitely richer than that provided by a sedum roof.
It is widely accepted that the greater the range of plants available, the greater the
biodiversity value to local fauna. Where a single species - such as Sedum - is dominant,
a smaller range of fauna is accommodated. Where a diverse range of plants are
provided this in turn means pollen will be available over a much longer season and a
broad spectrum of mycorrhizae will be present in the soil. The differing heights and
interconnected nature of the plantings will also help create areas of shade and different
temperature - again beneficial to both flora and fauna”.
A landscaping scheme is therefore to be secured to ensure the species and types of
plants chosen achieve the biodiversity gain that is being strived towards.
Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SUDS)
As noted in the design section of this report, a SUDS scheme is proposed for all of the
car parking area and this is welcomed and in accordance with Policy 38 of the City Plan.
This is to be secured via condition, as agreed by the applicant.
Sustainability/ Energy
The proposals fall below the threshold for which an Energy Statement is required in
accordance with London plan Policy SI2 (Minimising greenhouse gas emissions) and
City Plan policy 36. This application is however accompanied by an Energy Statement
by DSA Engineering.
The Energy Statement describes the recommended solution to service the proposed in
the most energy efficient and sustainable manner, following the Be Lean, Be Clean, Be
Green, Be Seen hierarchy as stipulated by the Greater London Authority (GLA) and the
London Plan, in particular policy SI 2.
The existing building consists of 87 residential units which will remain largely untouched
and therefore sit outside the scope of this energy statement, however as part of the
larger improvements to the site, the existing residential units will have their fabric
upgraded with new double glazing throughout to significantly improve the energy
efficiency of these units.
In accordance with the recommendations of this Energy Statement, it is proposed to
install a highly efficient air source heat pump system providing the space heating and
cooling for the new units in this development. Through the installation of this together
with energy efficiency techniques, the proposed development will reduce annual carbon
emissions by 4.88 tonnes of CO2. This accounts for a reduction of approximately 49% of
the proposed development’s expected regulated energy carbon emissions against Part L
2013 of the Building Regulations. This exceeds the London Plan target of a minimum
35% reduction in CO2 emissions as set out in policy SI2.
8.8

Westminster City Plan
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 was adopted at Full Council on 21 April 2021. Therefore, in
accordance with s.38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, it comprises

Page 82

Item No.
2

the development plan for Westminster in combination with the London Plan adopted in
March 2021 and, where relevant, neighbourhood plans covering specific parts of the city
(see further details in Section 8.9). As set out in s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 and paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the application must be determined
in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
8.9

Neighbourhood Plans
There is no neighbourhood plan for the St John’s Wood area.

8.10

London Plan
This application raises no strategic issues.

8.11

National Policy/Guidance Considerations
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) policies referred to in the consideration of this
application are considered to be consistent with the NPPF 2019 unless stated otherwise.
Further to the Town and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations
2018, the City Council cannot impose a pre-commencement condition (a condition which
must be discharged before works can start on site) on a planning permission without the
written agreement of the applicant, unless the applicant fails to provide a substantive
response within a 10 day period following notification of the proposed condition, the
reason for the condition and justification for the condition by the City Council.
During the course of this application a notice was served relating to the proposed
imposition of a pre-commencement condition to secure the applicant’s adherence to tree
protection conditions. The applicant has agreed to the imposition of the condition.

8.12

Planning Obligations
Planning obligations are not relevant in the determination of this application.
The estimated CIL payment is £577,091.67 (Mayoral CIL of £60,880.00
and Westminster CIL of £516,211.67)

8.13

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA)
An EIA is not required for a development of this size.

8.14

Other Issues
Noise and Disruption During the Course of Works
An objection has been received on the grounds of noise and disruption during the course
of works if permission was to be granted; given that the site is/ has been surrounded by
development works at Dora House, The Compton and Lords Cricket Ground. A noise
report addressing the internal noise levels expected to the application site (both existing
and proposed units) has been submitted and this is the same as that submitted in 2017.

Page 83

Item No.
2

The objector picks up on this point, in that this isn’t a fair representation of the current
time. The Environmental Health officer hasn’t raised issue with this and it could be
argued that the 2017 is a more fair representation of existing background noise levels
and this was prior to the works to implement Dora House and The Compton started.
Whilst the objection of noise and disruption during works is noted, it is not itself a reason
to withhold permission. A condition is recommended to protect the amenity of the
surrounding area by ensuring that core working hours are kept to 08.00 to 18.00 Monday
to Friday and 08.00 to 13.00 on Saturday. The condition states that noisy work must not
take place outside these hours except as may be exceptionally agreed by other
regulatory regimes such as the police, by the highway’s authority or by the local authority
under the Control of Pollution Act 1974. An informative is also recommended to advise
the applicant to join the considerate constructors scheme. Through the use of the above
conditions and informative, it is considered that the impact of the development on
surrounding occupiers is being suitably controlled and mitigated as far as practicable
under planning legislation.
Crime and Security
At the time of writing, the Designing Out Crime Officer had not responded to the
application. In response to the 2017 application, the Designing Out Crime Officer raised
no objections to the proposals subject to an informative advising on security doors to be
installed throughout the development. This could be secured through Building
Regulations.

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: KIMBERLEY DAVIES BY EMAIL AT kdavies1@westminster.gov.uk

Page 84

Item No.
2

9.

KEY DRAWINGS

Existing and proposed north/ front elevation.

Page 85

Item No.
2

Existing and proposed south/ rear elevation.

Page 86

Item No.
2

Existing and proposed side (east and west) elevations.

Page 87

Item No.
2

Existing car park and ground floor plan.

Page 88

Item No.
2

Proposed car park and ground floor plan.

Page 89

Item No.
2

Proposed 11th, 12th and roof plan.

Page 90

Item No.
2

Proposed Visuals – for information only

Page 91

Item No.
2

Consented 2017 roof extensions

Front boundary treatement sketches – for information only

Page 92

Item No.
2

Page 93

Item No.
2

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

Lords View One, Lords View, London, NW8 7HJ

Proposal:

Erection of 2 storey extension to accommodate residential (Class C3)
accommodation including terraces and green roofs. Associated works to include
refurbishment of the existing exterior and landscaping in connection with the
provision of additional parking spaces.

Plan Nos:

ST-DM-02-100 P0; ST-DM-02-110 P0; ST-DM-02-111 P0; ST-DM-02-11 P0; STDM-03-100 P0; ST-DM-03-101 P0; ST-DM-03-102 P0; ST-DM-03-102 P0; ST-EX01-002 P0; ST -EX-01-100 P0; ST-EX-02-110 P0; ST-EX-02-111 P0; ST-EX-02-113
P0; EX-03-100 P0; ST-EX-03-101 P0; ST-EX-03-102 P0; ST-EX-05-100 P0; STPR-02-100 P0; ST-PR-02-110 P0; ST-PR-02-111 P0; ST-PR-02-112 P0; ST-PR-02113 P0; ST-PR-03-100 P1; ST-PR- 3-101 P1; ST-P2-03 102 P1; ST-PR-05-100 P2
Covering Letter dated March 2021; Design and Access Statement with revised
Drawing LV1005 and Parking and Boundary Treatment; Daylight and Sunlight
Assessment dated March 2021; Energy Statement dated March 2021; Structural
Statement; Noise Impact Assessment Report 15698.NIA.01 Rev B; Planning
Compliance Report 15698.PCR.01 Rev B.

Case Officer:

Kimberley Davies

Direct Tel. No.

07866036948

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s) or Reason(s) for Refusal:

1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings and
other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved subsequently by the
City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

Except for piling, excavation and demolition work, you must carry out any building work which
can be heard at the boundary of the site only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday;
o
between 08.00 and 13.00 on Saturday; and
o
not at all on Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
You must carry out piling, excavation and demolition work only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday; and
o
not at all on Saturdays, Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
Noisy work must not take place outside these hours unless otherwise agreed through a Control
of Pollution Act 1974 section 61 prior consent in special circumstances (for example, to
meet police traffic restrictions, in an emergency or in the interests of public safety).
(C11AB)

Page 94

Item No.
2

Reason:
To protect the environment of neighbouring occupiers. This is as set out in Policies 7 and 33 of
the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R11AD)
3

You must apply to us for approval of samples of the facing materials you will use, including
glazing and panelling. You must not start work until we have approved what you have sent us.
You must then carry out the work using the approved materials.
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 40 of the City Plan
2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26AE)

4

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings at 1:20 of the roof edge detail. You must
then cary out the construction according to these details.
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Conservation Area. This is as set out in Policies
38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26BF)

5

You must not put any machinery or associated equipment, ducts, tanks, satellite or radio aerials
on the roof, except those shown on the approved drawings. (C26PA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 40 of the City Plan
2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26AE)

6

You must not put structures such as canopies, fences, loggias, trellises or satellite or radio
antennae on the roof terrace. (C26NA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 40 of the City Plan
2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26AE)

7

The front boundary treatment shall exceed no more than 1m in height above pavement level.
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 40 of the City Plan
2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26AE)

8

You must provide each car parking space shown on the approved drawings prior to occupation

Page 95

Item No.
2

of the development and thereafter permanently retain them. Each car parking space shall only
be used for the parking of vehicles of people living in the residential part of this development.
(C22BB)
Reason:
To provide parking spaces for people living in the residential part of the development as set out
in Policy 27 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R22BC)
9

You must provide each cycle parking space shown on the approved drawings prior to
occupation of the development. Thereafter the cycle spaces must be retained and the space
used for no other purpose. (C22FC)
Reason:
To provide cycle parking spaces for people using the development in accordance with Policy 25
of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R22FB)

10

(1) Where noise emitted from the proposed plant and machinery will not contain tones or will not
be intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the plant and machinery (including
non-emergency auxiliary plant and generators) hereby permitted, when operating at its noisiest,
shall not at any time exceed a value of 10 dB below the minimum external background noise, at
a point 1 metre outside any window of any residential and other noise sensitive property, unless
and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved in writing by the City Council. The
background level should be expressed in terms of the lowest LA90, 15 mins during the
proposed hours of operation. The plant-specific noise level should be expressed as LAeqTm,
and shall be representative of the plant operating at its maximum.
(2) Where noise emitted from the proposed plant and machinery will contain tones or will be
intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the plant and machinery
(including non-emergency auxiliary plant and generators) hereby permitted, when
operating at its noisiest, shall not at any time exceed a value of 15 dB below the
minimum external background noise, at a point 1 metre outside any window of any
residential and other noise sensitive property, unless and until a fixed maximum noise
level is approved in writing by the City Council. The background level should be
expressed in terms of the lowest LA90, 15 mins during the proposed hours of operation.
The plant-specific noise level should be expressed as LAeqTm, and shall be
representative of the plant operating at its maximum.
(3) Following installation of the plant and equipment, you may apply in writing to the City
Council for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved. This is to be done by
submitting a further noise report confirming previous details and subsequent
measurement data of the installed plant, including a proposed fixed noise level for
written approval by the City Council. Your submission of a noise report must include:
(a) A schedule of all plant and equipment that formed part of this application;
(b) Locations of the plant and machinery and associated: ducting; attenuation and damping
equipment;
(c) Manufacturer specifications of sound emissions in octave or third octave detail;
(d) The location of most affected noise sensitive receptor location and the most affected window
of it;

Page 96

Item No.
2

(e) Distances between plant & equipment and receptor location/s and any mitigating features
that may attenuate the sound level received at the most affected receptor location;
(f) Measurements of existing LA90, 15 mins levels recorded one metre outside and in front of
the window referred to in (d) above (or a suitable representative position), at times when
background noise is at its lowest during hours when the plant and equipment will
operate. This acoustic survey to be conducted in conformity to BS 7445 in respect of
measurement methodology and procedures;
(g) The lowest existing LA90, 15 mins measurement recorded under (f) above;
(h) Measurement evidence and any calculations demonstrating that plant and equipment
complies with the planning condition;
(i) The proposed maximum noise level to be emitted by the plant and equipment. (C46AC)
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and as set out
in Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft Noise Technical
Guidance Note (November 2019), so that the noise environment of people in noise sensitive
receptors is protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive sounds, and by
contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise levels. Part (3) is included so that applicants
may ask subsequently for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved in case ambient noise
levels reduce at any time after implementation of the planning permission. (R46AC)
11

No vibration shall be transmitted to adjoining or other premises and structures through the
building structure and fabric of this development as to cause a vibration dose value of greater
than 0.4m/s (1.75) 16 hour day-time nor 0.2m/s (1.75) 8 hour night-time as defined by BS 6472
(2008) in any part of a residential and other noise sensitive property. (C48AB)
Reason:
To ensure that the development is designed to prevent structural transmission of noise or
vibration and to prevent adverse effects as a result of vibration on the noise environment in
accordance with Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft Noise
Technical Guidance Note (November 2019). (R48AB)

12

You must apply to us for approval of details of a supplementary acoustic report demonstrating
that the plant at ground floor level will comply with the Council's noise criteria as set out in
Condition 9 of this permission. You must not start work on this part of the development until we
have approved what you have sent us.
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and as set out
in Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft Noise Technical
Guidance Note (November 2019), so that the noise environment of people in noise sensitive
receptors is protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive sounds, and by
contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise levels. Part (3) is included so that applicants
may ask subsequently for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved in case ambient noise
levels reduce at any time after implementation of the planning permission. (R46AC)

13

You must apply to us for approval of the details of the ways in which you provide adequate soil

Page 97

Item No.
2

to provide a suitable rooting environment for the proposed soft landscaping on the rooftop,
including soil depths and volumes an details of a drainage layer and other components and the
proposed soil specification and profile. You must not start work on this part of the development
until we have approved what you have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to
the approved details.
Reason:
To improve the appearance of the development and its contribution to biodiversity and the local
environment, as set out in Policy 34 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R30AD)
14

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings of a hard and soft landscaping scheme
which includes the number, size, species and position of trees and shrubs. You must not start
work on the relevant part of the development until we have approved in writing what you have
sent us. You must then carry out the landscaping and planting within 6 months of completing
the development (or within any other time limit we agree to in writing).
If you remove any trees that are part of the planting scheme that we approve, or find that they
are dying, severely damaged or diseased within 3 years of planting them, you must
replace them with trees of a similar size and species. (C30CC)
Reason:
To improve the appearance of the development and its contribution to biodiversity and the local
environment, as set out in Policy 34 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R30AD)

15

Pre Commencement Condition. You must apply to us for approval of a method statement
explaining the measures you will take to protect the trees on and close to the site. You must not
start any demolition, site clearance or building work, and you must not take any equipment,
machinery or materials for the development onto the site, until we have approved in writing what
you have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to the approved details. (C31CC)
Reason:
To make sure that the trees on the site are adequately protected during building works. This is
as set out in Policies 34 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R31AD)

16

You must apply to us for our approval of details of an auditable system of arboricultural site
supervision and record keeping prepared by an arboricultural consultant who is registered with
the Arboricultural Association, or who has the level of qualifications and experience needed to
be registered. The details of such supervision must include:
o
o
o
o

identification of individual responsibilities and key personnel.
induction and personnel awareness of arboricultural matters.
supervision schedule, indicating frequency and methods of site visiting and record
keeping
procedures for dealing with variations and incidents.

You must not start any demolition, site clearance or building work, and you must not take any
equipment, machinery or materials for the development onto the site, until we have approved

Page 98

Item No.
2

what you have sent us. You must then adhere to the approved supervision schedule.
You must produce written site supervision reports after each site monitoring visit, demonstrating
that you have carried out the supervision and that the tree protection is being provided in
accordance with the approved scheme. If any damage to trees, root protection areas or other
breaches of tree protection measures occur then details of the incident and any
mitigation/amelioration must be included You must send copies of each written site supervision
record to us within five days of the site visit.
Reason:
To make sure that the trees on the site are adequately protected during building works. This is
as set out in Policies 34 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R31AD)
17

You must apply to us for approval of the details of the construction of the parking spaces,
footpaths, boundary walls and shrub bed edging within the root protection areas of retained
trees. You must demonstrate that the surfacing in these areas will be no-dig and permeable
and that the foundation design will allow the retention and protection of significant tree roots
(roots with a diameter of more than 25mm and clumps of fine roots). The submitted details
must be in accord with the tree protection details to be approved under condition (C31CC). You
must not start work on any of these parts of the development until we have approved what you
have sent us. You must then carry out the works according to the approved details.
Reason:
To make sure that the trees on the site are adequately protected during building works. This is
as set out in Policies 34 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R31AD)

18

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings and a bio-diversity management plan in
relation to the roof terraces to include construction method, layout, species and maintenance
regime.
You must not commence works on the relevant part of the development until we have approved
what you have sent us. You must carry out this work according to the approved details and
thereafter retain and maintain in accordance with the approved management plan. (C43GA)
Reason:
To increase the biodiversity of the environment, as set out Policy 34 of the City Plan 2019 2040 (April 2021). (R43FC)

19

You must provide a pourous surface to all of grounds/ carpark to ensure that the scheme has a
sustainable urban drainage system, as offered in the application. This must be maintained and
retained thereafter.
Reason:
To increase the biodiversity of the environment, as set out Policy 34 of the City Plan 2019 2040 (April 2021). (R43FC)

Page 99

Item No.
2

Informative(s):
1

In dealing with this application the City Council has implemented the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We have
made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021), neighbourhood plan (where relevant), supplementary planning documents, the
London Plan (March 2021), planning briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as
offering a full pre application advice service, in order to ensure that applicant has been given
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably. In
addition, where appropriate, further guidance was offered to the applicant at the validation
stage.

2

HIGHWAYS LICENSING:
Under the Highways Act 1980 you must get a licence from us before you put skips or
scaffolding on the road or pavement. It is an offence to break the conditions of that licence. You
may also have to send us a programme of work so that we can tell your neighbours the likely
timing of building activities. For more advice, please visit our website at
www.westminster.gov.uk/guide-temporary-structures.
CONSIDERATE CONSTRUCTORS:
You are encouraged to join the nationally recognised Considerate Constructors Scheme. This
commits those sites registered with the Scheme to be considerate and good neighbours, as
well as clean, respectful, safe, environmentally conscious, responsible and accountable. For
more information please contact the Considerate Constructors Scheme directly on 0800 783
1423, siteenquiries@ccscheme.org.uk or visit www.ccscheme.org.uk.
BUILDING REGULATIONS:
You are advised that the works are likely to require building regulations approval. Details in
relation to Westminster Building Control services can be found on our website at
www.westminster.gov.uk/contact-us-building-control

3

When carrying out building work you must take appropriate steps to reduce noise and prevent
nuisance from dust. The planning permission for the development may include specific
conditions relating to noise control, hours of work and consideration to minimising noise and
vibration from construction should be given at planning application stage. You may wish to
contact to our Environmental Sciences Team (email:
environmentalsciences2@westminster.gov.uk) to make sure that you meet all the requirements
before you draw up contracts for demolition and building work.
When a contractor is appointed they may also wish to make contact with the Environmental
Sciences Team before starting work. The contractor can formally apply for consent for prior
approval under Section 61, Control of Pollution Act 1974. Prior permission must be sought for
all noisy demolition and construction activities outside of core hours on all sites. If no prior
permission is sought where it is required the authority may serve a notice on the site/works
setting conditions of permitted work (Section 60, Control of Pollution Act 1974).
British Standard 5228:2014 'Code of practice for noise and vibration control on construction and

Page 100

Item No.
2

open sites' has been recognised by Statutory Order as the accepted guidance for noise control
during construction work.
An action in statutory nuisance can be brought by a member of the public even if the works are
being carried out in accordance with a prior approval or a notice.

4

The development for which planning permission has been granted has been identified as
potentially liable for payment of both the Mayor of London and Westminster City Council's
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Further details on both Community Infrastructure Levies,
including reliefs that may be available, can be found on the council's website at:
www.westminster.gov.uk/cil
Responsibility to pay the levy runs with the ownership of the land, unless another party has
assumed liability. If you have not already you must submit an Assumption of Liability
Form immediately. On receipt of this notice a CIL Liability Notice setting out the
estimated CIL charges will be issued by the council as soon as practicable, to the
landowner or the party that has assumed liability, with a copy to the planning applicant.
You must also notify the Council before commencing development using a
Commencement Form
CIL forms are available from the planning on the planning portal:
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil
Forms can be submitted to CIL@Westminster.gov.uk
Payment of the CIL charge is mandatory and there are strong enforcement powers and
penalties for failure to pay, including Stop Notices, surcharges, late payment
interest and prison terms.

5

You will need to re-apply for planning permission if another authority or council department asks
you to make changes that will affect the outside appearance of the building or the purpose it is
used for. (I23AA)

6

Conditions 10,11,12 control noise from the approved machinery. It is very important that you
meet the conditions and we may take legal action if you do not. You should make sure that the
machinery is properly maintained and serviced regularly. (I82AA)

7

The construction manager should keep residents and others informed about unavoidable
disturbance such as noise, dust and extended working hours, and disruption of traffic. Site
neighbours should be given clear information well in advance, preferably in writing, for example
by issuing regular bulletins about site progress.

Page 101

Item No.
2

Page 102

Agenda Item 3
Item No.
3

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

20 July 2021

For General Release

Report of
Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning

Ward(s) involved
Knightsbridge And Belgravia

Subject of Report

2 - 8 Rutland Gate, London, SW7 1AY

Proposal

Partial demolition of existing building; remodelling of fourth floor and
roof levels including openable glass roof; alterations to rear terraces at
ground and fourth floor level and creation of terrace at fifth floor level;
changes to fenestration; installation of plant machinery at basement,
lower-ground and main roof levels; excavation to extend basement level
2; and associated external alterations.

Agent

Richard Ward (DP9)

On behalf of

Vision Perfect Global Limited

Registered Number

21/01047/FULL

Date Application
Received

19 February 2021

Historic Building Grade

Unlisted

Conservation Area

Knightsbridge

1.

Date amended/
completed

3 March 2021

RECOMMENDATION

Grant conditional permission

2.

SUMMARY

The application site is located on the west side of Rutland Gate, with its main frontage onto
Kensington Road opposite Hyde Park. It lies within the Knightsbridge conservation area. Originally
four mid-nineteenth century townhouses, 4-8a were demolished in the 1930s with the current building
constructed in the 1980s to mimic the 1860s style.
In 2016, permission was granted for alterations and extensions in connection with the use of the
building as 13 self-contained residential flats. The permission was not implemented and in 2019 a
lawful development certificate was granted demonstrating that the entire property had been used as
a single family dwellinghouse for a period exceeding 4 years.
The current proposals involve the refurbishment and partial demolition of the building to allow the
remodelling of the facades and roofscape. A modern mansard is proposed with contemporary

Page 103

Item No.
3

features, including an openable glazed top with metal framing, integrated photovoltaic panels and a
section of green roof. Alterations are proposed to the ground and fourth floor terraces, along with the
creation of a new terrace at fifth floor level to the rear. The existing basement level will also be
extended. Associated works include the installation of plant machinery at basement and roof levels
and alterations to fenestration.
The key issues for consideration are;
-

The impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of the building and the
Knightsbridge Conservation Area;
The impact on the amenity of neighbouring residents;

The proposed development is considered to be acceptable and would accord with policies within
Westminster’s City Plan 2019 – 2040 (April 2021) and the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 2037 (December 2018).

Page 104

Item No.
3

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA
100019597

Page 105

Item No.
3

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

2 – 8 Rutland Gate

Page 106

Item No.
3

CONSULTATIONS
HISTORIC ENGLAND
• Do not wish to offer any comments.
HISTORIC ENGLAND (ARCHAEOLOGY):
• No archaeological requirement
KNIGHTSBRIDGE NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM:
Original Application
• The applicant has been an exemplar for community consultation and
engagement prior to submitting the application. The Forum encourages the early
approval of this application by Westminster, with full and appropriate conditions,
so that works can get underway and complete with minimum inconvenience for
neighbours.
• Westminster should refer to the latest adopted London Plan and the “intend to
adopt” version of the City Plan 2019-2040.
• Pleased that the initial outline Construction Management Plan (CMP) confirms
that the works will comply with the latest standards for Non-Road mobile
Machinery for the Central Activities Zone. The forum encourages the use of all
electric construction vehicles where possible. The outline construction plan
should be updated to refer to the most recent Westminster and London Plan
policies and any approval should include a condition requiring the final CMP be
approved by the Council. It is assumed that a Construction logistics group will be
established with approximately monthly meetings.
• Pleased that construction vehicle access will be limited to a pit lane north of the
building line and would support the temporary alteration of a small part of the
heritage wall to limit construction vehicle movements to this area.
• The Air Quality Assessment should comply with the requirements of the
designated Air Quality Focus Areas (2016) referred to in the London Plan and
City Plan. Forum pleased that all car parking spaces would be fitted with electric
charging points and wonders whether hot water heating could be undertaken by
electricity rather than gas heating and whether the applicant can minimise the
possible impact of future transport emissions and movements.
• Supports the proposals for greening and encourages the use of mixed species
that should be resilient to climate change, diseases and pests. Efforts to
maximise gain in valued native birds and non-pest insects would be appreciated.
• The Forum would support the replacement of the railings and heritage lights on
the boundary of the property with authentic-style heritage railings and lighting
consistent with the heritage character of the area.
• WCC may wish to reference a number of policies in the Knightsbridge
Neighbourhood Plan in any conditions.
• It should be noted that the basement excavation application for 20 Rutland Gate
(RN:21/01454/FULL) which should be requested or required to consult the
applicant for 2- 8 Rutland Gate (and vice versa) to minimise impact on the
community.

Page 107

Item No.
3

Revised Application
• Continue to support the application as amended.
• Whilst the forum would like to see the transport emissions reduced, the
applicant’s commitment to refurbishing, not demolishing the building, the “single
occupancy” use and the efforts proposed to move towards being a zero air
emission building is welcomed.
KNIGHTSBRIDGE ASSOCIATION:
Original Application
• The association has had excellent communication with the applicant’s agents,
and they have addressed points raised at meetings prior to submission of the
application.
• One point not previously commented on is that the design of the railings at
ground and first floor should be more in keeping with heritage railings elsewhere
e.g west side of the Upper Garden. Similarly lamps and railings on the boundary
wall should be similar to the heritage ones on the boundary wall of the Upper
Garden’s north side.
Revised Application
• The dormer windows will now be more typical in design and have been reduced
in width to single dormers.
• Provision of heritage style balustrades, railings and lamps is welcomed.
FRIENDS OF HYDE PARK AND KENSINGTON GARDENS:
• Support the application. The roof line remains lower than the neighbouring
buildings. The finish and redesign of the façade of the building does not impact
on the park.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH
• No objection on air quality or noise nuisance grounds subject to the Council’s
standard conditions.
• A condition is recommended to ensure that the applicant signs up to the Code of
Construction Practice.
• Informatives in relation to non-road mobile machinery and contaminated land
recommended.
HIGHWAYS PLANNING MANAGER
• No objection to loss of two off-street parking spaces
• The provision of four internal cycle parking spaces is acceptable.
• The Construction Management Plan is considered to be acceptable in highways
and transport terms.

TREE SECTION
• No objection. The tree report indicates that it should be possible to carry out the
development without harm to the horse chestnut at 10 Rutland Gate, which is
protected by virtue of being within the conservation area. Tree protection
measures should be secured by condition.
• The proposals involve the removal of a bay and false acacia, the loss of these

Page 108

Item No.
3

•
•

trees would not be sufficient reason to refuse the proposals.
Outline planting and green roof details have been submitted. More detail required
about the planting and soil volume, this should be secured by condition.
The applicant has committed to installing a rainwater harvesting system that will
supply recycled water for irrigation purposes. The commitment is welcomed and
this should be secured by condition.

PROJECT OFFICER (WASTE):
• No objection to the waste details submitted, a condition is recommended in order
to ensure the continued provision of this facility.
ADJOINING OWNERS/OCCUPIERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED
No. Consulted: 142
Total No. of replies: 3
No. of objections: 2
No. in support: 0
No. Neutral: 1
One neutral representation and two objections were received by nearby residential
occupiers on the following grounds:
DESIGN
• The impact on the immediate townscape as a result of the increase in height is
harmful and a reduction in the proposed height would address this concern. The
harm could be avoided by reducing the overall height of the proposal and
ensuring that the principal ridgeline should not exceed the height of the parapet
of the adjoining building.
• The design of the proposed roof and upper storey is overly assertive and out of
scale with the surroundings. The dormer window and upper storey design does
not appear to be fully resolved and the glazed dome roof will be an incongruous
and visually intrusive addition to the roofscape in private views from the
penthouse.
• The amendments to the design of the dormer windows are an improvement on
the previous proposal but remain unresolved in terms of their proportion, being
rather overtly tall and narrow.
• The current proposals are harmful to the historic townscape relationship and
would harm the heritage significance of nos. 1-7 Rutland Gate, which is listed
Grade II and the character and appearance of the Knightsbridge Conservation
Area.
• The height of the proposals significantly exceeds the height of the current
building and also significantly exceeds the height of the previously consented
planning application.
• Concern raised about the potential visual effects proposed glass dome at roof
level, especially at night in terms of light spill in longer distance views. The roof
would appear as a “halo” to the building and would draw further attention to the
roof structure which is not in-keeping with its historic context. No details of how
the area would be lit have been provided.

Page 109

Item No.
3

LAND USE
• Do not consider that the proposed increase in volume (around 20%) of the
existing building is justified. The proposed increase in height of the building by 5
meters at roof level is excessive and is not required or necessary to optimise
development density.
AMENITY
• The proposal will have an adverse impact upon the visual amenity of the
Penthouse at 1- 3 Rutland Gate by way of a material change in outlook and
sense of enclosure.
• Whilst the Sunlight and Daylight impact on the Penthouse may not be material,
there are evidently adverse impacts upon other flats in the building.
• The acoustic report does not appear to measure from 1-3 Princes Gate as a
noise sensitive property, request that additional testing is undertaken as part of
the application.
• No detail is provided in relation to the potential noise impact of the proposed air
source heat pumps and it is not clear where these terminate.
OTHER
• Further clarity on how the proposed green roof will be maintained should be
provided. If the green roof is not maintained it could have a harmful impact on
visual amenity. Conditions should be attached to ensure an appropriate design
and a regular maintenance programme.
• The building is only 40 years old and the proposed demolition does not appear to
represent a sustainable approach to the development of the existing building.
• Concern raised about construction traffic management. The traffic management
plan appears to be superficial and the location is complex from a traffic
management point of view.
• Concern raised about construction impact.
• A construction management plan and ground condition watching brief should be
secured by condition
• A camera surveillance system was erected in Rutland Gate by the applicant,
which was complained about by residents and allegedly did not have consent.
• The proposed height of the building has been calculated incorrectly. A
comparison between the existing and proposed situations should be taken from
the principal roof ridgeline and not the chimney pots: the proposals result in an
increase of 5m when compared to the existing building.

PRESS ADVERTISEMENT / SITE NOTICE:
Yes

Page 110

Item No.
3

5.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

5.1

The Application Site
The application site is located on the west side of Rutland Gate, with its main frontage
onto Kensington Road opposite Hyde Park. The building is not listed but falls within the
Knightsbridge conservation area and is within the immediate setting of numerous
designated heritage assets including the Royal Parks Conservation Area, Hyde Park (a
Grade I Registered Park and Garden) and grade II listed buildings within the vicinity. The
building maintains a close architectural relationship with 1-7 Rutland Gate, which is
grade II listed and together they bookend the entrance of Rutland Gate.
The building itself was originally four mid-nineteenth century townhouses, which were
demolished in the 1930s with the current building constructed in the 1980s to mimic the
1860s style. The current building consists of 5 floors above lower ground and two
basement levels, with terraces at ground and fourth floor levels and parking at basement
level 1.

5.2

Recent Relevant History
In 2016, conditional planning permission was granted for excavation to create a sub
basement level, erection of a single storey rear and side extension incorporating car lift,
remodelling of the fourth floor and fifth floor mansard roof storey, installation of plant
machinery and external alterations to the front, side and rear all in connection with the
use of the building as 13 self-contained residential flats (RN:16/01278/FULL). This
permission has now expired.
In 2019, a lawful development certificate was granted demonstrating that the property
had been used as a single family dwelling for a period exceeding 4 years
(RN:19/08028/CLEUD).

6.

THE PROPOSAL
Permission is sought to redevelop the existing single family dwelling which has fallen
into a state of disrepair. The application includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Partial demolition and refurbishment of the existing building, including the
wholesale demolition and rebuild of the third, fourth and fifth floors, with the
remodeling of the retained facades and new fenestration.
Remodelling of roofscape, with a modern mansard incorporating contemporary
features, including a predominantly glazed top with metal framing and integrated
photovoltaic panels and green roof (sections of which are retractable).
Extension of existing terrace at ground floor level and creation of terrace at fifth
floor level;
Provision of landscaping (biodiverse planting) at ground, fourth and fifth floor
levels;
Excavation to extend basement level 2;
Installation of three internal lifts and plant machinery at basement, lower-ground
and main roof levels.

Page 111

Item No.
3

Residential
(Class C3)

Existing
(sqm)

Proposed
(sqm)

Demolition
(sqm)

5,782

4,136

5,613

7.

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS

7.1

Land Use

New Build
Floorspace
(sqm)
3,967

Net
Floorspace
(sqm)
-169

Westminster City Plan 2019 – 2040 (April 2021) Policy 8 (Housing delivery) states that
the number of new homes built in Westminster will exceed 20,685 over the plan period
and that no new homes in Westminster will exceed 200 sqm Gross Internal Area (GIA),
except where it is necessary to protect a heritage asset.
The proposals involve a reduction in residential floorspace from 5,782 sqm to 4,136 sqm
(-169). As the lawful use of building is a single family dwelling and there is not a “new”
home being created, the 200 sqm restriction does not apply and the size of the home is
considered to be acceptable in this instance.
City Plan Policy 9 (Affordable Housing) states that there will be no net loss of affordable
housing across the city. All residential proposals will provide a minimum of 35% of the
total residential units as affordable housing on-site if they are proposing 1,000 sqm or
more residential floorspace (for sale or rent).
The proposals are for modifications to an existing family dwelling and affordable housing
therefore cannot be sought in this instance.

7.2

Townscape and Design
Legislation and Policy
The key legislative requirements in respect to designated heritage assets are as follows:
Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
that “In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works the local
planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic
interest which it possesses.”
Section 66 of the same Act requires that “In considering whether to grant planning
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local
planning authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.”

Page 112

Item No.
3

Section 72 of the same Act requires that “In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or
other land in a conservation area…special attention shall be paid to the desirability of
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.”
Chapters 12 and 16 of the NPPF require great weight be placed on design quality and
the preservation of designated heritage assets including their setting. Chapter 16 of the
NPPF clarifies that harmful proposals should only be approved where the harm caused
would be clearly outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme, taking into account
the statutory duty to have special regard or pay special attention, as relevant. This
should also take into account the relative significance of the affected asset and the
severity of the harm caused.
In chapter 16 at paragraph 193 the NPPF makes clear: “When considering the impact of
a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight
should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the
greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any harm amounts to
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.”
Paragraph 194 states: “Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage
asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should
require clear and convincing justification….”
Paragraph 196 states: “Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its
optimum viable use.”
Finally, paragraph 197 states: The effect of an application on the significance of a nondesignated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In
weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and
the significance of the heritage asset.
Within the newly adopted City Plan 2019-2040 (April 2021) there are a number of
relevant policies and some of the key ones are:
Policy 1 is Westminster’s spatial strategy and seeks to support intensification and
growth, while at the same time integrating with existing townscape and protecting the
city’s heritage assets.
Policy 38 which sets out design principles, requiring exemplary standards of high quality,
sustainable and inclusive urban design and architecture. Development should respond
to its context, place people at the heart of design to create inclusive places, incorporate
sustainable design and promote excellence in contemporary design.
Policy 39 relates to Westminster’s heritage and how it will be valued, and that
development should optimise the positive role of the historic environment. The policy
also seeks to preserve the setting of designated heritage assets, including listed
buildings and Registered Parks and Gardens and supports the conservation of nondesignated heritage assets. Parts B, I, K, Q and R, are of most relevance.

Page 113

Item No.
3

Policy 40 relates to townscape and architecture, requiring development to be sensitively
designed having regard to the surrounding townscape. Part F explains that new
development affecting strategic and local views will contribute positively to their
characteristics, composition, and significance.
Policy 43 relates to public realm and requiring development to contribute to well-design,
clutter-free public realm, integrating high-quality soft landscape as part the streetscape
design. The policy promotes inclusive and accessible public realm.
Within the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 -2037 (December 2018) there are a
number of relevant policies and some of the key ones are:
Policy KBR 1 relates to character, design and materials, requiring proposals for new
development or the redevelopment of existing buildings to contribute towards the local
distinctiveness of Knightsbridge. Demonstrating high quality, sustainable and inclusive
design and architecture that respects the relevant Character Area or Conservation Area.
Policy KBR 3 relates to boundary railings and walls and states that proposals for
development in Conservation Areas are encouraged to restore heritage features such as
railings, walls or columns in keeping with the area, particularly in terms of style, scale,
colour and materials.
Policy KBR 9 relates to roofscapes and balconies and requires that in new
developments, plant should be provided within basement levels or concealed within the
roof area or roof space of buildings.
Consideration
The current building exhibits some architectural oddities and is not strictly a facsimile of
an 1860s terrace, with poor detailing and contemporary features such as dormers. It
makes a modest positive contrition to the character and appearance of the Knightsbridge
conservation area.
The proposals include the partial demolition and refurbishment of the existing building,
including the wholesale demolition of the third, fourth and fifth floors, with fenestration
alterations and remodelling on the retained facades. The partial demolition of the
building, as opposed to its wholesale loss and redevelopment, would in partly
correspond with the City Council’s sustainability agenda.
An objection has been received on the grounds that the proposed increase in the height
of the building would be harmful to the historic townscape and would harm the heritage
significance of nos. 1-7 Rutland Gate, which is listed Grade II, and the character and
appearance of the Knightsbridge Conservation Area.
Rutland Gate and the Knightsbridge Conservation Area are characterised by the
dominance of traditional mid-late nineteenth century, stucco fronted villas and terraces.

Page 114

Item No.
3

The classical architectural approach taken to the remodelling of the facades responds
relatively positively the prevailing 1860s townscape of Rutland Gate, though its scale is
more akin to larger scale buildings which characterise Kensington Road. The site is a
transition point in scale, and the development has been modelled to reflect this.
The current building has a visual relationship with no. 1-7 Rutland Gate, which with the
site, bookends Rutland Gate at its eastern end. The proposals do present an increase in
height and bulk over the scheme approved in 2016. However, it is considered that the
height of the proposals corresponds to the general building height of the area and its
massing is not considered excessive in this context, particularly as read against the
neighbouring, taller buildings along Prince’s Gate and Kensington Road. In key
townscape views the proposals are compatible with the scale and character of the area,
and not felt to be visually dominant or harmful.
The fenestration details are however not entirely in-keeping with either 1-7 Rutland Gate,
or other neighbouring mid-nineteenth century terraces, which generally feature multi
pained traditionally proportioned sashes. The scheme features 1 over 1 sash windows
with uncharacteristic, raised meeting rails, which appear out of character. The
applicant’s reluctance to alter the fenestration details to address officer concerns is
unfortunate and weakens the scheme.
The objector has also raised concern about the proposed dormer windows and upper
storey design, stating that they do not appear to be fully resolved and that the glazed
dome roof will be an incongruous and visually intrusive addition to the roofscape in
private views and longer distance views from within Hyde Park, especially at night where
the roof would appear as a “halo” to the building.
The proposals include a remodelled roofscape, with a modern mansard incorporating
contemporary features, including a predominantly glazed top with metal framing, green
roof and integrated photovoltaic panels. Sections of which are retractable. The central
section of the roof is also sucken to contain plant, avoiding unsightly rooftop clutter.
During the application the dormers were revised to address officers’ concerns that they
were too assertive and failed to respond successfully to the classical proportions of the
facade. As a result, the previously proposed wide dormers have been replaced by
narrower more vertical dormers, changing the proportionality of the roofscape.
The glass top to the roof is unconventional and has the potential to be visually
conspicuous and prominent, particularly from within Hyde Park, which is a grade I
registered Park and Garden. Views from along Kensington Road and from within Hyde
Park have been assessed. The verified views would suggest that the glass top may be
glimpsed from the east, but not appreciably. It would also not appear apparent from
public vantage points from within the Park.
The proposals intend for internal lights at sixth floor level to be directed to provide
downward light, which will to some extent mitigate against some emission of light to

Page 115

Item No.
3

avoid a halo effect. A condition to secure further details of the light fittings, glare shields,
cowls and blinds at 6th floor level is suggested.
The proposals intend to reinstate traditional railings and lamps, details of which are
secured by condition to ensure they are appropriately detailed to maintain the character
and appearance of the streetscape.
Terraces and external landscaping proposals provide greening, which is welcome,
however the avoidance of visual clutter would be necessary to prevent a detrimental
impact on visual amenity, therefore a condition is suggested to restrict high-level
paraphernalia.
The proposals are considered acceptable from a townscape and design perspective,
mindful of policies 38, 39, 40 and 43 of the Westminster’s City Plan, and KBR1, KBR3
and KBR9 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan, and therefore, a recommendation
to grant conditional permission would be compliant with the requirements of the NPPF
and the statutory duties of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990.
In making this recommendation consideration has been had to the statutory duties
imposed by the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, notably
Sections 16, 66 and 72 and the requirements set out in Chapters 12 and 16 of the
NPPF.
7.3

Residential Amenity
City Plan Policy 7 (Managing development for Westminster's people) seeks to protect
and where appropriate enhance amenity, by preventing unacceptable impacts in terms
of daylight and sunlight, sense of enclosure, overshadowing, privacy and overlooking.
Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan Policy KBR 40 (Healthy People) states that the
design of development should ensure that public health is maintained and improved and
that development which is likely to have a significant adverse effect on human health will
be refused planning permission.
Sunlight and Daylight
A daylight and sunlight report has been submitted with the application to assess the
impact on nearby residential accommodation located to the west and south of the site,
along Princes Gate and Rutland Gate Respectively (1-3 Princes Gate, 10 Rutland Gate,
12 Rutland Gate, 14 Rutland Gate and 6 Rutland Gate).
Recommended standards for daylight and sunlight in residential accommodation are set
out in the Building Research Establishment (BRE) publication “Site layout planning for
daylight and sunlight” (second edition 2011). The applicant has undertaken a daylight
and sunlight assessment in accordance with the BRE guidelines.
With regard to daylight, Vertical Sky Component (VSC) is the most commonly used

Page 116

Item No.
3

method for calculating daylight levels and is a measure of the amount of sky visible from
the centre point of a window on its outside face. This method does not need to rely on
internal calculations, which means it is not necessary to gain access to all the affected
properties. If the VSC achieves 27% or more, then the BRE guide advises that the
windows have the potential to provide good levels of daylight. If however, the light
received by an affected window, with the new development in place, is both less than
27% and would be less than 0.8 of its former value (i.e. a loss of 20%) then the reduction
in light to that room will be noticeable. Where rooms are served by more than one
window of the same size, any loss of light to these individual windows can be considered
as an average.
The No-Sky Line (NSL) method has also been used, which measures the daylight
distribution within a room, calculating the area of working plane inside the room that has
a view of the sky. The BRE advises that a room may be adversely affected if the area of
the room beyond the NSL is less than 80% of its former value.
In terms of sunlight, the BRE guidelines state that if any window receives more than 25%
of the Annual probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) including at least 5% during the winter
months (21 September to 21 March) then the room should receive enough sunlight. The
BRE guide suggests that any reduction in sunlight beyond this level should be kept to a
minimum. If the proposed sunlight is below 25% (and 5% in winter) and the loss is
greater than 20% of the original sunlight hours either over the whole year or just in the
winter months and has a reduction in sunlight received over the whole year greater than
4% of APSH, then the occupants of the existing building will notice the loss of sunlight.
Windows are tested if they face 90 degrees of due south.
In terms of daylight, 178 of the 180 windows assessed would comply with BRE
guidelines for VSC (98.9%). The two windows that would experience a loss in VSC
slightly over 20% are both located at 1-3 Princess Gate:
Floor

Window

5

W18/
Fifth
W17/
Sixth

6

Room
Use
Bedroom

Existing
%
13.7

Proposed
%
10.2

Loss

Loss %

3.5

25.5

Bedroom

20.7

16.1

4.6

22.2

Both windows serve bedrooms, which are not considered to be main habitable rooms.
The losses only marginally breach BRE guidelines and it is not considered that the
application could reasonably be refused on this basis.
In terms of daylight distribution, 93 of the 97 rooms assessed would comply with BRE
guidelines for NSL (95.9%). The 4 windows that would experience a loss in NSL beyond
BRE guidelines are located at 1-3 Princess Gate:

Page 117

Item No.
3

Floor

Window

Room
Use
Kitchen

Existing %

4

W12/
Fourth

4

Loss sqm

Loss %

13.9

Proposed
%
11

0.5

21.2

5

W16/
Fourth
W12/ Fifth

Bedroom

36.3

29

1.3

20.1

Kitchen

40.4

24

3.0

40.5

5

W15/ Fifth

Bedroom

66. 2

51.2

2.0

22.7

The losses to windows W12/Fourth, W16/Fourth and W15/Fifth range from 20.1% to
22.7%, only slightly beyond the 20% parameter suggested as noticeable by the BRE
guidelines. Whilst window W12/fifth would experience a loss of 40.5%, an NSL value
which can be considered typical for a dense urban environment will be retained. This
room is also served by a further window which faces out into the lightwell and complies
with BRE guidelines. It is considered that the losses in NSL are acceptable.
In relation to sunlight, 112 of the 113 windows assessed for APSH will fully comply with
BRE guidelines. The window that would not meet the guidelines, W1/fifth, is located at 13 Princes Gate, which serves a bedroom on the fifth floor:
Floor

Window

Room
Use

Existing
Annual

Existing
Winter

Proposed
Annual

% loss
Annual

% Loss
Winter

28

Propos
ed
Winter
4

5

W1/fifth

35

7

5

W2/fifth

Bedro
om
Bedro
om

20

42.9

30

3

27

3

10

0

The window does not achieve BRE compliance due to a reduction in winter months,
however annually it will still achieve 28% which is in excess of the BRE recommended
25% parameter. The room is served by another window (W2/fifth) which is fully
compliant and the room as a whole will achieve BRE compliance.
Overall, the scheme demonstrates good levels of compliance with BRE guidelines in
terms of daylight and sunlight and given that the guidelines are to be interpreted flexibly
in appropriate circumstances, the proposals are considered acceptable in daylight and
sunlight terms.
Sense of Enclosure
A nearby residential occupier has objected to the proposals on the grounds that they will
have an adverse impact upon the visual amenity of the Penthouse flat at 1-3 Rutland
Gate by way of a material change in outlook and sense of enclosure.
An increase in sense of enclosure occurs where development would have an adverse
overbearing effect that would result in an unduly oppressive living environment.

Page 118

Item No.
3

The overall height of the building will increase from 41.68m to 46.48m (43.656m to
46.980m at highest point inc. chimneys). The proposed roof structure curves upwards
and away from the properties at 1-3 Rutland Gate. The highest part of the roof
immediately in front of the large double doors/windows serving an open plan
reception/living/dining area and terrace to this penthouse would be approx. 8.4m away
rising to a maximum height of approx. 3m above the floor level of the penthouse.
In order to reduce the impact of the new roof on the occupiers of the penthouse, the
section of roof opposite the windows will have no glass covering, only structure beams
over a roof garden below, in an attempt to improve visual amenity.
Whilst the new roof will be visible form the penthouse, given that the open plan
reception/living/dining area is served by a further 8 windows on the north elevation and 2
rooflights, it is considered that the application could not reasonably be refused on the
grounds of increased sense of enclosure or loss of outlook to this property.
Privacy and Noise
The proposals involve the creation of a roof terrace to the rear of the property at fifth
floor level measuring approx. 22.5sqm, given its size and position on the east of the
building away from the properties at 1-3 Rutland Gate, it is considered that the terrace
would not lead to unacceptable overlooking or loss of privacy over the existing situation.
The size of the existing terrace at first floor level will also be increased from appox. 70
sqm to appox.80.6 sqm, given the size of the increase and proposed landscaping, it is
unlikely to lead to a loss of privacy over the existing situation.
An openable rooflight measuring approx. 54.4sqm is proposed. The rooflight would be
located to the front of the property in the middle of the roof. Given the residential use of
the building, it is considered that the rooflight is unlikely to cause an unacceptable
amount of noise or loss of privacy to nearby properties.
The proposed alterations to the fenestration would not have a detrimental effect on the
amenity of neighbours in terms of overlooking.
Noise from plant machinery is dealt with below in section 8.7.
7.4

Transportation/Parking
London Plan Policy T6.1 (Residential parking) states that new residential development
should not exceed maximum parking standards.
City Plan Policy 27 (Parking) states that the parking standards in the London Plan will
apply to all developments. All new parking spaces should provide active provision for
electric charging vehicles. Where sites are redeveloped, existing parking provision must
be reduced to meet the parking standards in the London Plan unless there is site
specific justification to re-provide an element of the existing parking.
The site is located within the Central Activities Zone, where the maximum parking
standard for new residential development is car free. Given that the proposals are for the

Page 119

Item No.
3

refurbishment and extension of an existing family dwelling, not new residential
development, the reduction in parking spaces from 8 to 6 is welcomed. The spaces will
provide active provision for electric charging vehicles, which will be secured by condition.
The proposals include the provision of 4 cycle parking spaces at basement level, a
condition is recommended to secure this provision.
7.5

Economic Considerations
No economic considerations are applicable for a development of this size

7.6

Access
The main pedestrian access to the property will remain on the north elevation of the
building. A level access route will be provided on the east elevation of the building,
differences in level will be overcome by shallow ramps within the building. Internally, two
passenger lifts will provide the primary means of access through the building, with level
access provided throughout.
The entrance to the basement level car park will remain on the east elevation of the
building (ramp extended to reduce gradient within building). A service and delivery
entrance will be retained adjacent to the car park ramp, which would also provide access
to the existing UKPN station at basement level.

7.7

Other UDP/Westminster Policy Considerations
Energy Strategy
Policy SI 2 (Minimising greenhouse gas emissions) states that major development
should be net zero-carbon and that a minimum on-site reduction of at least 35 per cent
beyond Building Regulations is required. Residential development should achieve 10 per
cent through energy efficiency measures. This means reducing greenhouse gas
emissions in operation and minimising both annual and peak energy demand in
accordance with the following energy hierarchy:
1. Be Lean – use less energy and manage demand during operation;
2. Be Clean – exploit local energy resources (such as secondary heat) and supply
energy efficiently and cleanly;
3. Be Green - maximise opportunities for renewable energy by producing, storing and
using renewable energy on-site;
4. Be Seen - monitor, verify and report on energy performance.
City Plan Policy 36 (Energy) states that the council promote zero carbon development
and expects all development to reduce on-site energy demand and maximise the use of
low carbon energy sources to minimise the effects of climate change.

Page 120

Item No.
3

City Plan Policy 38 (Design principles) states that development will enable the extended
lifetime of buildings and spaces and respond to the likely risks and consequences of
climate change by incorporating principles of sustainable design. Residential
conversions and extensions of 500 sqm (GIA) of residential floorspace will aim to
achieve “Excellent” in BREEAM domestic refurbishment or equivalent standard.

The submitted Sustainability and Energy Statement states that the applicant is
committed to reducing C02 emissions through fabric improvements and new highly
efficient building services equipment. A number of measures are proposed to reduce
energy use through on-site renewable energy technologies including Air Source Heat
Pumps (ASHP) providing heating/cooling and a Solar Photovoltaic Roof Glazing System
installed at main roof level.
The measures the applicant proposes would exceed the 10% reduction required to be
achieved through energy efficiency measures (33%) and the minimum on-site reduction.
The proposed measures are welcomed and will be secured by condition. The measures
the applicant proposes would meet the requirement for an on-site reduction of at least
35% baseline of part L of the current Building regulations and so is acceptable in this
respect. The proposed measures are welcomed and will be secured by condition.
The applicant has provided a BREEM pre-assessment which confirms that the proposals
have the potential to achieve a rating of “Excellent”. It is recommended that this be
secured by condition.
A nearby residential occupier has raised concern that the proposed demolition does not
appear to represent a sustainable approach to the development of the building. The
applicant has provided an addendum to the Sustainability and Energy Statement which
states that the following approaches will be adopted to reduce the embodied carbon of
the demolition:
-A pre-demolition audit to identify and categorise the demolition materials into dedicated
waste streams to assist in the waste management strategy;
-Waste management strategy will be based on the principles of a Circular Economy and
the DEFRA 2011 Waste Hierarchy to ensure that reuse, recycling and recovery
opportunities are optimised. It is expected that at least 90% of the non-hazardous
demolition materials will be recycled and therefore diverted from landfill/incineration
-The demolition contractor will be encouraged to adopt best practice in terms of onsite
energy use and vehicle journeys to minimise carbon associated with the demolition
process.
The proposals will also lead to a reduction in carbon emissions when compared to the
existing building due to fabric improvements. Accordingly, the partial demolition of the
building is considered to be acceptable.
Measures to prevent the overheating of the heavily glazed roof storey have been
incorporated such as low solar transmittance glazing, a PV integrated glazing system,
openable roof panels to enable natural and cross ventilation and bespoke blinds.
Air Quality

Page 121

Item No.
3

City Plan Policy 32 (Air Quality) states that Major developments should be at least Air
Quality Neutral and that Air Quality Assessments will be required.
Policy KBR34 (Healthy Air) states that all development must aim to be at least “air
quality neutral” and not cause or contribute to worsening air quality. On major
development this should be demonstrated through an air quality assessment and, if
necessary, proposed mitigation measures.
The applicant has submitted an Air Quality Assessment. The report demonstrates that
during the operational phase of the development the overall effect on air quality will be
“not significant”.
The assessment of the impact of the construction phase concludes that with site specific
mitigation measures in place, the significance of dust effects from demolition,
earthworks, construction and trackout are considered to be “not significant”. As a major
development, the site will have to comply with the Council’s Code of Construction
Practice and a site-specific Site Environmental Management Plan will be required and
agreed with the council prior to starting works.
The Air Quality Neutral Assessment shows that the development will not be air quality
neutral with respect to transport emissions. However, there is to be a reduction in car
parking spaces (from 8 to 6) and the remaining spaces will all benefit from electric
vehicle charging points. This is considered to be acceptable mitigation and accordingly
Environmental Health have raised no objection on air quality grounds.
Biodiversity and Trees
City Plan Policy 34 (Green Infrastructure) states that developments will, wherever
possible, contribute to the greening of Westminster by incorporating trees, green walls,
green roofs, rain gardens and other green features and spaces into the design of the
scheme. Developments should achieve biodiversity net gain, wherever feasible and
appropriate.
The proposals include the creation of a green roof at main roof level and the introduction
of biodiverse planting to the entrance of the building and the terraces at ground, fourth
and fifth floor levels. The applicant states that the final selection of plant species will
seek to include species from the London Biodiversity Action Plan plant species list
including those of value for nectaring or foraging invertebrates, to enhance the site for
birds. A condition is recommended to ensure that further details of the planting and
maintenance are provided.
The applicant has committed to installing a rainwater harvesting system that will supply
recycled water for irrigation purposes. The commitment is welcomed and a condition is
recommended to secure this.
The submitted tree report indicates that it should be possible to carry out the
development without harm to the horse chestnut tree at 10 Rutland Gate, which is
protected by virtue of being in a conservation area. The Council’s arboricultural officer
raises no objection subject to a condition to secure tree protection measures.

Page 122

Item No.
3

Plant Machinery
The proposals involve the installation of plant machinery at lower-ground, basement and
roof level.
City Plan Policy 33 (Local environmental impacts) states that development should
prevent adverse effects of noise and vibration and improve the noise environment in
compliance with the council's noise thresholds.
A nearby residential occupier has objected on the grounds that the submitted acoustic
report does not include all necessary information relating to noise sensitive properties
and the impact of the proposed plant machinery. Environmental Health have reviewed
the submitted information and have raised no objection to the proposals on noise and
nuisance grounds, subject to the Council’s standard noise and vibration conditions.
7.8

Westminster City Plan
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 was adopted at Full Council on 21 April 2021. Therefore, in
accordance with s.38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, it comprises
the development plan for Westminster in combination with the London Plan adopted in
March 2021 and, where relevant, neighbourhood plans covering specific parts of the city
(see further details in Section 8.9). As set out in s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 and paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the application must be determined
in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

7.9

Neighbourhood Plans
The Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan includes policies on a range of matters including
character, heritage, community uses, retail, offices, housing, cultural uses, transport and
the environment. It has been through independent examination and supported at
referendum on 18 October 2018 and therefore now forms part of Westminster’s statutory
development plan. It will be used alongside the council’s own planning documents and
the Mayor’s London Plan in determining planning applications in the Knightsbridge
Neighbourhood Area. Where any matters relevant to the application subject of this report
are directly affected by the policies contained within the neighbourhood plan, these are
discussed elsewhere in this report.

7.10

London Plan
This application raises no strategic issues.

7.11

National Policy/Guidance Considerations
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) policies referred to in the consideration of this
application are considered to be consistent with the NPPF 2019 unless stated otherwise.
Further to the Town and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations
2018, the City Council cannot impose a pre-commencement condition (a condition which
must be discharged before works can start on site) on a planning permission without the

Page 123

Item No.
3

written agreement of the applicant, unless the applicant fails to provide a substantive
response within a 10 day period following notification of the proposed condition, the
reason for the condition and justification for the condition by the City Council.
During the course of this application a notice was served relating to the proposed
imposition of pre-commencement conditions to secure the applicant’s adherence to the
City Council’s Code of Construction Practice and approval of a method statement
explaining the measures they will take to protect the trees on and close to the site. The
applicant has agreed to the imposition of the conditions.

7.12

Planning Obligations
Planning obligations are not relevant in the determination of this application.
The estimated CIL payment is:

7.13

Mayoral CIL: £101,716
Westminster CIL: £854,700
Total: £956,416

Environmental Impact Assessment
This application is not of a sufficient scale to require an Environmental Impact
Assessment. The environmental impact of the development has been assessed in
section 7.7 of this report.

7.14

Other Issues
Basement and Construction Impact
The proposals involve the extension of the existing basement level by 166 sqm,
underneath the existing building. City Plan Policy 45 relates to basement developments.
Part A. 1-4
These parts of the policy relate to structural stability; surface water and sewerage
flooding; minimising the impact at construction and occupation stages; protecting
heritage assets and conserving the appearance of the of the appearance of the existing
building, garden setting and the surrounding area.
The applicant has provided a flood risk assessment and an assessment of existing
structures and geology for this site, which have informed the structural methodology
statement prepared by an appropriately qualified structural engineer. These documents
have been reviewed by Building Control who advise that the structural methodology
proposed is appropriate for the ground conditions that are likely to be on this site and the
likelihood of local flooding or adverse effects on the water table has been found
negligible. The basement is to be constructed using piles which is considered to be
appropriate for this site, as are the proposals to safeguard adjacent properties during
construction. Accordingly, it is considered that as far is reasonable and practicable at
this stage, the applicant has satisfactorily investigated the site and surmised the likely
existing ground conditions and provided a suitable structural methodology report in light
of it.

Page 124

Item No.
3

The purpose of the structural methodology report at the planning application stage is to
demonstrate that a subterranean development can be constructed on the particular site
having regard to the existing structural conditions and geology. It does not prescribe the
engineering techniques that must be used during construction which may need to be
altered once the excavation has occurred. The structural integrity of the development
during the construction is not controlled through the planning system but through
Building Regulations and the Party Wall Act. Therefore, we are not approving this report
or conditioning that the works shall necessarily be carried out in accordance with the
report. Its purpose is to show, with professional duty of care, that there is no reasonable
impediment foreseeable at this stage to the scheme satisfying the Building Regulations
in due course. This report will be attached for information purposes to the draft decision
letter.
Nearby residential occupiers have objected on construction impact grounds (including
construction traffic) and the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Forum have requested a
condition requiring a final construction management plan is provided and construction
logistics group formed.
Policy KBR22 of the KNP states that proposals should be designed in a way that
minimises their impacts on amenity, public health and the environment through dust and
emissions, light pollution, noise and vibration during deconstruction and construction.
Appropriate mitigation for such impacts will be sought through the use of planning
conditions, Construction Management Plans or section 106 agreements.
The City Council adopted its Code of Construction Practice (CoCP) at the end of July
2016 and if permission is granted the applicants will be required to comply with the
CoCP. This is a fundamental shift in the way the construction impacts of developments
are dealt with relative to the position prior to July 2016. Previously conditions were
attached to planning permissions requiring Construction Management Plans to help
protect the amenity of neighbours during construction. The CoCP expressly seeks to
move away from enforcement via the planning system. It recognises that there is a
range of regulatory measures available to deal with construction impacts, and that
planning is the least effective and most cumbersome of these. The Environmental
Inspectorate has been resourced in both numbers and expertise to take complete control
over the monitoring of construction impacts.
A condition is recommended requiring evidence to be submitted of compliance with the
CoCP. This must be submitted before work starts on site, subject to which the proposals
are considered acceptable. This condition is consistent with environmental protection
legislation and will help to alleviate disturbance to neighbours. An informative is also
recommended to encourage the applicant to join the considerate constructors scheme.
Historic England (Archaeology) have considered the proposals with reference to
information held in the Greater London Historic Environment Record and have
concluded that the proposals are unlikely to have a significant effect on heritage assets
of archaeological interest and that no further assessment or conditions are required.
The proposed basement extension would have no external manifestations and would not
impact on the character and appearance of the existing building or surrounding area.

Page 125

Item No.
3

Part B 1-5
These parts of the policy relate to the extent and depth of basements. The proposed
basement would extend the existing sub-basement level and would be fully contained
underneath the existing building, in compliance with Part B 1-5.
Overall, the proposed basement is considered to comply with City Plan Policy 45 and
KNP Policy KBR22.
(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: IAN CORRIE BY EMAIL AT icorrie@westminster.gov.uk

Page 126

Item No.
3

8.

KEY DRAWINGS
Existing North Elevation

Proposed North Elevation

Page 127

Item No.
3

Existing South Elevation

Proposed South Elevation

Page 128

Item No.
3

Existing East Elevation

Proposed East Elevation

Page 129

Item No.
3

Existing Section AA

Proposed Section AA

Page 130

Item No.
3

Existing Basement Level 2

Proposed Basement Level 2

Page 131

Item No.
3

Proposed Basement Level 1

Proposed Basement Level 1

Page 132

Item No.
3

Existing Lower Ground Floor Level

Proposed Lower Ground Floor Level

Page 133

Item No.
3

Existing Ground Floor Level

Proposed Ground Floor Level

Page 134

Item No.
3

Existing First Floor Level

Proposed First Floor Level

Page 135

Item No.
3

Existing Second Floor Level

Proposed Second Floor Level

Page 136

Item No.
3

Existing Third Floor level

Proposed Third Floor Level

Page 137

Item No.
3

Existing Fourth Floor Level

Proposed Fourth Floor Level

Page 138

Item No.
3

Existing Fifth Floor Level

Proposed Fifth Floor Level

Page 139

Item No.
3

Existing Roof Level

Proposed Roof Level

Page 140

Item No.
3

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

2 - 8 Rutland Gate, London, SW7 1AY

Proposal:

Partial demolition of existing building; remodeling of fourth floor and roof levels
including openable glass roof; alterations to rear terraces at ground and fourth floor
level and creation of terrace at fifth floor level; changes to fenestration; installation of
plant machinery at basement, lower-ground and main roof levels; excavation to
extend basement level 2; and associated external alterations.

Reference:

21/01047/FULL

Plan Nos:

RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL251 Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-RF-DR-A-PL051 Rev.
P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL200 Rev. P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-B2-DR-A-PL201 Rev.
P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-B1-DR-A-PL202 Rev. P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-LG-DR-A-PL203
Rev. P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-00-DR-A-PL204 Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-01-DR-A-PL205
Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-02-DR-A-PL206 Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-03-DR-A-PL207
Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-04-DR-A-PL208 Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-05-DR-A-PL209
Rev. P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-RF-DR-A-PL210 Rev. P3; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-APL221 Rev. P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL222 Rev. P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DRA-PL223 Rev. P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL224 Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZDR-A-PL231 Rev. P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL232 Rev. P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZLG-DR-A-PL281 Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-LG-DR-A-PL282 Rev. P3; RUTG-SQPZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL301 Rev. P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL302 Rev. P2; RUTGSQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL303 Rev. P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL304 Rev. P2;
RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL305 Rev. P2; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-B2-DR-A-PL101 Rev. P1;
RUTG-SQP-ZZ-B1-DR-A-PL102 Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-LG-DR-A-PL103 Rev.
P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-00-DR-A-PL104 Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-01-DR-A-PL105 Rev.
P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-02-DR-A-PL106 Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-03-DR-A-PL107 Rev.
P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-04-DR-A-PL108 Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-05-DR-A-PL109 Rev.
P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL110 Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL121 Rev.
P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL122 Rev. P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL123 Rev.
P1; RUTG-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL124 Rev. P1; External Noise Assessment dated 19
February 2021; Sustainability & Energy Statement dated 17 February 2021;
Sustainability & Energy Statement Addendum dated June 2021: Landscape Design
& Access Statement dated February 2021; External Noise Assessment dated 19
February 2021.
For Information:
Planning Statement dated February 2021; Design and Access Statement dated
February 2021; Draft Construction Management Plan dated February 2021;
Statement of Community Involvement dated February 2021; Arboricultural Report:
Tree Management Plan and Species Selection dated 9 February 2021; Air Quality
Assessment dated February 2021; Ecological Advice Note dated February 2021;
Structural Methodology Statement dated February 2021; Flood Risk Assessment
and Drainage Report dated February 2021; Daylight and Sunlight Assessment
dated 18 February 2021; Heritage Statement dated February 2021; Ground
Movement Assessment - Existing Buildings dated February 2021; Crime Prevention
Statement dated 17 February 2021; Ground Investigation Report dated December

Page 141

Item No.
3

2020; Transport Statement dated 16 February 2021; BREAM Pre-Assessment
dated 12 May 2021; Arboricultural Report for Planning Purposes dated June 2021;
Assessment of Residential Amenity Impact on the Penthouse dated 10 May 2021;
Design and Access Statement Post Submission Addendum dated May 2021;
Revised Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment dated May 2021; Letter from
GIA dated 2 February 2021; Revised Air Quality Assessment dated 12 May 2021;
Appendix A – Checklists.

Case Officer:

Ian Corrie

Direct Tel. No.

07866038370

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s)

1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings and
other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved subsequently by the
City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

Except for piling, excavation and demolition work, you must carry out any building work which
can be heard at the boundary of the site only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday;
o
between 08.00 and 13.00 on Saturday; and ,
o
not at all on Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
You must carry out piling, excavation and demolition work only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday; and
o
not at all on Saturdays, Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
Noisy work must not take place outside these hours unless otherwise agreed through a Control
of Pollution Act 1974 section 61 prior consent in special circumstances (for example, to meet
police traffic restrictions, in an emergency or in the interests of public safety). (C11AB)
Reason:
To protect the environment of neighbouring occupiers. This is as set out in Policies 7 and 33 of
the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and KBR22 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan
2018 - 2037 (December 2018).

3

You must apply to us for approval of samples (photos) of the facing materials you will use,
including glazing, and elevations and roof plans annotated to show where the materials are to
be located. You must not start work on the relevant part of the development until we have
approved in writing what you have sent us. You must then carry out the work using the
approved materials. (C26BD)

Page 142

Item No.
3

Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Knightsbridge Conservation Area. This is as set
out in Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and KBR1 and KBR9 of
the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December 2018).

4

You must apply to us for approval of details of the following parts of the development:
i)
New windows, elevations, and sections (scaled 1:10);
ii)
Dormer windows, elevation and sections showing frames (Scaled 1:10);
iii)
Detailed drawings of the new railings and lamps;
iv)
Detailed drawings of the new balustrades
v)
Details of the new metal handrail (5th floor level)
vi)
Details of the design and finish of the light-well grills
vii) Detailed drawings, including sections of the glass roof
viii) Material samples for the new roof, including slate, glass and details of the photovoltaic
panels
You must not start any work on these parts of the development until we have approved what
you have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to these details (C26DB)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Knightsbridge Conservation Area. This is as set
out in Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and KBR1,KBR3 and
KBR9 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December 2018).

5

You must apply to us for approval of details of the following parts of the development:
- light fittings, glare shields, cowls and blinds at 6th floor level.
You must not start any work on these parts of the development until we have approved what
you have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to these details (C26DB)
Reason:
To protect the privacy and environment of people in neighbouring properties and make sure
that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the character and
appearance of this part of the Knightsbridge Conservation Area. This is as set out in Policies
7, 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and KBR1, KBR9 and KBR40 of the
Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December 2018).

6

You must not put structures such as canopies, fences, loggias, trellises or satellite or radio
antennae on the roof terrace. (C26NA)

Page 143

Item No.
3

Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Knightsbridge Conservation Area. This is as set
out in Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and KBR9 of the
Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December 2018).

7

Pre Commencement Condition. Prior to the commencement of any:(a) demolition, and/or, (b)
earthworks/piling and/or, (c) construction , , on site you must apply to us for our written
approval of evidence to demonstrate that any implementation of the scheme hereby approved,
by the applicant or any other party, will be bound by the council's Code of Construction
Practice. Such evidence must take the form of the relevant completed Appendix A checklist
from the Code of Construction Practice, signed by the applicant and approved by the Council's
Environmental Sciences Team, which constitutes an agreement to comply with the Code of
Construction Practice and requirements contained therein. Commencement of the relevant
stage of demolition, earthworks/piling or construction cannot take place until the City Council
as local planning authority has issued its written approval through submission of details prior to
each stage of commencement. (C11CD)
Reason:
To protect the environment of neighbouring occupiers. This is as set out in Policies 7 and 33 of
the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and KBR22 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan
2018 - 2037 (December 2018).

8

(1) Where noise emitted from the proposed plant and machinery will not contain tones or will
not be intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the plant and machinery
(including non-emergency auxiliary plant and generators) hereby permitted, when operating at
its noisiest, shall not at any time exceed a value of 10 dB below the minimum external
background noise, at a point 1 metre outside any window of any residential and other noise
sensitive property, unless and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved in writing by the
City Council. The background level should be expressed in terms of the lowest LA90, 15 mins
during the proposed hours of operation. The plant-specific noise level should be expressed as
LAeqTm, and shall be representative of the plant operating at its maximum.
(2) Where noise emitted from the proposed plant and machinery will contain tones or will be
intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the plant and machinery (including
non-emergency auxiliary plant and generators) hereby permitted, when operating at its
noisiest, shall not at any time exceed a value of 15 dB below the minimum external
background noise, at a point 1 metre outside any window of any residential and other noise
sensitive property, unless and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved in writing by the
City Council. The background level should be expressed in terms of the lowest LA90, 15 mins
during the proposed hours of operation. The plant-specific noise level should be expressed as
LAeqTm, and shall be representative of the plant operating at its maximum.
(3) Following installation of the plant and equipment, you may apply in writing to the City
Council for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved. This is to be done by submitting a
further noise report confirming previous details and subsequent measurement data of the
installed plant, including a proposed fixed noise level for written approval by the City Council.

Page 144

Item No.
3

Your submission of a noise report must include:
(a) A schedule of all plant and equipment that formed part of this application;
(b) Locations of the plant and machinery and associated: ducting; attenuation and damping
equipment;
(c) Manufacturer specifications of sound emissions in octave or third octave detail;
(d) The location of most affected noise sensitive receptor location and the most affected
window of it;
(e) Distances between plant & equipment and receptor location/s and any mitigating features
that may attenuate the sound level received at the most affected receptor location;
(f) Measurements of existing LA90, 15 mins levels recorded one metre outside and in front of
the window referred to in (d) above (or a suitable representative position), at times when
background noise is at its lowest during hours when the plant and equipment will operate. This
acoustic survey to be conducted in conformity to BS 7445 in respect of measurement
methodology and procedures;
(g) The lowest existing LA90, 15 mins measurement recorded under (f) above;
(h) Measurement evidence and any calculations demonstrating that plant and equipment
complies with the planning condition;, (i) The proposed maximum noise level to be emitted by
the plant and equipment. (C46AC)
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and as set out
in Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021), KBR40 of the Knightsbridge
Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December 2018) and the draft Noise Technical Guidance
Note (November 2019), so that the noise environment of people in noise sensitive receptors is
protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive sounds, and by contributing to
reducing excessive ambient noise levels. Part (3) is included so that applicants may ask
subsequently for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved in case ambient noise levels
reduce at any time after implementation of the planning permission. (R46AC)

9

No vibration shall be transmitted to adjoining or other premises and structures through the
building structure and fabric of this development as to cause a vibration dose value of greater
than 0.4m/s (1.75) 16 hour day-time nor 0.2m/s (1.75) 8 hour night-time as defined by BS 6472
(2008) in any part of a residential and other noise sensitive property. (C48AB)
Reason:
To ensure that the development is designed to prevent structural transmission of noise or
vibration and to prevent adverse effects as a result of vibration on the noise environment in
accordance with Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021), KBR40 of the
Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December 2018) and the draft Noise
Technical Guidance Note (November 2019). (R48AB)

10

The emergency plant and generators hereby approved shall only be used for the purpose of
public safety and life critical systems and shall not be used for backup equipment for
commercial uses such as Short Term Operating Reserve (STOR). The emergency plant and
generators shall be operated at all times in accordance with the following criteria:
(1) Noise emitted from the emergency plant and generators hereby permitted shall not

Page 145

Item No.
3

increase the minimum assessed background noise level (expressed as the LA90, 15 mins over
the testing period) by more than 10 dB one metre outside any premises.
(2) The emergency plant and generators hereby permitted may be operated only for essential
testing, except when required in an emergency situation.
(3) Testing of emergency plant and generators hereby permitted may be carried out only for up
to one hour in a calendar month, and only during the hours 09.00 to 17.00 hrs Monday to
Friday and not at all on public holidays. (C50AC)
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and as set out
in Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021), KBR40 of the Knightsbridge
Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December 2018) and the draft Noise Technical Guidance
Note (November 2019), so that the noise environment of people in noise sensitive receptors is
protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive sounds, and by contributing to
reducing excessive ambient noise levels. Part (3) is included so that applicants may ask
subsequently for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved in case ambient noise levels
reduce at any time after implementation of the planning permission. (R46AC)

11

The design and structure of the development shall be of such a standard that it will protect
residents within the same building or in adjoining buildings from noise and vibration from the
development, so that they are not exposed to noise levels indoors of more than 35 dB LAeq 16
hrs daytime and of more than 30 dB LAeq 8 hrs in bedrooms at night. Inside bedrooms 45 dB
L Amax is not to be exceeded more than 15 times per night-time from sources other than
emergency sirens. (C49BB)
Reason:
To ensure that design, structure and acoustic insulation of the development will provide
sufficient protection for residents of the development from the intrusion of external noise as set
Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021), KBR40 of the Knightsbridge
Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December 2018) and the draft Noise Technical Guidance
Note (November 2019). (R49AB)

12

Before anyone moves into the property, you must provide the separate stores for waste and
materials for recycling shown on drawing number RUTG-SQP-ZZ-LG-DR-A-PL282 Rev. P3
prior to occupation and thereafter you must permanently retain them for the storage of waste
and recycling. You must clearly mark them and make them available at all times to everyone
using the building. (C14FC)
Reason:
To protect the environment and provide suitable storage for waste and materials for recycling
as set out in Policies 7 and 37 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and KBR21 of the
Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 -2037 (December 2018). (R14CD)

13

You must provide each cycle parking space shown on the approved drawings prior to

Page 146

Item No.
3

occupation of the development. Thereafter the cycle spaces must be retained and the space
used for no other purpose. (C22FC)
Reason:
To provide cycle parking spaces for people using the development in accordance with Policy
25 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and KBR27 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood
Plan 2018 - 2037 (December 2018 (R22FB)

14

You must provide six Electric Vehicle Charging Points at basement level 1 before you start to
use any part of the development. You must then retain the Electric Charging Points in working
order.
Reason:
To make sure that the development provides infrastructure for electric charging vehicles and
reduces transport emissions as set out in Policy 27 and 32 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April
2021) and KBR27 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December 2018).
(R22AC)

15

You must provide, maintain and retain the following bio-diversity features before you start to
use any part of the development, as set out in your application:
-Green Roof;
-Landscaping (biodiverse planting) at ground, fourth and fifth floor levels.
You must not remove any of these features. (C43FA)
Reason:
To increase the biodiversity of the environment, as set out Policy 34 of the City Plan 2019 2040 (April 2021) and KBR37 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037
(December 2018) . (R43FC)

16

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings and a bio-diversity management plan in
relation to the Green Roof and landscaping (biodiverse planting) at ground, fourth and fifth
floor levels to include construction method, layout, species and maintenance regime.
You must not commence works on the relevant part of the development until we have
approved what you have sent us. You must carry out this work according to the approved
details and thereafter retain and maintain in accordance with the approved management plan.
(C43GA)
Reason:
To increase the biodiversity of the environment, as set out Policy 34 of the City Plan 2019 2040 (April 2021) and KBR37 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037
(December 2018) . (R43FC)

Page 147

Item No.
3

17

You must apply to us for approval of details of the depth and area and overall volume of the
new soils on the ground floor roof terrace, including details of the drainage layer and other
components, the soil specification and profile, and the way that the proposed areas of soil will
be connected. You must not start any work on this part of the proposals until we have
approved what you have sent to us. You must then carry out the work according to the
approved details.
Reason:
To improve the appearance of the development and its contribution to biodiversity and the
local environment, as set out in Policies 34 and 45 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021)
and KBR37 and KBR38 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December
2018). (R30DB)

18

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings of a hard and soft landscaping scheme
which includes the number, size, species and position of trees and shrubs. You must not start
work on the relevant part of the development until we have approved in writing what you have
sent us. You must then carry out the landscaping and planting within 1 planting season of
completing the development (or within any other time limit we agree to in writing). If you
remove any trees that are part of the planting scheme that we approve, or find that they are
dying, severely damaged or diseased within 3 years of planting them, you must replace them
with trees of a similar size and species. (C30CC)
Reason:
To improve the appearance of the development and its contribution to biodiversity and the
local environment, as set out in Policy 34 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and KBR37
and KBR38 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December 2018).

19

Pre Commencement Condition. You must apply to us for approval of a method statement
explaining the measures you will take to protect the trees on and close to the site. You must
not start any demolition, site clearance or building work, and you must not take any equipment,
machinery or materials for the development onto the site, until we have approved in writing
what you have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to the approved details.
(C31CC)
Reason:
To make sure that the trees on the site are adequately protected during building works. This is
as set out in Policies 34 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and KBR38 of the
Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December 2018). (R31AD)

20

You must provide the following environmental sustainability features (environmentally friendly
features) before you start to use any part of the development, as set out in your application,
which include:

Page 148

Item No.
3

-Air Source Heat Pumps
-Solar Photovoltaic Roof Glazing System,
You must not remove any of these features, unless we have given you our permission in
writing. (C44AA)
Reason:
To make sure that the development provides the environmental sustainability features included
in your application as set out in Policies 36 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021)
and KBR35 and KBR36 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037 (December
2018. (R44AD)

21

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings (including specifications) showing
provision of rainwater harvesting system.
You must not occupy the property or start work on this part of the development until we have
approved what you have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to these details
and thereafter retain the rainwater harvesting system in working order.
Reason:
To make sure that the development provides adequate environmental sustainability features
and minimises water consumption as set out in Policies 36 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021) and KBR35 and KBR39 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2037
(December 2018).

22

The development shall achieve a BREEAM rating of 'Excellent' or any such national measure
of sustainability that replaces that scheme of the same standard.
A post construction certificate confirming this standard under BREEAM has been achieved
must be issued by the Building Research Establishment, and submitted for approval by the
Local Planning Authority within 6 months of completion on site.
Reason:
To make sure that the development affects the environment as little as possible, as set out in
Policies 36 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 – 2040 (April 2021) and KBR35 and KBR36 of the
Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan. (R44BD)

Informative(s):

1

In dealing with this application the City Council has implemented the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We have

Page 149

Item No.
3

made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021), neighbourhood plan (where relevant), supplementary planning documents, the
London Plan (March 2021), planning briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as
offering a full pre application advice service, in order to ensure that applicant has been given
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably. In
addition, where appropriate, further guidance was offered to the applicant at the validation
stage.

2

HIGHWAYS LICENSING:, Under the Highways Act 1980 you must get a licence from us before
you put skips or scaffolding on the road or pavement. It is an offence to break the conditions of
that licence. You may also have to send us a programme of work so that we can tell your
neighbours the likely timing of building activities. For more advice, please visit our website at
www.westminster.gov.uk/guide-temporary-structures.
CONSIDERATE CONSTRUCTORS: You are encouraged to join the nationally recognised
Considerate Constructors Scheme. This commits those sites registered with the Scheme to be
considerate and good neighbours, as well as clean, respectful, safe, environmentally conscious,
responsible and accountable. For more information please contact the Considerate
Constructors Scheme directly on 0800 783 1423, siteenquiries@ccscheme.org.uk or visit
www.ccscheme.org.uk.
BUILDING REGULATIONS: You are advised that the works are likely to require building
regulations approval. Details in relation to Westminster Building Control services can be found
on our website at www.westminster.gov.uk/contact-us-building-control

3

The applicant is required to ensure that all non-road mobile machinery used during the
demolition and/or construction phase meet the appropriate emission standards. Further
information can be found at the following link: http://nrmm.london/nrmm . The environmental
sciences team can provide further information and can be contacted at:
environmentalsciences2@westminster.gov.uk .

5

As this development involves demolition activities on site, we recommend that you survey the
buildings thoroughly before demolition begins, to see if asbestos materials or other
contaminated materials are present. If you find any unexpected contamination while developing
the site, you must contact:
Environmental Sciences Team
Westminster City Council
Westminster City Hall
64 Victoria Street
London
SW1E 6QP
Email: environmentalsciences2@westminster.gov.uk

Page 150

Item No.
3

6

With reference to condition 7 please refer to the Council's Code of Construction Practice at
(www.westminster.gov.uk/code-construction-practice). You will be required to enter into an
agreement with the Council appropriate to this scale of development and to pay the relevant
fees prior to starting work.
Your completed and signed Checklist A (for Level 1 and Level 2 developments) or B (for
basements) and all relevant accompanying documents outlined in Checklist A or B, e.g. the full
Site Environmental Management Plan (Levels 1 and 2) or Construction Management Plan
(basements), must be submitted to the City Council's Environmental Inspectorate
(cocp@westminster.gov.uk) at least 40 days prior to commencement of works (which may
include some pre-commencement works and demolition). The checklist must be countersigned
by them before you apply to the local planning authority to discharge the above condition.
You are urged to give this your early attention as the relevant stages of demolition,
earthworks/piling or construction cannot take place until the City Council as local planning
authority has issued its written approval of each of the relevant parts, prior to each stage of
commencement.
Where you change your plans after we have discharged the condition, you must re-apply and
submit new details for consideration before you start work. Please note that where separate
contractors are appointed for different phases of the project, you may apply to partially
discharge the condition by clearly stating in your submission which phase of the works (i.e. (a)
demolition, (b) excavation or (c) construction or a combination of these) the details relate to.
However please note that the entire fee payable to the Environmental Inspectorate team must
be paid on submission of the details relating to the relevant phase.
Appendix A must be signed and countersigned by the Environmental Inspectorate prior to the
submission of the approval of details of the above condition.

7

This site and adjacent properties are in a conservation area, and some trees in neighbouring
properties are protected by Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs). By law you must notify us of
works to trees in conservation areas at least 6 weeks in advance of carrying out tree works, and
for trees protected by TPOs, you must apply to us for our consent for tree works.

Please note: the full text for informatives can be found in the Council’s Conditions,
Reasons & Policies handbook, copies of which can be found in the Committee Room
whilst the meeting is in progress, and on the Council’s website.

Page 151

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Item No.
4

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

20 July 2021

For General Release

Report of
Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning

Ward(s) involved
Marylebone High Street

Subject of Report

1 Bourne House, St Vincent Street, London, W1U 4DB

Proposal

Erection of a new roof pavilion and roof terrace space on Bourne House
for use in connection with the office use (Class E) at 1 St. Vincent
Street.

Agent

Howard de Walden Estate Ltd

On behalf of

Howard de Walden Estate

Registered Number

21/02114/FULL

Date Application
Received

31 March 2021

Historic Building Grade

Unlisted

Conservation Area

Harley Street

1.

Date amended/
completed

31 March 2021

RECOMMENDATION

Grant conditional permission
2.

SUMMARY

The application site comprises an unlisted residential building, on lower ground, ground and three
upper floors, situated on the corner of St. Vincent Street and Cramer Street. The site is located within
the Harley Street Conservation Area and close to the boundary with the Portman Estate
Conservation Area.
This application involves the erection of a pavilion at main roof level and the creation of a terrace,
enclosed by a dummy mansard screen, for use in connection with the office accommodation
currently under construction at 110 Marylebone High Street/1 St Vincent Street which adjoins the
application site.
Objections have been received primarily on the grounds of overlooking, noise and loss of daylight
and sunlight and construction impacts.
The key considerations in each of these applications are:
• The impact on the character and appearance of the Harley Street Conservation Area and the
setting of the Portman Estate Conservation Area.

Page 153

Item No.
4

• The impact on the amenity of nearby residential occupants and upon pupils attendings the nearby
St Vincent Primary School.
As set out in the main report, the proposals are considered acceptable in land use, design,
conservation and amenity terms, complying with the policies in the City Plan, Subject to conditions,
the application is recommended for approval.

Page 154

Item No.
4

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA
100019597

Page 155

Item No.
4

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

Page 156

Item No.
4

5.

CONSULTATIONS
COUNCILLOR SCARBOROUGH:
- Impact of construction on St Vincent School, including emergency evacuation
procedures; proposal should have been part of the original development
- Noise disturbance from use of the terrace, hours and capacity should be restricted
MARYLEBONE ASSOCIATION
No objection subject to there being no loss of residential amenity with regard to noise
and daylight. The construction should be carried out in accordance with the submitted
Construction Management Plan.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH
No objection
ADJOINING OWNERS/OCCUPIERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED
No. Consulted: 28 No. of replies: 6 (six letters from five people); No. of objections: 6
Objections on the following grounds:
-

Inappropriate to put a commercial development on the roof of a residential building
Loss of daylight and sunlight to lower floors of application building
Noise nuisance from proposed pavilion and terrace; excessive hours of terrace use and
capacity
Noise transfer through the building fabric to the flats below
Privacy
Loss of privacy to future residents within the Moxon Street Car Park redevelopment
Appearance, bulk and height of the scheme and harm to heritage asset
Interference with residents’ means of escape/assembly point/ loss of roof access.
Construction impacts (noise/dust/loss of light due to scaffolding/security)

PRESS ADVERTISEMENT / SITE NOTICE:
Yes
6.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

6.1

The Application Site
The application site is an unlisted residential building of 13 flats (on lower ground,
ground and three upper floors) situated within the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) and the
Harley Street Conservation Area. The Harley Street Conservation Area Audit designates
the property as a building of townscape merit. Immediately to the west of the site is the
boundary to the Portman Estate Conservation Area. There are no listed buildings in the
immediate site vicinity.
The site is located on the corner of St. Vincent Street and Cramer Street, adjacent to the

Page 157

Item No.
4

approved mixed use development at 110 Marylebone High Street/1 St Vincent Street, to
the east of the site. This development is nearing completion.
The area is characterised by a range of uses, predominately retail uses (on Marylebone
High Street), residential and office uses and St. Vincent’s School, which is located
directly to the south-west of the site. The school has a playground on the roof of the
building, enclosed by a tall chain link fence/netting.
The building is opposite the former Moxon Street car park site which has extant
permission for redevelopment to provide a mix of commercial and social community
uses and up to 79 flats.
6.2

Recent Relevant History
Planning permission was refused on 03 August 2020 (Ref: 20/01723/FULL) for the
‘Erection of a new roof pavilion and roof terrace space on Bourne House in connection
with the Class B1 office use at 1 St Vincent Street’ on the grounds that its detailed
design and proposed materials would harm the character and appearance of the Harley
Street Conservation Area and the setting of the Portman Estate Conservation Area. An
appeal has been lodged against the refusal of this application, which has yet to be
determined.

110 Marylebone High Street/1 St Vincent Street
Permission was granted on the site immediately to the east of the application site on 24
May 2018 (Ref: 17/01347/FULL) for ‘Alterations to all buildings including demolition of St
Vincent Street buildings, the erection of a mansard roof extension to 110 Marylebone
High Street, and the erection of a new building fronting St. Vincent Street comprising
ground to fourth floors with new plant areas and extract ducting to the backland building.
Use of the rear lower ground and part ground for restaurant (Class A3) use (accessed
from St. Vincent Street), use of part lower ground and part ground as a shop (Class A1),
use of part lower ground, part ground, part 1st, 2nd to 4th floor levels as office (Class
B1) floorspace (accessed from St. Vincent Street) and use of part ground and part first
floor levels as day nursery (Class D1) (accessed from Cramer Street)’. This
development is currently under construction and is substantially complete

7.

THE PROPOSAL
The current application involves the erection of small pavilion, which takes the form of a
mansard roof addition on the street frontage, set on the part of the roof between the
existing roof level stair enclosure and the neighbouring building to the east. The
extension (33 sqm GIA) would provide a kitchenette and W.C. The reminder of the roof
space would be used as a terrace (38 sqm GIA, excluding planters) which would be
wholly enclosed by the proposed extension and a 2.8m high mansard screen around the
roof perimeter. The roof extension and screen would be finished in natural slate and
inset with dormer windows. As with the appeal scheme, the extension and terrace would
be used in association with the offices in the neighbouring development at 110

Page 158

Item No.
4

Marylebone High Street and directly linked to the fourth floor offices.
The applicants propose that the use of the terrace would be restricted to between 09:00
and 21:00 hours (on Monday to Friday only) by a maximum of 30 people at any one
time.
8.

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Land Use
Objections have been received on the basis that it is inappropriate to put a commercial
development on the roof of a residential building. The council has no policies which
prevent this type of development and the previous application was not considered
unacceptable on this basis and an objection to the principle of this office development
cannot be supported.
Given the site’s location within a part of the CAZ with a mixed-use character, the
proposed increase in office floorspace is acceptable in principle, as set out within Policy
13 of the City Plan.
The acceptability of other potential uses falling within Class E has not been assessed as
part of this application, as the applicant has confirmed that the extension and terrace
would be used in connection with the adjacent offices. Consequently, a condition is
recommended to restrict the development to office use. The applicant has agreed to the
imposition of this condition.

8.2

Townscape and Design
The key legislative requirements in respect to designated heritage assets are as follows:
Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
that “In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation
area…special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of that area.”
Whilst there is no statutory duty to take account of the effect on the setting of a
conservation area, City Plan Policy 39(B)(i) requires development to ensure heritage
assets (which includes conservation areas) and their settings are conserved and
enhanced, in a manner appropriate to their significance. Furthermore Chapters 12 and
16 of the NPPF require great weight be placed on design quality and the preservation of
designated heritage assets including their setting. Chapter 16 of the NPPF clarifies that
harmful proposals should only be approved where the harm caused would be clearly
outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme, taking into account the statutory duty
to have special regard or pay special attention, as relevant. This should also take into
account the relative significance of the affected asset and the severity of the harm
caused.
Bourne House is an inter war building in the Harley Street Conservation Area. The
building is identified in the Harley Street Conservation Area Audit SPG as an unlisted

Page 159

Item No.
4

building of merit; one which makes a positive contribution to the character and
appearance of the conservation area. The conservation area audit also identifies it as a
building which is unsuitable for roof extension. The building also faces the Portman
Estate Conservation Area, on the opposite side of Cramer Street; the St. Vincent
Primary School, on the opposite side of St Vincent Street, and the Moxon Street car park
site to the west. The adjacent building to the east is currently one storey taller than the
application building while the building to the north is a full storey lower.
A previous application, which is the subject of an appeal, was refused scheme on the
grounds that the proposed pavilion was unacceptable in terms of its detailed design and
use of a variety of different materials - sheer brick walls and a pitched façade fronting St
Vincent Street, finished in part render and part grey metal, over sailed by a flat metal
roof). The proposed roof terrace was enclosed by a metal balustrade with lead planters
preventing access to the terrace perimeter. A section of green wall was also proposed.
The pavilion was considered to be an uncharacteristic form of addition to the roof of an
otherwise traditional 1930s building. However, an informative on the decision notice
advised that an extension of a more traditional design (in terms of materials and form)
might be acceptable.
The current scheme differs from the refused scheme in that it takes the appearance of a
traditional mansard roof on the street frontages. The rear façade would be formed in
brick to match the floors below. The ‘internal’ terrace facades are also formed in brick
but would not be visible behind the mansard screen other than in views from taller
buildings.
Of the objections received, one relates to design. The objector considers that the loss of
the existing flat roof would be harmful, on the basis that this is architectural signature of
1930s buildings; that Bourne House and St. Vincent Street Primary School form a
unique architectural cornerstone to the entire street block and are the only remaining
unaltered properties structures in the area and that the granting of planning permission
would amount to substantial harm to a heritage asset. The objector also notes that
Bourne House is identified as a building unsuitable for a roof extension within the
conservation area audit.
The proposal will exacerbate the height difference between the application building and
the adjacent building to the north (2 Cramer Street) which is currently one storey lower
than Bourne House. However, the extended party wall/chimney stack on the boundary
will conceal much of the increased height and bulk in views from the north. The
extension will reflect the height of the new building to the east, on St Vincent St, which
forms part of the approved development at 110 Marylebone High Street.
The new building on the adjacent car park site will screen the proposed development in
many views, although it would be visible in longer views from Aybrook Street and in
private views from surrounding buildings. Only a close view from the corner of St.
Vincent and Cramer Street would remain, in which the development will not be readily
appreciable
The proposed mansard roof complies with the guidance in the City Council’s roofs SPG.
The timber windows are of suitable scale and are aligned with those on the floors below.
The materials and design are not uncharacteristic of a building of this type.

Page 160

Item No.
4

As previously, the loss of the existing flat roof is not considered to constitute a reason for
refusal. The roof in this instance does not form a key feature of the building (as it would
in a modern building) and mansard roof storeys have been approved on similar buildings
in many other instances.
The fact that the application building is a one of few to survive unaltered from its original
scale is also not considered to justify refusal, as previously. The proposed additional
storey does not detract from the appearance of the building, nor from the appreciation of
the original building.
In addition, the building context has changed since the adoption of the conservation area
audit. As the adjacent building on St Vincent Street is now a full storey taller than the
application site, the impact of an additional storey in this location would be less
pronounced. The departure from the advice in the conservation area audit is therefore
considered to be justified. It is noted that the appeal scheme was not refused on the
grounds that a roof extension was unacceptable in principle. Indeed, an informative was
added to the decision notice advising that a roof extension of an alternative design might
be acceptable.
It is not considered that the proposals would cause substantial harm, nor even less than
substantial harm, to the heritage asset and therefore, a recommendation to grant
conditional permission would be compliant with the relevant policies of the City Plan
2019-2040 and the requirements of the NPPF and the statutory duties of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The proposed works are
considered to preserve the character or appearance of the Harley Street Conservation
Area, and the setting of the Portman Estate Conservation Area, and are therefore
considered to be acceptable in design terms. Consequently, the objection cannot be
supported.
8.3

Residential Amenity
Policy 7 of the City Plan 2019-2040 seeks to protect and, where appropriate, enhance
amenity by preventing unacceptable impacts in terms of daylight and sunlight, sense of
enclosure, overshadowing, privacy and overlooking.
Policy S33 of the City Plan 2019 – 2040 states that; ‘development should prevent
adverse effects of noise and vibration and improve the noise environment in compliance
with the council’s Noise Thresholds, with particular attention to: minimising noise impacts
and preventing noise intrusion to residential developments and sensitive uses’
Sunlight and Daylight
A daylight and sunlight analysis was submitted with the application. This assesses the
impact of the development on neighbouring buildings including 106-108, 109, 110 and
111-112 Marylebone High Street; 12, 12a, 14 & 5-11 (St. Vincent’s School) St. Vincent
Street; 2 Cramer Street; the lower levels of Bourne House (application site), the
Waitrose supermarket and the approved flats within the Moxon Street Car Park
redevelopment, where the permission has been implemented but is yet to be completed.
Objections have been received from occupants of Bourne House on the grounds that

Page 161

Item No.
4

the proposals would result in a loss of light to the lower floors of that property.
Daylight
The most commonly used method for assessing daylighting matters is the ‘vertical sky
component’ (VSC), which measures the amount of sky that is visible from the outside
face of a window. Using this method, if an affected window is already relatively poorly lit
and the light received by the affected window would be reduced by 20% or more as a
result of the proposed development, the loss would be noticeable, and the adverse effect
would have to be taken into account in any decision-making. The Building Research
Establishment guidelines seek to protect light to principal including living and dining
rooms, habitable kitchens and bedrooms.
Where the layout of affected room is known, the daylight distribution test can be used to
plat the ‘no sky line’ (NSL) which is a point on a working plane in a room between where
the sky can and cannot be seen. Comparing the existing situation and proposed daylight
distributions helps assess the likely impact a development will have. If, following
construction of a new development, the no sky line moves so that the area of the
existing room, which does not receive direct skylight, is reduced to less than 0.8 times its
former value, this is likely to be noticeable to the occupants.
The assessment indicates that there would be no material losses of daylight (either VSC
or NSL) to habitable rooms as a result of the proposal with the exception of windows
serving the approved residential accommodation on the Moxon Street car park site.
Moxon Street Car Park redevelopment
Whilst the analysis shows that there are no material reductions in NSL, eleven windows
(serving a mixture of living rooms, bedrooms and kitchens on the first to third floors of
this development) would see a reduction in VSC between 21% and 81% which is beyond
the 20% threshold as a result of the proposed development. However, in absolute
terms, the maximum reduction in VSC is a maximum of 1.5%. However, the affected
windows would all be sited beneath overhanging balconies. The BRE guidelines
acknowledges that existing windows with balconies above them typically receive less
daylight that other windows, as the balcony cuts out light from the top part of the sky. In
these circumstances, even a modest obstruction opposite the window may have a
relatively significant impact in terms of VSC. In these circumstances, the guidelines
recommend that a further assessment is undertaken, excluding the impact of the
balconies. If the tested windows then mee BRE targets it is clear that it is the balcony
which prevents the target being achieved, rather than the proposed development. A
supplementary assessment shows that all windows within the car park development
would meet the VSC test.

Sunlight
With regard to sunlight, the BRE guidelines state that rooms will appear reasonably
sunlit provided that they receive 25% of annual probable sunlight hours, including at
least 5% of winter sunlight hours. A room will be adversely affected if this is less than the
recommended standards and reduced by more than 20% of its former values, and the
total loss over the whole year is greater than 4%. Only windows facing within 90 degrees
of due south of the proposed development need to be tested.

Page 162

Item No.
4

The assessment indicates that there would be no material losses of sunlight to habitable
rooms or non-domestic uses with a particular requirement for sunlight as a result of the
proposal.
Overlooking
Concerns have been raised by occupants of Bourne House and a Ward Councillor
regarding the increased potential for overlooking to St Vincent’s Primary School, which
also has a roof level playground, to approved flats within the Moxon Street car park
redevelopment and to the lower floors of the application site.
Due to the position and orientation of the rear window within the proposed extension,
there would be some, limited, potential for overlooking to residential windows on the
lower floors of the application building. However, a condition is recommended to require
this window to be fixed shut and obscure glazed to further minimise the impacts of the
development.
The proposed terrace will be enclosed by a sheer wall to the rear and a dummy mansard
on all other frontages, which rises 2.8m above terrace level. Additionally, a line of
planters is proposed on the inside face of the mansard screen, further reducing access
to the a edge of the roof. Consequently, it is not considered that there is potential for a
material loss of privacy to neighbouring properties or to flats on the lower floors of the
building.
Concerns has been expressed regarding the relationship of the proposed terrace to St.
Vincent’s Primary School to the south of the site. School windows directly face, and are
visible from, the proposed terrace and serve a stair core and staff offices. However, the
extension and terrace would be separated from the school by the width of the road and
pavements. Although there would be a degree of mutual overlooking between the sites,
this reflects the existing relationship between the lower floors of these buildings. Given
that the rooftop school playground is located one and a half floors above the proposed
terrace level, and is enclosed by fencing/mesh which reduces visibility, it is not
considered that there would be a material loss of privacy to the school playground.
Similarly, it is not considered that the future residents of the Moxon Street Car Park
development will experience a material reduction of privacy as a result of the proposal. It
is noted that the previous application, which did not include a terrace screen, was not
refused on overlooking grounds.
Noise from terrace
Objections have been received on the ground of a loss of amenity to neighbouring
occupiers due the hours of use and capcity of the proposed roof terrace.
As detailed above, it is proposed that the terrace would be used between 09:00 and
21:00 hours (Monday to Friday only) by a maximum of 30 people at any one time. (it is
noted that the submitted Design and Access Statement refers to its use been 08.00 and
21.00 hours). Objections have been received to the proposed hours of use and terrace
capacity. Councillor Scarborough has requested that the hours of use be restricted to
between 10.00 and 17.00 hours and limited to a maximum 10 people on the basis that
sound will carry to the lower floors and neighbouring flats due to the narrow street
widths.

Page 163

Item No.
4

It is noted that the previous application proposed hours of use between 0800 and 1900
on Monday to Friday, with a maximum capacity of 15 people, and this was considered
acceptable. However, given the additional safeguards now prosed, including the 2.8m
high terrace screen, the extended hours of use and increased capcity are considered
acceptable on amenity grounds. Furthermore, conditions are recommended to ensure
that no music is played externally to safeguard the amenity of neighbouring properties
and to ensure that pupils in the neighbouring school and nursery are not disturbed. It is
noted that the Council’s Environmental Services Officer has reviewed the application
and has raised no objection.
Objections have also been received on the grounds of potential noise transference from
the extension and terrace, through the building fabric to flats below. To ensure that the
occupants of Bourne House do not experience noise disturbance from the development
it is proposed to install a suspended floor so that the development does not sit directly
on the roof. A condition is recommended requiring the submission of details of the
design, structure and acoustic insulation of the development to ensure that this will
provide sufficient attenuation from the effects of noise and vibration.
With the imposition of conditions, it is considered that the proposal will not have an
adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. However, as the use of the
terrace by wider uses falling within Class E, including retail, restaurant, medical, creche,
nursery and fitness uses, could all have a potentially unacceptable impact on
neighbouring noise sensitive occupiers, a condition is recommended to limit the use of
the terrace to office occupiers only.
8.4

Transportation/Parking
The proposal does not raise any highway issues.

8.5

Economic Considerations
Any economic benefits generated by the scheme are welcomed.

8.6

Access
Access to the terrace is would be via the proposed pavilion from the approved offices at
110 Marylebone High Street. No alterations are proposed which would alter access to
the application site or 110 Marylebone High Street.

8.7

Other Westminster Policy Considerations
Fire Safety
Objections have been received from residents of Bourne House on the grounds that the
grounds that the proposal will compromise the building’s fire evacuation strategy by
removing the existing rooftop access, which was retained under the previous proposals.
Residents state that the existing roof access provides a means of escape in the event of
a fire on the lower floors and that the fire assembly point is located on the roof of the
building. The objectors contend the submitted Fire Action Plan, which states that the
only emergency access is via the main entrance, is inaccurate. They also consider that

Page 164

Item No.
4

the stated ‘stay put’ policy is inappropriate in this building.
This issue has been raised with the applicants. They believe that the applicants’
reference to a rooftop fire assembly point is based on the fact that the existing roof
access door is marked ‘emergency exit only’. However, they consider that the details in
the submitted Fire Action Plan are correct. The existing Fire Action Plan, and a Fire
Strategy Plan produced by a suitably qualified engineer, confirms that the fire strategy
for the building remains adequate and that residents of the building should walk down
the stairs and exit the building via the main doors to the street, which reflects the current
arrangement. In these circumstances, it is not considered that residents’ safety would be
compromised by the proposal.

Construction Impacts
The occupants of both the existing building and neighbouring properties have raised
concerns in relation to the potential impacts of the proposal during construction including
nuisance from construction noise and dust, impact on levels of light received when whilst
scaffolding is erected; the potential impact on the emergency evacuation of St. Vincent
School and general disruption. Councillor Scarborough considers that the current, and
previous, proposals should have formed part of the original scheme for the development
at 110 Marylebone High Street. Whilst tis may have been preferable, there is nothing to
prevent applicants from submitting phased development proposals.
The applicant has submitted a Construction Management Plan which includes various
undertakings designed to ameliorate the potential impact of building works. It is
proposed that that construction work will be carried out between standard working hours,
in line with the Council’s standard working hours condition. Within these standard hours
they propose that noisy working will be restricted to ‘two hours on, two hours off’. The
use of power tools, noisy plant etc. will not occur during the ‘quiet’ periods. Where, as an
exception, it is necessary to carry out noisy works for a longer period, the contractor
would liaise with adjoining occupiers before any work takes place. Enabling works such
as the erection of scaffolding and receipt of deliveries will also take place during
standard working hours.
Scaffold towers will be erected to all corners of Bourne House, providing support to high
level scaffold access only. One tower will provide ladder access with lifting capabilities,
anticipated to be at the Cramer Street corner of Bourne House. The high level scaffold
will be self-contained and wrapped in construction sheeting to avoid debris etc falling
outside the area. All deliveries will be via Cramer Street. A banksman will be positioned
at the top of Cramer Street to direct and manage traffic movements down the street.
Vehicles will be driven at a maximum speed of 5mph. Vehicles leaving site will be
similarly controlled. Materials will have to be brought to side on a ‘just in time’ basis,
rather than stored.
The erection of scaffolding will be controlled to minimise the impact on both Hope
Montessori and St Vincent Primary schools. It is anticipated that most of the work will
take place during the school summer holiday allowing the scaffolding to be removed
prior to September. Objectors, including the School, state that the only safe space for
children to congregate in an emergency is on the newly paved area in St. Vincent Street.
However, neither the proposed scaffolding tower nor the construction access would

Page 165

Item No.
4

prevent the use of this area in an emergency and it is considered the construction
proposals adequately consider the safety of the general public and pupils of St. Vincent
Primary School.
The scaffolding will be fitted with an alarm linked to a central monitoring station which
will alert the contractor to any out of hours activity. Lighting will be fixed to the
scaffolding in accordance with Council requirements ensuring that the pedestrian routes
are clearly marked. The contractor will be required to carry out daily inspections of the
hoarding to ensure that the safety of pedestrians and vehicles is not compromised, and
any rectifications are carried out straight away. As such, it is considered that the
development can be carried out in a safe manner without impacting the security of
neighbouring residents.
The following measures will be implemented to minimise the risk of dust and other air
pollution:
• Using processes which do not generate fume and/or dust:
• Ensuring that fumes and/or dust do not escape on the site to affect members of
the public and/or surrounding environments
• Burning of materials on site is not permitted for any reason
• In particular, plant will be well maintained, and measures taken to ensure they
are not left running for long periods when not in use
To minimise the impact on internal light level during the construction process, an
informative has been added requiring the applicant to investigate the use of an ultra-light
shroud to cover during construction to minimise loss of light to existing flats.
The Environmental Services Officer has reviewed the proposal and has confirmed that it
is not of a nature or scale that would require the developer to sign up to the Council’s
Code of Construction Practice, which would require the submission of a CMP as part of
that process. However, the CMP was submitted by the applicants due to concerns
voiced to them during the stakeholder engagement process. Consequently, it is
considered reasonable to secure compliance with the CMP by condition. Other Council
departments will ensure that the highway remains in operation during the construction
process. A further condition has been imposed to control the hours building works.
Subject to these conditions, it is considered that the potential effects of the construction
process will be ameliorated as far as possible and objections on theses grounds cannot
justifiably form the basis of a recommendation for refusal.
Biodiversity
The proposal incorporates a series of planters on the proposed terrace which improves
the site’s biodiversity contribution to the biodiversity of the area. This is welcomed and
accords with City Plan Policy 34.
8.8

Westminster City Plan
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 was adopted at Full Council on 21 April 2021. Therefore, in
accordance with s.38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, it comprises
the development plan for Westminster in combination with the London Plan adopted in
March 2021 and, where relevant, neighbourhood plans covering specific parts of the city

Page 166

Item No.
4

(see further details in Section 8.9). As set out in s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 and paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the application must be determined
in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
8.9

Neighbourhood Plans
The is currently no Neighbourhood Plan for this area.

8.10

London Plan
This application raises no strategic issues.

8.11

National Policy/Guidance Considerations
None.

8.12

Planning Obligations
Planning obligations are not relevant in the determination of this application.

8.13

Environmental Impact Assessment
The proposal is of insufficient scale to require such an assessment.

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: SARA SPURRIER BY EMAIL AT SSPURRIER@WESTMINSTER.GOV.UK.

Page 167

Item No.
4

9.

KEY DRAWINGS

Proposed Roof Terrace

Proposed St. Vincent Street Elevation

Page 168

Item No.
4

Proposed Cramer Street Elevation

Proposed Rear Elevation

Page 169

Item No.
4

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

1 Bourne House , St Vincent Street, London, W1U 4DB

Proposal:

Erection of a new roof pavilion and roof terrace space on Bourne House in
connection with office use (Class E) at 1 St. Vincent Street.

Plan Nos:

Drawings Pl (01)02 Rev R4, PL(03)01 Rev P1, PL(03)02 Rev P2, PL(03)03 Rev
P2.
Document titled ' Planning Stage Construction Management Plan for Consultation
the Development of Bourne House Roof by Howard de Walden Estates Limited'
dated March 2021

Case Officer:

Damian Lavelle

Direct Tel. No.

07779431364

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s) or Reason(s) for Refusal:

1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings and
other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved subsequently by the
City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

Except for piling, excavation and demolition work, you must carry out any building work which
can be heard at the boundary of the site only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday;
o
between 08.00 and 13.00 on Saturday; and
o
not at all on Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
You must carry out piling, excavation and demolition work only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday; and
o
not at all on Saturdays, Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
Noisy work must not take place outside these hours unless otherwise agreed through a Control
of Pollution Act 1974 section 61 prior consent in special circumstances (for example, to meet
police traffic restrictions, in an emergency or in the interests of public safety). (C11AB)
Reason:
To protect the environment of neighbouring occupiers. This is as set out in Policies 7 and 33 of
the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R11AD)

3

All new work to the outside of the building must match existing original work in terms of the
choice of materials, method of construction and finished appearance. This applies unless
differences are shown on the drawings we have approved or are required by conditions to this
permission. (C26AA)

Page 170

Item No.
4

Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Harley Street Conservation Area. This is as set out
in Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26BF)
4

You must apply to us for approval of details of the facing materials you will use, including
glazing, and elevations and roof plans annotated to show where the materials are to be located.
You must not start work on the relevant part of the development until we have approved in
writing what you have sent us. You must then carry out the work using the approved materials.
(C26BD)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Harley Street Conservation Area. This is as set out
in Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26BF)

5

You must not put structures such as canopies, fences, loggias, trellises or satellite or radio
antennae on the roof terrace. (C26NA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Harley Street Conservation Area. This is as set out
in Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26BF)

6

You must not play live or recorded music on terrace hereby approved.
Reason:
To protect neighbouring residents from noise nuisance, as set out in Policies 7, 16 and 33 of the
City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R13ED)

7

The terrace hereby approved shall only be used between 0900 and 2100 hours on Monday to
Friday only.
Reason:
To protect neighbouring residents from noise nuisance, as set out in Policies 7 and 33 of the
City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R13ED)

8

No more than 30 people are allowed to be on the terrace hereby approved at any one time
Reason:
To protect neighbouring residents from noise nuisance, as set out in Policies 7 and 33 of the
City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R13ED)

9

You must complete the development in accordance with the approved drawings before you use

Page 171

Item No.
4

the roof as a terrace.
Reason:
To protect the privacy and environment of people in neighbouring properties, as set out Policies
7 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R21AD)
10

The glass that you put in the window to the rear elevation must not be clear glass, and you must
fix it permanently shut and must not be change without our permission. (C21DB)
Reason:
To protect the environment of people in neighbouring properties. This is as set out in Policies 7,
33 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R21ED)

11

You must carry out the development in accordance with the Construction Management Plan
hereby approved.
Reason:
To protect the environment of neighbouring occupiers. This is as set out in Policies 7 and 33 of
the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R11AD)

12

The design and structure of the development shall be of such a standard that it will protect
residents within the same building or in adjoining buildings from noise and vibration from the
development, so that they are not exposed to noise levels indoors of more than 35 dB LAeq 16
hrs daytime and of more than 30 dB LAeq 8 hrs in bedrooms at night. Inside bedrooms 45 dB L
Amax is not to be exceeded more than 15 times per night-time from sources other than
emergency sirens. (C49BB)
Reason:
To ensure that design, structure and acoustic insulation of the development will provide
sufficient protection for residents of the same or adjoining buildings from noise and vibration
from elsewhere in the development, as set out Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021) and the draft Noise Technical Guidance Note (November 2019). (R49BB)

13

Notwithstanding the provision within Class E of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes)
Order 1987 (as amended September 2020) or any equivalent class in any order that may
replace it, the terrace and extension hereby approved must be used by office occupants only.
Reason:
In accordance with the submitted application and to protect neighbouring residents and other
noise sensitive occupants from noise nuisance, as set out in Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan
2019 - 2040 (April 2021).

Page 172

Item No.
4

14

You must apply to us for approval of details of all separating structures demonstrating that the
proposal will comply with the Council's noise criteria as set out in Condition 12 of this
permission. You must not start work on this part of the development until we have approved in
writing what you have sent us.
Reason:
To ensure that design, structure and acoustic insulation of the development will provide
sufficient protection for residents of the same or adjoining buildings from noise and vibration
from elsewhere in the development, as set out Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021) and the draft Noise Technical Guidance Note (November 2019). (R49BB)

Informative(s):
1

In dealing with this application the City Council has implemented the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We have
made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021), neighbourhood plan (where relevant), supplementary planning documents, the
London Plan (March 2021), planning briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as
offering a full pre application advice service, in order to ensure that applicant has been given
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably. In
addition, where appropriate, further guidance was offered to the applicant at the validation
stage.

2

You are requested to investigate the use of an ultra-light shroud to cover the building during
construction to minimise loss of light to existing flats.

Please note: the full text for informatives can be found in the Council’s Conditions, Reasons
& Policies handbook, copies of which can be found in the Committee Room whilst the
meeting is in progress, and on the Council’s website.

Page 173

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Item No.
5

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification
For General Release

Report of
Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning

Ward(s) involved
Hyde Park

Subject of Report

37 Gloucester Mews, London, W2 3HE

Proposal

Variation of condition 1 and removal of conditions 4 and 8 of planning
permission dated 28 January 2020 (RN 19/08415/FULL); and also
Variation of condition 1 of the listed building consent dated 28 January
2020 (RN: 19/08416/LBC: for the extension to rear courtyard at lower
ground floor level, replacement of lower ground floor external windows
and doors, NAMELY, to amend the design of the windows and doors
including the incorporation of double glazing, replace the courtyard
tiling, and provide details of waste storage areas

Agent

1.

On behalf of

Iain Bott

Registered Number

21/03425/FULL, and
21/03611/LBC

Date Application
Received

25 May 2021

Historic Building Grade

II

Conservation Area

Bayswater

Date amended/
completed

29 May 2021

RECOMMENDATION
1. Grant conditional permission.
2. Grant conditional listed building consent.
3. Agree reasons for granting conditional listed building consent as set out in Informative 1 of
the draft decision letter.

2.

SUMMARY
Planning permission and listed building consent were approved on 28th January 2020 for a scheme
comprising an extension to the rear courtyard at lower ground floor level, the replacement of lower
ground floor external windows and doors, and internal alterations including the conversion of vaults,
all in association with the lower ground floor flat. This was subsequently amended on 19th May 2020
to allow for further internal alterations to the flat.
The current applications seek to amend the previous approvals to allow for a change to the design of
windows and external doors to double glazing, a replacement of tiling to the external courtyard, and

Page 175

Item No.
5

to provide details of waste storage which had in the previous application been secured by condition.
The key considerations in this case are:
•
•

The impact of the works on the significance of the listed building and conservation area
The provision of appropriate waste storage for the flat

The proposed development is considered to be consistent with relevant policies in the City Plan
2019-2040. Although approval is sought to remove Conditions 4 and 8 , these are being reworded to
secure the refuse storage and the detailed design of the windows and doors .The applications are
recommended for approval subject to the conditions set out in the draft decision letters.

Page 176

Item No.
5

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

THIS PRODUCTION INCLUDES MAPPING DATA
LICENSED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY WITH THE
PERMISSION IF THE CONTROLLER OF HER MAJESTY’S
STATIONARY OFFICE (C) CROWN COPYRIGHT AND /OR
DATABASE RIGHTS 2013.
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED LICENSE NUMBER LA
100019597

Page 177

Item No.
5

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

Front Elevation

Page 178

Item No.
5

Rear Elevation

Page 179

Item No.
5

5.

CONSULTATIONS
HISTORIC ENGLAND
Any response to be reported verbally.
SOUTH EAST BAYSWATER RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION
Advise that to the bay on Gloucester Terrace the change to traditional sash windows is a
welcome improvement. Also advise that there are no concerns with the change to a
sash window in the bedroom vault and that the windows and doors to the rear mews
elevation appear generally acceptable. Further advise that they consider policy has
changed with regards to slimline double glazing and that the glazing bars should not be
deeper than those included with single glazing and that it may be appropriate to require
samples to fully assess this.
WASTE PROJECT OFFICER
State that they have no objections to the application proposals, and that the details are
in line with the Council's waste storage requirements. Recommend a condition securing
the provision of the waste store.
ADJOINING OWNERS/OCCUPIERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED
No. Consulted: 62
Total No. of replies: 0
No. of objections: 0
No. in support: 0
PRESS ADVERTISEMENT / SITE NOTICE:
Yes

6.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

6.1

The Application Site
No. 37 Gloucester Mews represents the lower ground floor flat of a building which
includes ground, first and second floor levels which are listed under the address of 82
Gloucester Terrace. It is a terraced property, dating from the mid-19th century, and is
Grade 2 listed and located within the Westbourne Conservation Area.

6.2

Recent Relevant History
On 28th January 2020 planning permission and listed building consent were granted for
works comprising the erection of an extension to the rear courtyard at lower ground floor
level, the replacement of lower ground floor external windows and doors, internal
alterations including conversion of vaults, all in association with lower ground floor flat.
On 19th May 2020 listed building consent was granted varying the approval of 28th
January 2020 to allow for further internal alterations. A non-material amendment
application was also issued confirming that the further internal alterations did not
materially amend the planning application approved on 28th January 2020.

Page 180

Item No.
5

Works have been implemented on site .

7.

THE PROPOSAL
The application proposals seek planning permission and listed building consent to vary
the previously approved planning application and listed building consent applications to
allow for amendments to the design of external windows and doors, to replace the tiling
to the courtyard to the Gloucester Mews elevation, and to supply details of waste
storage (details of which were to be secured by condition on the planning permission)

8.

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Land Use
The flat remains in residential use and the applications do not raise any change of use
issues. As with the previous approval, the use of the front vaults as an integral part of
the application flat is considered acceptable, and it would remain lit by windows and
doors into the front lightwell to provide an appropriate standard.

8.2

Townscape and Design
The key legislative requirements in respect to designated heritage assets are as follows:
Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
that “In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works the local
planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic
interest which it possesses.”
Section 66 of the same Act requires that “In considering whether to grant planning
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local
planning authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.”
Section 72 of the same Act requires that “In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or
other land in a conservation area…special attention shall be paid to the desirability of
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.”
Furthermore Chapters 12 and 16 of the NPPF require great weight be placed on design
quality and the preservation of designated heritage assets including their setting.
Chapter 16 of the NPPF clarifies that harmful proposals should only be approved where
the harm caused would be clearly outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme,
taking into account the statutory duty to have special regard or pay special attention, as
relevant. This should also take into account the relative significance of the affected asset
and the severity of the harm caused.
This application seeks to amend the approved design of the windows and external

Page 181

Item No.
5

doors, and also for these windows and doors to incorporate double glazing rather than
the single glazing. The proposal also seeks to replace the tiling to the rear courtyard.
As with the previous application, the existing windows and external doors are modern
and of quite poor design quality, and their replacement is not contentious in heritage
terms subject to suitable replacements. The new windows and doors adopt a traditional
design approach in terms of their general appearance. Double glazing is proposed, and
whilst this is sometimes not architecturally compatible with a sensitive listed building,
particularly in relation to new sash windows intended to integrate with the original
building, in this case they are slimline double glazed in order to ensure their detailing
and appearance more closely follows the original sash windows to the building. They
will incorporate integral (rather than stuck on) glazing bars, putty detailing to the exterior
and will operate as sliding sash windows, and they are considered a notable
improvement upon the existing. It is also recognised that City Plan 2019-2040 puts a
greater emphasis on sustainable design and energy efficient windows. As such, in the
circumstances of this case the use of double glazing is acceptable. The comments of
SEBRA regarding the detailing of the windows are noted, and whilst noting the
application to fully omit the condition requiring detailing of windows, nonetheless it is
considered appropriate to secure fuller detailed drawings by condition to ensure
appropriateness of design.
The extension to the rear courtyard remains acceptable in these current applications,
mindful of the particular circumstances of this terrace to Gloucester Mews where there
are other extensions within courtyard .
The proposed replacement of the existing modern red tiling to the floor of the courtyard
facing Gloucester Mews with grey slate coloured tiling will give a more subtle and
restrained appearance to the courtyard and is welcomed in design terms.
The internal alterations remain unchanged from the previous approval and are
acceptable .
As such, the proposal is considered acceptable and accord with policies 38, 39 and 40
within the City Plan 2019-2040.
8.3

Residential Amenity
The proposed changes raise no amenity implications to adjoining neighbours and
accord with policies 7 and 33 in the City Plan 2019-2040.

8.4

Transportation/Parking
The applications do not raise any transportation/parking issues.

8.5

Economic Considerations
No economic considerations are applicable for a development of this size.

8.6

Access

Page 182

Item No.
5

The flat remains accessed through the existing front and rear lightwell staircases.
8.7

Other UDP/Westminster Policy Considerations
As noted in the officer’s report for the previously approved scheme, there is no
communal rubbish store in the vaults to the building and thus the use of the vaults for
habitable accommodation in association with the application flat remains acceptable on
waste storage grounds. In the previous application the waste storage provisions were
not specified, and full details were to be secured by condition. In this current application
the details have been given of the storage provision within the flat, and these are
considered acceptable. The wording of the condition on the planning permission
decision letter has been amended accordingly.

8.8

Westminster City Plan
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 was adopted at Full Council on 21 April 2021. Therefore, in
accordance with s.38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, it comprises
the development plan for Westminster in combination with the London Plan adopted in
March 2021 and, where relevant, neighbourhood plans covering specific parts of the city
(see further details in Section 8.9). As set out in s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 and paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the application must be determined
in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

8.9

Neighbourhood Plans
There are no neighbourhood plans relevant for this area.

8.10

London Plan
These applications raise no strategic issues.

8.11

National Policy/Guidance Considerations
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) policies referred to in the consideration of this
application are considered to be consistent with the NPPF 2019 unless stated otherwise.

8.12

Planning Obligations
Planning obligations are not relevant in the determination of these applications.

8.13

Environmental Impact Assessment
Not applicable .

8.14

Other Issues
No other issues are considered relevant in this case.

Page 183

Item No.
5

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: KIMBERLEY DAVIES BY EMAIL AT kdavies1@westminster.gov.uk.

Page 184

Item No.
5

9.

KEY DRAWINGS

Page 185

Item No.
5

Page 186

Item No.
5

Page 187

Item No.
5

Page 188

Item No.
5

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

37 Gloucester Mews, London, W2 3HE

Proposal:

Variation of condition 1 and removal of conditions 4 and 8 of planning
permission dated 28 January 2020 (RN 19/08415/FULL) for the extension to
rear courtyard at lower ground floor level, replacement of lower ground floor
external windows and doors, NAMELY, to amend the design of the windows
and doors including the incorporation of double glazing, replace the existing
terracotta tiles to the courtyard with mid grey slate effect tiles, and details of
waste storage areas (linked to 21/03611/LBC).

Reference:

21/03425/FULL

Plan Nos:

DRAWINGS SUBMITTED WITH CURRENT APPLICATION:
P-201-7.0, P-203-7.0, P-200-7.0, P-100-8.0, P-202-7.0, Design and Access
Statement
DRAWINGS SUBMITTED WITH APPLICATION 19/08415/FULL:
Location plan and site plan, S-100, S-200, S-201, S-202, S-203, P-201-6.0 with
written annotations, P-200-6.0 with written annotations, P-100-7.0 with written
annotations as amended by email dated 8th January 2020, P-202-6.0 with
written annotations, P-203-6.0 with written annotations, Heritage Statement,
Design and Access Statement dated 29.10.2019 as amended by above
drawings

Case Officer:

Alistair Taylor

Direct Tel. No.

07866037603

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s)

1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
drawings and other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings
approved subsequently by the City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any
conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

Except for piling, excavation and demolition work, you must carry out any building work
which can be heard at the boundary of the site only: between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday
to Friday; ,between 08.00 and 13.00 on Saturday; and ,not at all on Sundays, bank
holidays and public holidays. You must carry out piling, excavation and demolition work
only: between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday; and not at all on Saturdays,
Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays. Noisy work must not take place outside
these hours unless otherwise agreed through a Control of Pollution Act 1974 section 61
prior consent in special circumstances (for example, to meet police traffic restrictions, in

Page 189

Item No.
5

an emergency or in the interests of public safety). (C11AB)
Reason:
To protect the environment of neighbouring occupiers. This is as set out in Policies 7
and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R11AD)
3

All new work to the outside of the building must match existing original work in terms of
the choice of materials, method of construction and finished appearance. This applies
unless differences are shown on the drawings we have approved or are required by
conditions to this permission. (C26AA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to
the character and appearance of this part of the Bayswater Conservation Area. This is
as set out in Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26BF)

4

You must provide the separate stores for waste and materials for recycling shown on
drawing number P-100 rev8 prior to occupation of the extended flat and thereafter you
must permanently retain them for the storage of waste and recycling. You must clearly
mark them and make them available at all times to everyone using the flat. (C14FC)
Reason:
To protect the environment and provide suitable storage for waste and materials for
recycling as set out in Policies 7 and 37 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021).
(R14CD)

5

The new sash windows to the front elevation at lower ground floor level shall operate
only in a vertically sliding manner
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to
the character and appearance of this part of the Bayswater Conservation Area. This is
as set out in Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26BF)

6

You must not use the roof of the extension for sitting out or for any other purpose. You
can however use the roof to escape in an emergency. (C21BA)
Reason:
To protect the privacy and environment of people in neighbouring properties. This is as
set out in Policies 7, 33 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R21BD)

7

The external vertical faces of the new extension (with the exception of the doors and
windows) shall be faced in smooth render which shall be painted and permanently
maintained in a colour to match the existing render colour to the existing elevation
adjacent

Page 190

Item No.
5

Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to
the character and appearance of this part of the Bayswater Conservation Area. This is
as set out in Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26BF)
8

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings of the new external windows
and doors including details of glazing bars. You must not start any work on these parts
of the development until we have approved what you have sent us. You must then
carry out the work according to these drawings. (C26DB)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to
the character and appearance of this part of the Bayswater Conservation Area. This is
as set out in Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26BF)

Informative(s):

1

In dealing with this application the City Council has implemented the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We have
made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021), neighbourhood plan (where relevant), supplementary planning documents, the
London Plan (March 2021), planning briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as
offering a full pre application advice service, in order to ensure that applicant has been given
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably. In
addition, where appropriate, further guidance was offered to the applicant at the validation
stage.

2

You need to speak to our Highways section about any work which will affect public roads. This
includes new pavement crossovers, removal of redundant crossovers, changes in threshold
levels, changes to on-street parking arrangements, and work which will affect pavement vaults.
You will have to pay all administration, design, supervision and other costs of the work. We will
carry out any work which affects the highway. When considering the desired timing of highway
works in relation to your own development programme please bear in mind that, under the
Traffic Management Act 2004, all works on the highway require a permit, and (depending on the
length of the highway works) up to three months advance notice may need to be given. For
more advice, please email AskHighways@westminster.gov.uk. However, please note that if any
part of your proposals would require the removal or relocation of an on-street parking bay, this is
unlikely to be approved by the City Council (as highway authority).

3

The applicant will need technical approval for the works to the highway (supporting structure)

Page 191

Item No.
5

prior to commencement of development. The applicant should contact Louisa Augustine
(laugustine@westminster.gov.uk) in Westminster Highways Infrastructure and Public Realm to
progress the applicant for works to the highway.
4

You are advised that our Environmental Health team advise that the conversion of vault areas
for human habitation is not recommended because of the low headroom and potential
dampness problems. They cite concerns about the potential for rising dampness (from the
ground) and penetrating dampness (from the entrance slab above) and that the risk of
condensation due to lack of through ventilation is great. They further advise that experience
has shown that despite through 'tanking' (complete damp-proofing) of vaults, the integrity of the
tanking can be damaged by nails/screws etc., , You are recommended to seek advice from our
Environmental Health Department on appropriate damp proof treatment and ventilation
(including additional mechanical ventilation as necessary). However, any works that affect the
external appearance may require a further planning permission. For further advice, please
contact:, , Residential Environmental Health Team, Website www.westminster.gov.uk, Email
res@westminster.gov.uk, Tel : 020 7641 6161

5

You are reminded that the accommodation being created/adapted within the front vault
structures is an integral part of the accommodation for the main lower ground floor flat at no. 37
Gloucester Mews, and that a further application for planning permission would be required for
the use it as self-contained accommodation.

6

You are advised that the works are likely to require building regulations approval. Details in
relation to Westminster Building Control services can be found on our website at
www.westminster.gov.uk/planning-building-and-environmental-regulations/building-control.

7

You will need to re-apply for planning permission if another authority or council department asks
you to make changes that will affect the outside appearance of the building or the purpose it is
used for. (I23AA)

8

You are encouraged to join the nationally recognised Considerate Constructors Scheme. This
commits those sites registered with the Scheme to be considerate and good neighbours, as well
as clean, respectful, safe, environmentally conscious, responsible and accountable. For more
information, please contact the Considerate Constructors Scheme directly on 0800 783 1423,
siteenquiries@ccscheme.org.uk or visit www.ccscheme.org.uk.

9

Under the Highways Act 1980 you must get a licence from us before you put skips or scaffolding
on the road or pavement. It is an offence to break the conditions of that licence. You may also
have to send us a programme of work so that we can tell your neighbours the likely timing of
building activities. For more advice and to apply online please visit
www.westminster.gov.uk/suspensions-dispensations-and-skips.

10

You are advised that the details required for condition 8 should show the new windows and
doors with traditional detailing in line with the slimline double glazing set out in the application

Page 192

Item No.
5

submission, and including the window framing surrounding the sashes themselves being
recessed into the rebates surrounding the window opening to ensure that only the sash frames
project externally into the window opening from the outside

Please note: the full text for informatives can be found in the Council’s Conditions,
Reasons & Policies handbook, copies of which can be found in the Committee Room
whilst the meeting is in progress, and on the Council’s website.

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

37 Gloucester Mews, London, W2 3HE

Proposal:

Variation of Condition 1 of the listed building consent dated 19 May 2020 (RN:
20/00956/LBC) which in itself varied of condition 1 of the listed building consent
dated 28 January 2020 (RN: 19/08416/LBC) for extension to rear courtyard at lower

Page 193

Item No.
5

ground floor level, replacement of lower ground floor external windows and doors,
internal alterations including conversion of vaults in association with lower ground
floor flat, NAMELY, to amend the design of the windows and doors including the
incorporation of double glazing, replace the existing terracotta tiles to the courtyard
with mid grey slate effect tiles, and details of waste storage areas (linked to
21/03425/FULL).
Reference:

21/03611/LBC

Plan Nos:

DRAWINGS SUBMITTED WITH CURRENT APPLICATION:, P-201-7.0, P-203-7.0,
P-200-7.0, P-100-8.0, P-202-7.0, Design and Access Statement
DRAWINGS SUBMITTED WITH APPLICATION 20/00956/LBC:
Location plan and site plan, ZR P069 P100 Rev 8.0 ZRP069-P200 Rev 7.0, ZRP069
P201 Rev 7.0 ; ZR P069 P202 Rev 7.0; ZR P069 P 203 Rev 7.0 Design and Access
Statement and Heritage Statement
DRAWINGS SUBMITTED WITH APPLICATION 19/08416/LBC:, Location plan and
site plan, S-100, S-200, S-201, S-202, S-203, P-201-6.0 with written annotations, P200-6.0 with written annotations, P-100-7.0 with written annotations as amended by
email dated 8th January 2020, P-202-6.0 with written annotations, P-203-6.0 with
written annotations, Heritage Statement, Design and Access Statement dated
29.10.2019 as amended by above drawings

Case Officer:

Alistair Taylor

Direct Tel. No.

07866037603

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s)

1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
drawings and other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings
approved subsequently by the City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any
conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

All new work and improvements inside and outside the building must match existing
original adjacent work in terms of the choice of materials, method of construction and
finished appearance. This applies unless differences are shown on the approved
drawings or are required in conditions to this permission. (C27AA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this building and to make sure
the development contributes to the character and appearance of the Bayswater
Conservation Area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021). (R27AC)

Page 194

Item No.
5

3

The new sash windows to the front elevation at lower ground floor level shall operate
only in a vertically sliding manner
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this building and to make sure
the development contributes to the character and appearance of the Bayswater
Conservation Area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021). (R27AC)

4

The external vertical faces of the new extension (with the exception of the doors and
windows) shall be faced in smooth render which shall be painted and permanently
maintained in a colour to match the existing render colour to the existing elevation
adjacent.
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this building and to make sure
the development contributes to the character and appearance of the Bayswater
Conservation Area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021). (R27AC)

5

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings of the new external windows
and doors including details of the relationship between sash windows and window
openings. You must not start any work on these parts of the development until we have
approved what you have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to these
drawings. (C26DB)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this building and to make sure
the development contributes to the character and appearance of the Bayswater
Conservation Area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021). (R27AC)

Informative(s):

1

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR GRANTING CONDITIONAL LISTED BUILDING CONSENT In reaching the decision to grant listed building consent with conditions, the City Council has
had regard to the relevant policies in the National Planning Policy Framework, the London Plan
(March 2021), the City Plan (April 2021), as well as relevant supplementary planning guidance,
representations received and all other material considerations., , The City Council decided that

Page 195

Item No.
5

the proposed works would not harm the special architectural and historic interest of this listed
building., , In reaching this decision the following were of particular relevance:, Policies 38, 39
and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 adopted in April 2021 and paragraph 2.4 of our
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings.
2

You are advised that the works are likely to require building regulations approval. Details in
relation to Westminster Building Control services can be found on our website at
www.westminster.gov.uk/planning-building-and-environmental-regulations/building-control.

3

You are advised that the details required for condition 5 should show the new windows and
doors with traditional detailing in line with the slimline double glazing set out in the application
submission, and including the window framing surrounding the sashes themselves being
recessed into the rebates surrounding the window opening to ensure that only the sash frames
project externally into the window opening from the outside

Please note: the full text for informatives can be found in the Council’s Conditions, Reasons
& Policies handbook, copies of which can be found in the Committee Room whilst the
meeting is in progress, and on the Council’s website

Page 196

Item No.
5

BACKGROUND PAPERS - 37 Gloucester Mews, London, W2 3HE 21/03425/FULL
1. Application form
2. Response from South East Bayswater Residents Association, dated 26 June 2021

Page 197

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Item No.
6

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

20 July 2021

For General Release

Report of
Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning

Ward(s) involved
West End

Subject of Report

23-25 Brook Street, Mayfair, London, W1K 4HB

Proposal

Reopening of the front lightwell and reinstatement of the railings at 25
Brook Street, with new access ramp to ground floor entrance.

Agent

Handel and Hendrix in London

On behalf of

Handel and Hendrix in London

Registered Number

21/02709/FULL and
21/02710/LBC

Date Application
Received

26 April 2021

Historic Building Grade

I (No. 25), II (No. 23)

Conservation Area

Mayfair

1.

Date amended/
completed

26 April 2021

RECOMMENDATION

1. Grant conditional permission.
2. Authorise the making of a draft Order pursuant to Section 247 of The Town and Country Planning
Act (1990) (as amended) for the stopping up of parts of the public highway to enable this
development to take place.
3. Authorise the Director of City Highways, Executive Director of City Management and Communities,
or other such proper officer of the Council responsible for highway functions, to take all necessary
procedural steps in conjunction with the making of the Order and to make the Order as proposed if
there are no unresolved objections to the draft Order.
4. Grant conditional listed building consent.
5. Agree the reasons for granting listed building consent as set out in Informative 1 of the draft
decision notice.

2.

SUMMARY

25 Brook Street is located on the south side of the street, near its junction with New Bond Street, and

Page 199

Item No.
6

has rear access from Lancashire Court. Apart from a vacant retail shop on part basement and part
ground floors, the building has been occupied by the Handel House Museum since November 2001,
having been residence of the composer George Frideric Handel for more than 30 years. It is a fine
example of an early Georgian building and is Grade I listed. The property is linked to 23 Brook Street,
which is also in museum use on the upper floors, where a flat was once occupied by the musician
Jimi Hendrix. The applicant thus goes by the name ”Handel and Hendrix in London”.
Planning permission and listed building consent were granted in February 2021 to convert the vacant
shop to museum use enabling the applicant to recreate a complete Georgian house as it appeared
when occupied by Handel. These approvals include the reinstatement of the ground floor front
façade and restore the plan form to be as close to the original as possible. The facade restoration
enables the primary museum entrance, which is currently tucked away in Lancashire Court, to be
relocated to Brook Street. The rear access will be retained for use by larger groups and
deliveries. These works underpin a comprehensive refurbishment and organisation of the museum
which, the applicant hopes, will increase its profile.
The current proposal seeks to complete the restoration of the front of the building by reinstating the
front basement lightwell and pavement level railings. Similar works were approved in 1998, as part of
some of the initial museum proposals, but could not be carried out as the shop use was retained. The
current scheme also includes the provision of a permanent ramp that provides level access into main
entrance. Both the lightwell/railings and access ramp would be located on the public highway leaving
approximately 2.1m of unobstructed highway beyond.
The key issues are:
• The heritage benefits of re-instating the lightwell and railings and providing improved building
access as part of the restoration of this important grade I listed building
• The creation of an obstruction on the public highway and the consequent reduction in the width
of footpath outside the property on a street frontage that is largely free of similar obstructions.
The proposals do raise significant highways issues and are contrary to highways policies. However,
there are acknowledged benefits with regard to the restoration of this important listed building, the
provision of improved disabled access and the enhancement of the cultural use, and associated
economic benefits, which are considered to justify a departure for from highways policies in this case.
The proposals would require a separate Stopping-up Order and authorisation is also sought for the
making of this Order.

Page 200

Item No.
6

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA 100019597

Page 201

Item No.
6

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

Page 202

Item No.
6

Page 203

Item No.
6

5.

CONSULTATIONS
CLLR TIMOTHY BARNES, WARD COUNCILLOR FOR WEST END
Notes that the retained 2m unobstructed highway is the minimum acceptable and not the
full extent of what might be desirable but supports the application given the context of
the area, specific context of this public museum and the benefits to the area..
HISTORIC ENGLAND
Supports the application: Summary comments that “the Grade I listed Handel House at
No. 25 Brook Street is highly significant for its well preserved early Georgian architecture
and its close association with G.F. Handel. The consented proposal to remove the
ground floor shopfront and restore the front elevation and reinstate the Georgian layout
of the ground and lower ground floors complements the restoration work already carried
out and will improve the visitor experience. The proposed reinstatement of the Georgian
railings and lightwell is an important element of the overall restoration project.”
NATIONAL AMENITY SOCIETIES
Any response to be reported verbally
MAYFAIR RESIDENTS’ GROUP
Any response to be reported verbally.
RESIDENTS’ SOCIETY OF MAYFAIR & ST. JAMES'S
Support the proposals - The light well and railings are a reinstatement of the original
Georgian arrangement which has to be the best outcome for the Listed building. The
remaining pavement appears to be wide enough. This is an important cultural attraction
for the area and these changes help with accessibility.
SAVE BRITAIN’S HERITAGE
• Support the proposals as a beneficial restoration of this Grade I listed building,
strongly supported by national guidance for managing designated heritage assets;
• consider that the proposals carry “very significant public benefits”, enhance the
building’s exceptional historic and architectural significance and allow for greatly
improved public appreciation and access to it;
• the works will also positively enhance the surrounding Mayfair Conservation Area
and help promote the international significance of this cultural landmark.
HIGHWAYS PLANNING TEAM - CITY HIGHWAYS
Objection : the proposals will reduce the width and alignment of the footway, leading to a
significantly adverse impact on ease and convenience of direct pedestrian movement;
no improvement to pedestrian environment and does not support active travel in the
area.
ADJOINING OWNERS/OCCUPIERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED
No. Consulted: 11;
Total No. of replies: 7 No. in support: 7
•
•

the proposals are visually attractive/contribute to the townscape;
heritage benefits including restoration of the building to how it was when occupied

Page 204

Item No.
6

•
•
•

by Handel;
although the railings do reduce the width of the pavement, this does not create a
problematic obstruction;
improvements to disabled access (through the front entrance, rather than the rear
access in Lancashire Court)
adds value to the museum, contributes to the cultural vibrancy of the area
(including educational and outreach programmes) and attracts visitors

PRESS ADVERTISEMENT / SITE NOTICE:
Yes
6.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

6.1

The Application Site
The building is situated within the West End International Centre, the Central Activities
Zone, the West End Retail and Leisure Special Policy Area (WERLSPA), the Oxford
Street District and the Mayfair Conservation Area (but outside of the West End Strategic
Cultural Area). It is located on the south side of the street, near its junction with New
Bond Street, and backs on to Lancashire Court, where there is a rear access. The
property is Grade I listed, partly because it was the residence of the composer George
Frideric Handel for more than 30 years and because it is a fine example of an early
Georgian building. With the exception of parts of the basement and ground floor that
were, until recently, in retail use, the remainder of the building has been occupied as the
Handel House Museum since November 2001. The building is internally and
operationally linked to the adjacent 23 Brook Street, (Grade II listed), also in museum
use on the upper floors, where the musician Jimi Hendrix lived in a flat for a number of
years. The applicant thus goes by the name of “Handel and Hendrix in London”.
Permission was granted earlier this year for the conversion of the shop to provide
additional museum accommodation. This permission has not yet been implemented.

6.2

Recent Relevant History
There is a long history of planning decisions relating to the property, the most relevant of
which are as follows:
February 2021 –permission and listed building consent (20/08177/FULL and
20/08178/LBC) granted for use of the ground and lower ground floor for additional
museum floorspace (Class F1) in connection with the existing museum in the rest of the
building, and internal and external alterations including recreation of the original ground
floor front facade to create a new entrance and an opening in the party wall at ground
floor level with 23 Brook Street.
October 2018 –permission granted (18/03012/FULL) for continued use of part basement,
part ground floor and first to fourth floors as a museum with amended opening hours
until 20.30 hours Mondays to Saturdays and until 22.30 hours Mondays to Saturdays on
a maximum of 25 times per calendar year, and 18.00 hours on Sundays and Bank
Holidays.

Page 205

Item No.
6

October 2013 –permission and listed building consent (13/05345/FULL and
13/05346/LBC) granted for alterations including mansard roof extension, first floor rear
addition, extension to rear lift shaft, installation of roof level plant and relocation of two
air conditioning units at rear first floor level to 25 Brook Street; first floor rear extension to
23 Brook Street and new plant in rear internal lightwell; associated internal alterations all
in connection with continued use of part basement, part ground and first to fourth floors
as a museum (Class D1).
December 2010 –permission (10/09036/FULL) refused for planters in front of shop
window (not fixed to the building) on heritage grounds. [However, the planters were
installed at some point and are therefore unauthorised. They would be removed as part
of the current proposals to re-instate the lightwell beyond the ground floor building line]
October 2001 –permission (01/05931/FULL) granted for use of part basement, part
ground & first to fourth floors of 23 & 25 Brook Street as a museum, & associated
alterations - variation of condition 3 of permission dated 7.12.99 to extend opening hours
from 8pm to 11pm Mondays to Saturdays.
December 1999 –permission and listed building consent granted for use of part
basement No. 25 (rear), part ground No. 25 (rear), ground floor Nos. 23 and 25 Brook
Street (fire escapes to Brook Street only) and first to fourth floors of Nos. 23 and 25
Brook Street as a museum and associated alterations; including supports for airconditioning equipment at rear on flat roofs at third floor level. [This scheme appear to
omit the opening up of the front lightwell and retains part of the ground floor and
basement as a shop].
April 1998 –permission and listed building consent (97/0A690 and 97/0A691) granted for
the use of 25 Brook Street and front basement, part ground and all first to fourth floors of
23 Brook Street as a museum, second floor extension and alterations to ground floor
front and basement rear elevations. [This permission includes the opening up of the front
lightwell and was a variation to the earlier permissions, with regard to alterations at the
rear, but does not appear to have been implemented and was superseded by later
permissions.]
January 1998 –permission and listed building consent (97/06159 and 97/06160) granted
for use of part basement, ground and all first, second and third floors of 25 Brook Street
as a museum; second floor rear extension, internal and external alterations.
September 1996 –permission and listed building consent (95/06268 and 95/06263)
granted for use of 25 Brook Street and front basement, part ground and entire first to
fourth floor of 23 Brook Street as a museum; second floor rear extension and alterations
to ground floor front elevation.

7.

THE PROPOSAL
Planning permission and listed building consent are now sought to recreate the historic
front basement lightwell and traditional pavement railings, set into a Portland stone
plinth. The works also include a new ramp at the front entrance to improve disabled

Page 206

Item No.
6

access into the building. The lightwell/railings and ramp would be located on the public
highway. The submitted drawings show a retained pavement width of 2080mm beyond
the proposed railings and ramp.
8.

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Land Use
The use of the building for museum purposes has been approved by a series of
permissions. The current application does not directly affect the use of the building but
proposes an important enhancement of the museum by improving building accessibility.
Policy 15 of the City Plan 2019-2040 (April 2021) ‘Visitor economy’ states that “All
existing arts and cultural uses and uses of cultural significance will be protected and
proposals for enhancement will be supported in principle”. The supporting text notes that
“Attractions, events, businesses and institutions in Westminster attract visitors from
around the world and contribute to the appeal of the city. These include uses that
represent a major part of the nation’s cultural heritage”.
Additionally, the site is within the West End Retail and Leisure Special Policy Area
(WERLSPA). Policy 2 of the City Plan seeks an “intensification of the WERLSPA over
the Plan period…[through] the sensitive refurbishment and extension…of existing
buildings across the WERLSPA”, and “an improved retail and leisure experience that
responds to innovation and change in the sector, including the transformation of the
Oxford Street District”.
Although the site is not within the West End Strategic Cultural Area, this is an important
cultural attraction that contributes to the diversity and vitality of the area and the
Council’s ambitions to enhance the visitor experience, as set out in the Oxford Street
District Framework (a Council initiative to transform the area around Oxford Street over
the next 10 years). The restoration of this heritage asset and improved accessibility
would make a welcome contribution to the Council’s efforts to support the cultural and
economic infrastructure of the area following the Covid-19 pandemic.

8.2

Townscape and Design
The key legislative requirements in respect to designated heritage assets are as follows:
Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
that “In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works the local
planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic
interest which it possesses.”
Section 66 of the same Act requires that “In considering whether to grant planning
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local
planning authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.”
Section 72 of the same Act requires that “In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or

Page 207

Item No.
6

other land in a conservation area…special attention shall be paid to the desirability of
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.”
Furthermore Chapters 12 and 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
require great weight be placed on design quality and the preservation of designated
heritage assets including their setting. Chapter 16 of the NPPF clarifies that harmful
proposals should only be approved where the harm caused would be clearly outweighed
by the public benefits of the scheme, taking into account the statutory duty to have
special regard or pay special attention, as relevant. This should also take into account
the relative significance of the affected asset and the severity of the harm caused.
25 Brook Street is an early Georgian town house and the former home of the composer
G. F. Handel. For these reasons it is listed Grade I and is acknowledged as being an
important heritage asset. It makes a positive contribution to the Mayfair Conservation
Area and its character and appearance. The proposals form part of the on-going
restoration of the front of the building, which was not carried out when the museum was
first created some 20 years ago. Planning permission and listed building consent were
granted for similar works in 1998 but the applicant appears unable to have implemented
this permission as the basement and ground floor (front) remained in shop use.
Permission was granted earlier this year for the removal of the modern shopfront and the
restoration of the ground floor façade to reflect the building’s appearance when it was
occupied by Handel. This permission also enabled the conversion of the separate shop
to form part of the museum, recreating the front parlour and basement kitchen. The
recreation of the original ground floor façade also enables the relocation of the primary
museum entrance, which is somewhat tucked away in Lancashire Court, to Brook Street.
The current proposals continue the phased restoration of the building by now including
the recreation of the front area by opening-up the basement lightwell, which would be
enclosed by traditional metal railings set into a stone plinth. The scheme also involves
the installation of a new external, stone, access ramp to the Brook Street entrance. It is
noted that there are a number of representations in support of the proposals, including
those from Historic England and SAVE Britain’s Heritage.
The applicant confirms that the potential for locating the access ramp inside the building,
and for providing a temporary ramp, were considered but were discounted on the basis
that this did not present the best solution either for wheelchair users, or from a heritage
perspective, for the following reasons:
o

the creation of an internal ramp would require the alteration of ground floor joists
and floorboards, the altering/lowering the lower ground floor ceiling and
modifications to the interior ground floor panelling. Externally, the entrance step
would need to be removed and the door would have to be reshaped. These
alterations would not be sympathetic to the applicant’s ambitions to restore
Handel’s House, nor would it be a sensitive approach in heritage terms. As the
external stone ramp is guarded by the railings on one side, this would provide the
best solution in terms of creating inclusive access, by giving wheelchair users the
same experience as abled-bodied visitors.

o

the use of a this would create barriers for wheelchair users, requiring them to

Page 208

Item No.
6

wait while the temporary ramp is deployed, and may cause them to feel that they
are hindering other visitors who may be seeking access at the same time. As one
of the key drivers behind the application is the provision of improved, fully
inclusive, access this would not be achieved by the use of a temporary ramp.
These justifications are accepted in heritage asset and access terms. This is considered
to be a high quality scheme which will preserve and enhance the special architectural
and historic interest of the listed building and the character and appearance of the
Mayfair Conservation Area. It complies with the City Council's urban design and
conservation policies including 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan. With respect to the NPPF
test of balancing heritage harm and benefits, the restoration of the lightwell and railings
is beneficial in heritage asset terms, whilst the new ramp is a benefit because it
improves public access to this historic building.
8.3

Residential Amenity
There are not considered to be any implications for residential amenity arising from
these proposals.

8.4

Highways
The site is located in a busy central location close to the junction with New Bond Street.
Brook Street is the main pedestrian thoroughfare between New Bond Street and
Grosvenor Square.
The Highways Planning Officer has objected to the proposals and has confirmed that, in
this location, the building line constitutes the highway boundary. Whilst there are
pavement lights outside the building (which are not maintained at public expense), they
do form part of the public highway. The proposed lightwell/railings and ramp will reduce
the available footway width from 3.30 metres, beyond the line of the unauthorised
planters, to approximately 2.1 metres.
The relevant highways policies in the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) are as follows:
•

Policy 25A states “Development must promote sustainable transport by prioritising
walking and cycling in the city.”

•

Policy 25B states “Development must:
1. Prioritise and improve the pedestrian environment and contribute towards
achieving a first-class public realm particularly in areas of kerbside stress,
including the provision of facilities for pedestrians to rest and relax (including
seating) and high-quality and safe road environments and crossings, where
needed…
3. Be permeable, easy and safe to walk through, enhance existing routes which
are adequately lit, creates step-free legible access and entrance points whilst
providing direct links to other pedestrian movement corridors and desire lines.
4. Facilitate the improvement of high-quality footpaths to Department for Transport
minimum standards with regard to existing street furniture and layout including
through the provision of land for adoption as highway.
5. Enable footway widening, re-surfacing and de-cluttering where increased footfall

Page 209

Item No.
6

is expected, to be suitable for vulnerable road users including older people, people
suffering from dementia and disabled people.”
•

Policy 28A states “Given the increasing demands on existing highway space, the
council will resist the loss of highway land, particularly footways.”

•

Policy 43 is aimed at creating an improved public realm and environment for
pedestrians and other users of an area, including to minimise obstruction to
pedestrian movement.

The Council’s Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) ‘Westminster Way – Public
realm strategy design principles and practice’ (2011), also strives to promote walking
through design that aids, rather than disadvantages, pedestrians including by
maintaining pedestrian desire lines.
The SPD includes a recommendation for a clear footway width of 2.0 metres as a
minimum, but not a standard to reduce highway space to. It is accepted that when
essential street furniture (e.g. signage, lighting etc) is present, there may be an impact
on pedestrian movement but that this is the balance that needs to be struck between
maintaining highway clearance and supporting primary highway functions.
It is noted that there is some street furniture further along the pavement and also some
existing, historic, railings outside 31-33 Brook Street (which appear to be shielding
pavement vents) and also at 35 Brook Street (where they protect pedestrians from a
marked drop in the pavement at the point where pedestrian access slopes down into
Lancashire Court). However, the proposed lightwell and ramp would introduce a new
element for pedestrians to navigate around and would affect the natural pedestrian
desire lines on this part of Brook Street, as well as reducing the footway width.
The Highways Planning Officer considers that existence of essential street furniture and
the presence of historic (safety) railings elsewhere on this frontage should not be
considered a precedent to permit new development, which reduces the footway width,
when the railings and ramp are proposed for heritage and access reasons, rather than
for safety reasons. On this basis, they consider that the proposals would be contrary to
the Council’s continuing efforts to implement improvements to the pedestrian
environment across the borough, particularly as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and
the need for social distancing, which includes widening footways by reducing
carriageway space. However, this is not a programme designed to reduce available
highway space by permitting development on the highway space through development.
The applicant has cited a number of examples of pavement railings, but these are in
other locations and are not considered directly comparable to subject site and the
adjacent highway layout. Although the Highways Planning Officer acknowledges that the
historical nature of the city can affect the physical nature/layout of the highway, as
acknowledged in the Westminster Way, he does not consider this justifies the proposed
reduction in highway width and impact on pedestrian movement.
The concerns raised by the Highways Planning Officer are noted and it is accepted that
the proposal is contrary to adopted highways policies and the Council objectives outlined

Page 210

Item No.
6

above. However, these needs to be balanced against the special circumstances in this
case:
•
•
•
•
•

the restoration of an Important grade I listed building;
improved disabled access to a public building;
enhancement of an important cultural use and the associated benefits in
attracting more visitors to the locality, with contributions to the local economy;
the fact that the recommended minimum width of footway will be retained and
the fact that there are some existing obstructions on the pavement along this
stretch of Brook Street that may already determine pedestrian desire lines.

On balance, it is considered that these factors constitute special circumstances that
justify a departure from adopted highway policies. However, given the special
circumstances of this case, any decision to grant planning permission should not be
regarded as setting a precedent for other development on the highway..
Should the proposals be considered acceptable , the applicant will require a Stopping-up
Order for the relevant parts of the public parts of the public highway pursuant to s247 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. It should be noted that the Highway Authority
usually maintains an objection to the stopping up of highway where there is not a
demonstrated need or highways benefit, and this will need to be assessed as part of this
separate application. However, as part of the determination of these planning
applications, authorisation is sought for the making of a draft Order pursuant to Section
247 of The Town and Country Planning Act (1990) (as amended) for the stopping up of
parts of the public highway to enable this development to take place, and authorisation is
also sought for the Director of City Highways, Executive Director of City Management
and Communities, or other such proper officer of the Council responsible for highway
functions, to take all necessary procedural steps in conjunction with the making of the
Order and to make the Order as proposed if there are no unresolved objections to the
draft Order.
8.5

Economic Considerations
The proposed works form part of the comprehensive refurbishment and reorganisation of
the museum with new displays and interpretation throughout. The applicant hopes that
this will increase the museum’s profile, creating a highly visible heritage attraction that
will encourage more visitors to the museum, and increase visitor footfall into the heart of
the Oxford Street District, with the associated economic benefits. Any proposals which
help in rebuilding the local economy after the difficulties experienced as a result of the
Covid-19 pandemic are welcomed.

8.6

Access
Policy 38, Design principles, states that
“A. New development will incorporate exemplary standards of high quality, sustainable
and inclusive urban design and architecture befitting Westminster’s world-class status,
environment and heritage and its diverse range of locally distinctive neighbourhoods”,
and

Page 211

Item No.
6

C. [People-centred Design] All development will place people at the heart of design,
creating inclusive and accessible spaces and places, introducing measures that reduce
the opportunity for crime and anti-social behaviour, promoting health, well-being and
active lifestyles through design and ensuring a good standard of amenity for new and
existing occupiers.”
The supporting text states that Westminster will
“promote a city that works for everyone, a city for all. Placing people at the heart of the
design process means that the users of the buildings and spaces are considered
throughout all design stages. We encourage applicants to engage with local
communities early in the design process and will support collaborative and participatory
design approaches.
Buildings and the spaces which adjoin them should be fully accessible and inclusive for
all, including people of all ages and those with mobility and sensory impairment or other
health concerns or disabilities. In addition to physical access to buildings and places, this
will include improving wayfinding, to making the public realm easier, more pleasant and
safe. Access to existing buildings, especially historic buildings, may present additional
challenges, but there will almost always be scope to make improvements. In some
locations this may not just be about physical access but should also consider the ways in
which services and information can be managed and provided to meet the needs of all
users. In all cases, applicants will be required to demonstrate that access provision has
been considered effectively.”
The proposed access ramp will improve disabled access as part of the creation of the
principal museum access at the front of the building which must be balanced against the
concerns expressed by the Highways Planning Officer.
8.7

Westminster City Plan
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 was adopted at Full Council on 21 April 2021. Therefore, in
accordance with s.38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, it comprises
the development plan for Westminster in combination with the London Plan adopted in
March 2021. In this case The Mayfair Neighbourhood Plan is also relevant (see further
details in Section 8.9). As set out in s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004 and paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the application must be determined in
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

8.8

Neighbourhood Plans
The Mayfair Neighbourhood Plan (MNP) includes policies on a range of matters
including heritage, community uses, retail, offices, housing, cultural uses, transport and
the environment. The Plan forms part of Westminster’s statutory development plan and
is used alongside the council’s own planning documents and the Mayor’s London Plan in
determining planning applications in the Mayfair Neighbourhood Area. Where any
matters relevant to the application subject of this report are directly affected by the
policies contained within the neighbourhood plan, these are discussed elsewhere in this

Page 212

Item No.
6

report.
It is noted that Handel House Museum is specifically identified in supporting text in the
MNP with regard to policy MSC1 (Community uses) as one of several key cultural and
community uses whose existence, both through their use and built form, is intrinsic to the
character, culture, and sustainable development of Mayfair, providing facilities for
residents, workers, and tourists. The MNP also seeks to ensure there is more space for
pedestrians, by supporting public realm schemes that improve pedestrian comfort levels,
especially on the most congested pavements, as part of its Public Realm Strategy
(Appendix 3)
In this case the heritage and access improvements to the building are considered to be
in accordance with the MNP.
8.9

London Plan
This application raises no strategic issues.

8.10

National Policy/Guidance Considerations
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) policies referred to in the consideration of this
application are considered to be consistent with the NPPF 2019 unless stated otherwise.
Further to the Town and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations
2018, the City Council cannot impose a pre-commencement condition (a condition which
must be discharged before works can start on site) on a planning permission without the
written agreement of the applicant, unless the applicant fails to provide a substantive
response within a 10 day period following notification of the proposed condition, the
reason for the condition and justification for the condition by the City Council. However,
there are no pre-commencement conditions in this case.

8.11

Planning Obligations
Planning obligations are not relevant in the determination of this application.

8.13

Conclusion
The significance of this cultural institution is acknowledged and, in heritage and
accessibility terms, the proposals are very welcome and will enhance the museum’s
contribution to the local economy and its cultural network. Whilst it is acknowledged that
the proposals will have an impact on the operation of the highway, in this case, these
concerns are considered to be outweighed by the heritage, accessibility, cultural and
economic benefits of the scheme and the application is therefore recommended for
approval.

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)

Page 213

Item No.
6

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: SARA SPURRIER BY EMAIL AT SSPURRIER@WESTMINSTER.GOV.UK

Page 214

Item No.
6

9.

KEY DRAWINGS

APPROVED NORTH ELEVATION

Page 215

Item No.
6

PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION

EXISTING GROUND FLOOR PLAN

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN

Page 216

Item No.
6

DRAFT DECISION LETTER

Address:

23-25 Brook Street, Mayfair, London, W1K 4HB

Proposal:

Reopening of the lightwell and reinstatement of the railings at 25 Brook
Street, with new access ramp to ground floor entrance.

Reference:

21/02709/FULL

Plan Nos:

184/HHT/001 Rev A, 184/HHT/109 P Rev I, 184/HHT/110 P Rev J, 184/HHT/117 P
Rev C, 184/HHT/121 P Rev D, 184/HHT/ 122 P Rev D, 184/HHT/203 Rev B,
HHT/184/305, and HHT/184/306 Rev C.

Case Officer:

Paul Quayle

Direct Tel. No.

020 7641 07866039895

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s)
1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings
and other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved
subsequently by the City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on
this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

Except for piling, excavation and demolition work, you must carry out any building work
which can be heard at the boundary of the site only:
o
o
o

between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday;
between 08.00 and 13.00 on Saturday; and
not at all on Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.

You must carry out piling, excavation and demolition work only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday; and
o
not at all on Saturdays, Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
Noisy work must not take place outside these hours unless otherwise agreed through a
Control of Pollution Act 1974 section 61 prior consent in special circumstances (for
example, to meet police traffic restrictions, in an emergency or in the interests of public
safety). (C11AB)
Reason:
To protect the environment of neighbouring occupiers. This is as set out in Policies 7 and
33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R11AD)
3

All new work to the outside of the building must match existing original work in terms of
the choice of materials, method of construction and finished appearance. This applies
unless differences are shown on the drawings we have approved or are required by

Page 217

Item No.
6

conditions to this permission. (C26AA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this building and to make sure
the development contributes to the character and appearance of the Mayfair
Conservation Area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021). (R27AC)
4

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings (plans and elevations at scale
1:10 and sections at 1:5) showing the new railings and associated plinth in context [of the
pavement and the building façade], and photographs of samples of the railings. You must
not start any work on these parts of the development until we have approved what you
have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to these detailed drawings and
photographs. (C26DB)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this building and to make sure
the development contributes to the character and appearance of the Mayfair
Conservation Area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021). (R27AC)

5

For the avoidance of doubt this permission only relates to the reopening of the lightwell,
reinstatement of railings around the lightwell and the construction of the new access
ramp, and not to any of the other works shown on the drawings hereby approved.
Reason:
The other works shown on the drawings hereby approved do not form part of the current
application and have been approved separately and are subject to separate conditions.

6

The reinstatement of the lightwell, installation of the railings and the installation of the
access ramp must be completed in full accordance with the details shown on the plans
hereby approved.
Reason:
To make sure that you carry out the development in full and to make sure that we are
satisfied with the appearance of the development and that the benefits of the improved
disabled access are provided, as set out in Policies 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April
2021). (R02DC)

7

You must paint the new railings black and keep them that colour.
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Mayfair Conservation Area. This is as set
out in Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26DE)

Informative(s):
1

In dealing with this application the City Council has implemented the requirement in the National Planning
Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We have made available

Page 218

Item No.
6
detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021),
neighbourhood plan (where relevant), supplementary planning documents, the London Plan (March
2021), planning briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as offering a full pre application advice
service, in order to ensure that applicant has been given every opportunity to submit an application which
is likely to be considered favourably. In addition, where appropriate, further guidance was offered to the
applicant at the validation stage.
2

Prior to the commencement of the development, the highway will need to be Stopped Up under s247 of
the Planning Act. You must contact the City Council in writing: Jeff Perkins
(jperkingns@westminster.gov.uk) to progress the Stopping Up Order..
You may require technical approval for the works to the highway (supporting structure) prior to the
commencement of development. Please contact Louisa Augustine (laugustine@westminster.gov.uk),
Westminster Highways and Infrastructure and Public Realm to progress the application for works to the
highway.

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

23-25 Brook Street, Mayfair, London, W1K 4HB

Proposal:

Reopening of the lightwell and reinstatement of the railings at 25 Brook Street, with
new access ramp to ground floor entrance.

Reference:

21/02710/LBC

Plan Nos:

184/HHT/001 Rev A, 184/HHT/109 P Rev I, 184/HHT/110 P Rev J, 184/HHT/117 P
Rev C, 184/HHT/121 P Rev D, 184/HHT/ 122 P Rev D, 184/HHT/203 Rev B,
HHT/184/305, and HHT/184/306 Rev C.

Case Officer:

Paul Quayle

Direct Tel. No.

020 7641 07866039895

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s)
1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings
and other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved
subsequently by the City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on
this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

All new work and improvements inside and outside the building must match existing
original adjacent work in terms of the choice of materials, method of construction and
finished appearance. This applies unless differences are shown on the approved
drawings or are required in conditions to this permission. (C27AA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this building and to make sure
the development contributes to the character and appearance of the Mayfair

Page 219

Item No.
6

Conservation Area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021). (R27AC)
3

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings (plans and elevations at scale
1:10 and sections at 1:5) showing the new railings and associated plinth in context [of the
pavement and the building façade], and photographs of samples of the railings. You must
not start any work on these parts of the development until we have approved what you
have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to these detailed drawings and
photographs. (C26DB)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this building and to make sure
the development contributes to the character and appearance of the Mayfair
Conservation Area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021). (R27AC)

4

For the avoidance of doubt this consent only relates to the reopening of the lightwell,
reinstatement of railings around the lightwell and the construction of the new access
ramp, and not to any of the other works shown on the drawings hereby approved.
Reason:
The other works shown on the drawings hereby approved do not form part of the current
application and have been approved separately and are subject to separate conditions.

5

You must paint the new railings black and keep them that colour.
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this building and to make sure
the development contributes to the character and appearance of the Mayfair
Conservation Area. This is as set out in Policies 38 and 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021). (R27AC)

Informative(s):
1

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR GRANTING CONDITIONAL LISTED BUILDING CONSENT - In reaching
the decision to grant listed building consent with conditions, the City Council has had regard to the
relevant policies in the National Planning Policy Framework, the London Plan (March 2021), the City Plan
(April 2021), as well as relevant supplementary planning guidance, representations received and all other
material considerations.
The City Council decided that the proposed works would not harm the special architectural and historic
interest of this listed building.
In reaching this decision the following were of particular relevance: Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan
2019 - 2040 adopted in April 2021 and paragraph 2.4 of our Supplementary Planning Guidance: Repairs
and Alterations to Listed Buildings.

Please note: the full text for informatives can be found in the Council’s Conditions, Reasons
& Policies handbook, copies of which can be found in the Committee Room whilst the
meeting is in progress, and on the Council’s website.

Page 220

